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Commissioner
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STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES

29 HAZEN drive; CONCORD, NH 03301
603.27M50I 1-800-852-3345 Ext. 4501

Fax: 603-271-4827 TOD Access: 1-800-735-2964
www.dhhs.nh.gov

December 22, 2021

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House
Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, piyision of Pi^lic Health
Services, to amend an existing contract with Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (V^ 177160),
Lebanon NH. to provide Alliance oh Innovation in Matemal Health (AIM) patient safety bundles
in order to reduce maternal mortality, by increasing the price limitation by $52.114 from ̂ 73,112
to $325,226 with no change to the contract completion date of June 30, 2023, effective upon
Governor and Council approval. 100% Federal Funds.

The original contract was approved by Governor and Council on June 1^0. 2020. item #12
and most recently amended with Governor and Council approval on June 16, 2021, item #34.

Funds are available in the following account for State Fiscal Year 2022, and are
anticipated to be available in State Fiscal Year 2023, upon the availability and continued
aoDropriatlon of funds in the future operating budget, with the authority to adjust budget line items
within the price limitation and encumbrances between state fiscal years through the Budget Oftice,
if needed and justified.

05-95-90-902010-34870000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SVS, HHS: PUBLIC HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF COMM 8. HEALTH SERV,
MATERNAL MORTALITY

State

Fiscal
Year

Class /

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2020 102-500731

Contracts for
Program
Services

90080478

$68,278 $0 $68,278

2021 102-500731

Contracts for
Program
Services

90080478

$68,278 $0 $68,278

2022 102-500731

Contracts for
Program
Services

90080478

$68,278 $0 $68,278

2023 102-500731

Contracts for
Program
Services

90080478

$68,278 $0 $68,278

Subtotal $273,112 $0 $273,112

77»c Department of Health and Human Services'Mission is to join communities and families
in providing opportunities for citizens to achieve health and independence.
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05-95-90-902010-45260000 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES, DEPT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SVS, HHS: PUBLIC HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF COMM & HEALTH SERV, MCH DATA
LINKAGE

State

Fiscal

Year

Class /
Account

Class Title
Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2022 074-500589

Grants for
Pub Asst

and Rel

90080125

$0 $52,114 $52,114

Subtotal $0 $52,114 $52,114

Total $273,112 $52,114 $325,226

EXPLANATION

The purpose of this request is for the Contractor to collaborate with the Alliance on
Innovation in Maternal Health (AIM) to implement at least two (2) AIM evidence-based patient
safety bundles in order to provide a standardized approach to improve the quality of health care
provided to pregnant woman impacted by opioid use and other substances. Opiold overdose is a
leading cause of pregnancy-associated deaths in New Hampshire. A patient safety bundle is a
structured way of delivering health care: each bundle includes a set of straightforward evidence-
based clinical practices that, when performed collectively and consistently, has been proven to
reduce maternal mortality and pregnancy associated deaths. These patient safety bundles help
pregnant woman and their families' access support for behavioral health, mental health, and other
community resources. These steps will help prevent substance use associated illness and death
during pregnancy and will also result in savings to the Department.

The Contractor will also continue to assist the Department's Maternal Mortality Review
Committee, including collecting maternal death information, abstracting medical and non-medical
records on maternal death cases, and participating in reviews of maternal death cases.

The Department will monitor services to ensure:

•  Successful completion (100% attendance) at the national AIM Data Community of
Learning to address data quality and share best practices in addressing needs of the
New Hampshire birthing facilities in implementing these bundles.

•  Completion of at least one AIM data training session, with the Department, for all of
the participating birthing locations to identify barriers to reporting AIM bundle- specific
outcome measures, including the percent of pregnant and postpartum people
screened for substance use disorder and validated screening tools and resources
shared with prenatal care sites,

•  Timely submission of quarterly reports to the Department regarding AIM program
progress, which include structure and outcome measures that are associated with the
patient safety bundles being Ihiplemented.

Should the Governor and Council not authorize this request, the Department will not be
able to effectively address opioid related disorders in pregnant women in New Hampshire, which
may result in more maternal mortality related to opioid misuse.

Area served: Statewide



His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

Page 3 of 3

Source of Federal Funds: Assistance Listing Number #93.110, FAIN # H18000033.

The Department will request General Funds in the event that Federal Funds are no longer
available and services are still needed.

Respectfully submitted,

Lori A. Shibinette

Commissioner
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State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendment #2

This Amendment to the Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality contract is
by and between the State of New Hampshire, Department of Health and Human Services ("State" or
"Department") and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock
Clinic (collectively doing business as Dartmouth Hitchcock) ("the Contractor").

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on June 10, 2020 (Item #12), as amended on June 16, 2021 (Item #34), the Contractor agreed to perform
certain services based upon the terms and conditions specified in the Contract as amended and in
consideration of certain sums specified; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37, General Provisions, Paragraph 18, the Contract may be amended
upon written agreement of the parties and approval from the Governor and Executive Council; and
WHEREAS, the parties agree to extend the term of the agreement, increase the price limitation, or modify
the scope of services to support continued delivery of these services; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37, General Provisions, Block 1.8, Price Limitation, to read;

$325,226

2. Modifying Exhibit A - Amendment #1, Scope of Services, by adding Subsections 2.15 through
2.18, to read:

2.15 The Contractor shall comply with all privacy and security requirements as outlined
in this Contract, and collaborate with the Alliance on Innovation in Maternal Health
(AIM) to provide a standardized approach to delivering improved patient outcomes
at birthing locations by implementing at least two (2) AIM evidence-based patient
safety bundles, which include, but are not limited to, the following resources and
aggregated data:

2.15.1 Number of substance use disorders (SUD) among pregnant and
postpartum individuals.

2.15.2 Number of Severe Maternal Morbidity (SMM), including transfusion
codes, among individuals with SUD.

2.15.3 Number of proportion of pregnancy associated deaths due to overdose.

2.15.4 Percent of newborns exposed to substances in utero who go home to
either birth parent.

2.15.5 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals with opioid use disorder
(OUD) who received or were referred to medication for opioid use
disorder (MOUD).

2.15.6 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals with SUD who received
or were referred to recovery treatment services.

2.15.7 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals with SUD who received
or were prescribed Nalgxone prior to delivery discharge.

2.15.8 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals screened for SUDs.

2.15.9 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals with OUD who were
counseled on medication for opioid use disorder (MOUD).

wi/
SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MATERN-01-A02 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials

^ . 1/21/2022
A.S.1/1 Page 1 of 5 Daf©
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2.15.10 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals with SUD who were
counseled on recovery treatment services.

2.15.11 Percent of pregnant and postpartum individuals with SUD who received
Naloxone counseling.

2.15.12 Provider and Nursing Education - Substance Use Disorders.

2.15.13 Provider and Nursing Education - Respectful and Equitable Care.

2.15.14 Resource Mapping/Identification of Community Resources.

2.15.15 Patient Event Debriefs.

2.15.16 General Pain Management Guidelines.

2.15.17 OUD Pain Management Guidelines.

2.15.18 Validated Verbal Screening Tools and Resources Shared with Prenatal
Care Sites.

2.16 The Contractor shall participate in the national AIM Data Community of Learning to
address data quality and share best practices in addressing needs, as directed by
the Department.

2.17 The Contractor shall facilitate, in collaboration with the Department, an AIM data
traihing session for all participating birthing locations to identify barriers to reporting
AIM bundle- specific metrics.

2.18 The Contractor shall work submit quarterly reports to the Department that include,
but are not limited to, AIM program progress, structure and outcome measures that
are associated with the patient safety bundles being implemented.

3. Modify Exhibit B, Methods and Conditions Precedent to Payment. Section 2, to read:

2. This agreement is funded with;

2.1 84% Federal Funds from Centers for Disease Control & Prevention on June 30,
2021, Preventing Maternal Deaths: Supporting Maternal Mortality Review
Committees Grant. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA) #93.478,
Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN) #NU58DP006693.

2.2 16% Federal Funds from Department of Health and Human Services. Health
Resources and Services Administration on August 18, 2021, Maternal and Child
Health Federal Consolidated Programs. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance
(CFDA) #93.110, Federal Award Identification Number (FAIN) #H18000033.

4. Modify Exhibit B, Methods and Conditions Precedent to Payment, Section 4, Subsection 4.1, to
read: /

4.1 Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures incurred
in the fulfillment of this Agreement, and shall be in accordance with the approved
line items as specified in Exhibit B-1, Budget through Exhibit 8-5 Budget,
Amendment #2.

5. Modify Exhibit B, Methods and Conditions Precedent to Payment, Section 4, Subsection 4.2, to
read:

4.2 The Contractor shall submit an invoice and supporting documents to the
Department no later than the fifteenth (15th) working day of the following month.
The Contractor shall:

4.2.1 Ensure the invoice is presented in a form that is provided by the Department
or is otherwise acceptable to the Department.

SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-A02 Mary Hitchcock Memoria! Hospital Contractor lnitials^^^_^^^^^
A-S-i.i Page 2 of 5 Date
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4.2.2 Ensure the invoice identifies and requests payment for allowable costs
incurred in the previous month.

4.2.3 Provide supporting documentation of allowable costs that may include, but
is not limited to, time sheets, payroll records, receipts for purchases, and
proof of expenditures, as applicable.

4.2.4 Ensure the invoice is completed, dated and retumed to the Department with
the supporting documentation for authorized expenses, in order to initiate
payment.

6. Add Exhibit B-5 Budget - Amendment #2 which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference
herein.

wv
SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-A02 Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital Contractor Initials

^  1/21/2022
A-S-1.1 Page 3 of 5 Date
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All terms and conditions of the Contract and prior amendments not modified by this Amendment remain
in full force and effect. This Amendment shall be effective upon Governor and Council approval.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have set their hands as of the date written below,

State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

1/24/2022

Date

•OocuSkgn«d by:

*TiUc^

Name^^®'^'^''^^°^^ m. Tilley
Title: oi rector

1/21/2022

Date

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic

a.

Name:^^'"hara a. vance

Title: vice president, Research operations

Wl/
Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MATERN-01 ■A02

A-S-1.1

Page 4 of 5

Contractor Initials

Date
1/21/2022
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and
execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

•OoMSlgntd by:Docusignta oy:

2/11/2022

DSi ^Name:'™y^
Title: Attorney

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:
Title:

wiy
Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital A-S-1.1 Contractor Inltlals^^^^^^^^^
SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-A02 Page5of5 ^ Date
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ExhlM B<5. Anw)tfm«nt #2. SFY 2022 BudgM

Now Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services

Ceotrector Nam*: Mary Hheheeck Matnorfai Hoapital dfbfa Dartmouth HKcheeek

fhojact Tltla: Enhancing RavWws and Surraitanca to Elbnbtata Matarnal Moitaltty

Budget Pariod: Data el MC Apprmral - Am 30. 2023

Total SatartfWaoea

Total Prpgrsm Coal Corttraclor Share / Match _Fundadb]^NOO_conOa2,aha^

17.613.75

S.601.7S4.650.00

22.500.00

751.75

3.467.50 25.967.50

2.310.00
Eouipmanl:

Rental

Racelt and Mainiananca
Purchaaa/Oaorectation

5. SuopHea

Educational

6. Travel

7. Oeeuoancy

8. Currant Ex

Talephi

Poaiaoa

I LeoM

Boartl E«)enae»

10. MarltaBntyCuria'iaailcJtierta
I TraHng

I mandatory):

45,120,00 0.»»3,45

Indirect As A Percent of Direct

Mary Hichcock Memorial Hoapital dfWa Oanmouth HHchcock
S$-2a20-OPHS-11-MATERN-01-A02

EzHM B-S. AmendmerS «2. $Pf 2022 Budget
Page i ol i

Contrador Initial*.

1/21/1022
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State of New Hampshire

Department of State

CERTIFICATE

1, William M. Gardner, Secretary of State of the State of New Hampshire, do hereby certify that MARY HITCHCOCK

MEMORIAL HOSPITAL is a New Hampshire Nonprofit Corporation registered to transact business in New Hampshire on

August 07, 1889.1 further certify that all fees and documents required by the Secretary of State's office have been received and is

in good standing as far as this office is concerned.

Business ID: 68517

Certificate Number; 0005357410

uu

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF,

I hereto set my hand and cause to be affixed

the Seal of the State of New Hampshire,

this 26th day of April A.D. 2021.

William M. Gardner

Secretary of State
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Dorlmoulh-Hilchcoclc

Darlmouth-Hilchcock Medical Center

1 Medical Ceniei Dtlve

Lebonon, NH 03756

Daffmoulh-Hitchcock.ofg

CERTIFICATE OF VOTE/AUTHORTTY

1, Roberta L. Hines. MD. oFDartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Marv Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, do hereby certify that:

1. I am tlie duly elected Chair of the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-HitchcockClinic and Mary Hitchcock
Memorial Hospital;

2. The following is a true and accurate excerpt from the June 23"*, 2017 Bylaws of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and
Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital:

ARTICLE I - Section A. Fiduciary Duty. Stewardship over Corporate Assets

"In exercising this [fiduciary] duty, the Board may, consistent with the Corporation's Articles of Agreement and
these Bylaws, delegate authority to the Board of Governors, Board Committees and various ofllcers the right to
give input with respect to issues and strategies, incur indebtedness, make expenditures, enter into contracts and
agreements and take such other binding actions on behalf of the Corporation as may be necessary or desirable in
furtherance of its charitable purposes."

3. Article 1 - Section A, as referenced above, provides authority for the chief officers, including the Chief Executive

Officer, the Chief Clinical Officer, and other officers, of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock

Memorial Hospital to sign.and deliver, either individually or collectively, on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic
and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital.

4. Edward J. Merrens, MD, is tlie Chief Clinical Officer of Dartmoutli-Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock

Memorial Hospital and therefore has tlie authority to enter into contracts aiid agreements on behalf of Dartniouth-
Hitchcock Clinic and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital.

5. The foregoing authority shall remain in fiili force and effect, and the State of New Hampshire shall be entitled to
rely upon same, until written notice of the modification, rescission or revocation of same, in whole or in part, has
been received by the State of New Hampshire. This Certificate shall be effective with respect to any agreement
executed or action taken in reliance upon this Certificate before such written notice is received by the State of

New Hampshire.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand as the Chair of the Board of Trustees of Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Clinic and Marv Hitchcock Memorial Hospital this /

toberta L. Hines, MD, Board Chair

STATEOFNH

COUNTY OF GRAFTON

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ofc/c^

— jt-Zk,—I} '= iNotary Public / ̂  ~ 3 |
My Commission Expircs:^;::^:^ Z
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock

DELEGATION OF SIGNATURE AUTHORITY

RESEARCH CONTRACTS AND SPONSORED PROGRAM AGREEMENTS

The authority to sign contracts, grants, consortia, center, cooperative and other research and
sponsored program agreements ("Contracts") on behalf of Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
and Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic (together, "Dartmouth-Hitchcock") is delegated by the Chief
Executive Officer of Dartmouth-Hitchcock to the Executive Vice President of Research and

Education (and, in her absence or unavailability, to another ChiefOfllcer of Dartmouth-
Hitchcock).

The authority to sign Contracts on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock yvhich have afunding amount
not to exceed $3,000,000 and which have a term of less than five (5) years is hereby sub-
delegated by the Executive Vice President of Research and Education to the Vice President of
Research Operations.

A Contract means an agreement between two or more persons that creates a legally binding
obligation to do or not to do a particular thing. A Contract may be tilled as an agreement, a
memorandum of understanding, memorandum of agreement, a promise to pay, or may use other
terminology. A Contract may or may not involve the payment of money.

/

Additional sub-delegation of signature authority may only be made upon written authorization of
the Executive Vice President of Research and Education.

An individual with delegated/sub-delegatcd signature authority who signs a Contract on behalf of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock has the responsibility to ensure that the Contract follows Dartmouth-
Hitchcock policies, rules and guidelines and all applicable laws and regulations.

The effective date of this sub-delegation shall be the date executed by the Executive Vice
President of Research and Education, as set forth below, and shall continue until revocation by
the Executive Vice President of Research and Education.

Susan A. Reeves, EdD, RN

Executive Vice President of Research and Education

Date: JulyJ^, 2018
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COMPANY AFFORDING COVERAGE
Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group, Inc.
P.O. Box 1687
30 Main Street, Suite 330
Burlington, VT 05401
INSURED
Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
One Medical Center Drive
Lebanon, NH 03756
(603)653-6850

DATE: February 1, 2022

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only
and confers no rights upon the Certificate Holder. This
Certificate does not amend, extend or alter the coverage
afforded by the policies below.

COVERAGES

The Policy listed below has been issued to the Named Insured above for the Policy Period notwithstanding any
requirement, term or condition of any contract or other document with respect to which this certificate may be issued. The
insurance afforded by the policy is subject to all the terms, exclusions and conditions of the policy. Limits shown may
have been reduced by paid claims.

TYPE OF
INSURANCE

POLICY NUMBER
POLICY

EFFECTIVE
DATE

POLICY
EXPIRATION

DATE

LIMITS

GENERAL
LIABILI'H'

0002021-A 7/1/2021 7/1/2022 EACH
OCCURRENCE

$2,000,000

DAMAGE TO
RENTED
PREMISES

$1,000,000

X CLAIMS MADE
MEDICAL
EXPENSES

N/A

PERSONAL &
ADV INJURY

$1,000,000

OCCURRENCE GENERAL
AGGREGATE $2,000,000

OTP ER PRODUCTS-
COMP/OP AGG

$1,000,000

PROFESSIONAL
LIABILITY

0002021-A 7/1/2021 7/1/2022 EACH CLAIM $1,000,000

X CLAIMS MADE ANNUAL
AGGREGATE

$3,000,000

OCCURENCE

OTHER
•

Certificate is issued as evidence of insurance.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER
NH Department of Health & Human Services
129 Pleasant Street
Concord, NH 03301

CANCELLATION
Should any of the above described policies be cancelled before the expiration date
thereof, the issuing company will endeavor to mail 30 DAYS written notice to the
certificate holder named below, but failure to mail such notice shall impose no
obligation or liabilit}- of any kind upon the company, its agents or representatives.

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
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OARTHTT-OI astobbq;

DAiseofOonrrYT)

THIS CERTIFICATH tS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CEHTinCATE HOLDER-THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND. EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BYTHEPOUCtES
BELOW THIS CERDRCATE OF INSURANCE DOES MOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(8). AUTHOREEO
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL MSUREO. Ihe pol'icy(ies) must have ADOmONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, sulqect to (he terms and eorxJitions of the poBcy. certain odtdes may require an endorsemenL A statement on
this f^prtificatp does "nt rfghts (d the certificate holder in lieu of such endcrseTnent(s}.

License #1780562

HUB International New England
275 US Route 1
Cumbertand Foreside. ME 04110

eSOl/tcT Angela CoituntMS
Lmamp fax

(774) 233-6204 iax: •«:

NMtt.Anpela.ColumbusGhublntemationaLcom

mnmntrt) APPOftotMO covcraog NAKfl

■NURFit A-Safety National Casiultv Corooration 15105

MIURn)

Dartmouth-Ktchooch Health
1 Medical Center Dr.
Lebanon. NH 03756

douRsie:

IKUMEIIC-

MumEitr>-

pnuncRE:

aour^F:

COVBIAOES CPRTTHCATE NUMBTO: REVISION NUMBgt:

THIS O TO CERTIfY TKAT TME POUaES OF OCURANCE LtOTED BELOW HAVE BEEN tSSUEDTO THE INSORS? NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POUCY PeRJOO
POCATQ} NOTWrmSTANDING AWT REOVREMEKT. TERM OR CONDTTIOM OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER OOCUKENT V/FTH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CEimnCATE l*AY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAiN. THE IHSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POUCIES OESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO AU. THE TERMS.
EXCLUSIONS AND COKDfnONS Of SUCH POUCIES. UMTTS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAP CLAIMS.

UUR
ilB.

POJCY

OT>CR:

TYPE OF MtURANCC

COKMERCUL OEMSUU. UAaaJTY

CLNU&«MDE □ OOOLR

PER

LOC

jam
SUBA
mo. POLICY NUIBSt

POLICY EFF
flosflnmm

EACH OCCLRSENCE
EOTSTroreHTSS
WLEMI&EBtfeuXUJelCel

>i6D EXP Wtrane

FCR30W>Lt/Myi/IKAIRY

PROCUCTB-OOMnOPAOO

AVTOKmE UAaJTY
0QU8WED 8M0l£ UUR

AMY AUTO
OKMED
AJTOSOMLY

WBRaiAUAB

EXOCUtMB

8C»C0UL£0
Ainoe

BOOLYPLIURYtPtrPcflonl

BOO«.YB*nJKY<PtrKt»wit>

OOCUR

OjWO^MOE

BW COOURSENCe

^VWREOATE

oco FemmoNi

WOflKERl COIFBUJmON
AHOEmOYCRrUABUTY

irTCa.ilcsaCeinder
D68CRFnOMOFCPERAT)OMS6**JW

AGC406S18S 7/1i2021 7/1/2022

OTH-

ELEAOLACCCgMT
1,000,000

CI n«SP*»;-EABi<W^YEE 1,000,000

PI naSPAfig.POLICYLMT
1,000,000

Oa(lVnONOFOPBtABOKS/LOCAT*»tl/«>ea£* CACORDttLAdAaMf
Evtdenee of Wodurs Compensation coverage for

Cheshire Medcat Center
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health
UaryKtchcockUemodd Hospital
Alice Pedt Ow Memortai Hospital
New London Hospital Assoctalion
Ut Ascutney Hospital and Health Center

MMTM MMOUa mw bp UbMM ■ tnoM cpM k raq«M)

CERTinCATEHOLDiR CANCELLAnm

NH DHHS
129 Pleasant Street
Corword. NH 03301

ACORD 25(2016/03)

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POUCIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATKM DATE THEREOF. NOTICE VffUL BE DELIVERED CN
ACCORDANCE VmH THE POUCY PROVtSIOMS.

AUTHQRZB) REFFCCEKTA1WE

99^'^
eiS88-2015ACOHD<^RPORATK>N. AO rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marlts of ACORD
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Dartmouth-Hitchcock

Dartmouth-Hitchcock (D-H) is comprised of the Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center

and several clinics throughout New Hampshire and Vermont. Our physicians and
researchers collaborate with Geisel School of Medicine scientists and faculty as well as

other leading health care organizations to develop new treatments at the cutting edge of
medical practice bringing the latest medical discoveries to the patient.

Dartmouth-Hitchcock includes:

%

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Medical Center (DHMC)

DHMC is the state's only academic medical center, and the only Level I Adult and Pediatric

Trauma Center in New Hampshire. The Dartmouth-Hitchcock Advanced Response Team

(DHART), based in Lebanon and Manchester, provides ground and air medical

transportation to communities throughout northern New England. DHMC was named in
2020 as the #1 hospital in New Hampshire by U.S. News & World Report
(https;//heaith.usnews.com/best-hospitais/area/nh), and recognized for high performance in nine

clinical specialties, procedures, and conditions.
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The Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic

The Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic is a network of primary and speciality care physicians

located throughout New Hampshire and Vermont, with major community group practices

in Lebanon. Concord. Manchester. Nashua, and Keene, NH, and Bennington. VT.

'i

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital is New Hampshire's only teaching hospital, with an

inpatient capacity of 396 beds.

h rs;

Children's Hospital at Dartmouth-Hitchcock (CHaD)

CHaD is New Hampshire's only children's hospital and a member of the Children's

Hospital Association, providing advanced pediatric inpatient. outpatient and surgical

services at DHMC in Lebanon as well as in Bedford. Concord, Manchester, Nashua, and

Dover, NH.
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Norris Cotton Cancer Center (NCCC!

NCCC is a designated Comprehensive Cancer Center by the National Cancer Institute,

and is one of the premier facilities for cancer treatment, research, prevention, and

education. Interdisciplinary teams, devoted to the treatment of specific types of cancer,

work together to care for patients of all ages in Lebanon, Manchester, Nashua, Keene, NH,
and St. Johnsbury, VT.

Our mission, vision, and values

Our mission

We advance health through research, education, clinical practice and community

partnerships, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the right time,
every time.

Our vision

Achieve the healthiest population possible, leading the transformation of health care in
our region and setting the standard for our nation.

Our values

• Respect

•  Integrity

• Commitment

• Transparency

• Trust

• Teamwork

• Stewardship

• Community
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•  Facts and Figures

• Community Outreach

• CoUaborations

• Population Health

• Awards and Honors

• History

Copyright © 2021 Dartmouth-Hitchcock. All rights reserved
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Board of Trustees of

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Dartmouth-Hitchcock
Health and its subsidiaries (the "Health System"), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets
as of June 30. 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets and of cash flows for the years then ended.

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America: this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to
the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider
internal control relevant to the Health System's preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to deslgnaudit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Health
System's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and its subsidiaries as of June 30,
2020 and 2019, and the results of their operations; changes in net assets and their cash flows for
the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

PricewaterbouseCoopers LLP, loi Seaport Boulevard, Suite 500, Boston, MA 02210
T: (617) 530 5000, F: (617) 530 5001, www.pvvc.coni/us
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Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Health System changed the
manner in which it accounts for leases and the presentation of net periodic pension costs in 2020.
Our opinion is not modified with respect to these matters.

Other Matter

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole. The consolidating information is the responsibility of management
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the consolidated financial statements. The consolidating information has been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or
to the consolidated financial statements themselves and other additional procedures, in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the consolidating information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole. The consolidating information is presented for
purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated financial statements rather than to present the
financial position, results ofoperations. changes in net assets and cash flows of the individual
companies and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, we do
not express an opinion on the financial position, results of operations, changes in net assets and
cash flows of the individual companies.

Boston, fyiassachusetts
November 17, 2020
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

June 30, 2020 and 2019
(in thousands of dollars)

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Patient accounts receivable {Note 4)

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Assets limited as to use {Notes 5 and 7)
Other investments for restricted activities {Notes 5 and 7)
Property, plant, and equipment, net (Note 6)
Right of use assets, net {Note 16)
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt {Note 10)
Current portion of right of use obligations {Note 16)
Current portion of liability for pension and other postretirement
plan benefits {Note 11 and 14)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and related benefits
Estimated third-party settlements {Note 4 and 17)

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt, excluding current portion {Note 10)
Long-term right of use obligations, excluding current portion {Note 16)
Insurance deposits and related liabilities {Note 12)
Liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits,
excluding current portion (Note 11 and 14)
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 4, 6, 7, 10, 13, 16 and 17)

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions (Note 9)
Net assets with donor restrictions (Notes 8 and 9)

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

2020 2019

$  453,223 $ 143,587

183,819 221,125

161,906 95,495

798,948 460,207

1.134,526 876.249

140,580 134,119

643,586 621,256

57,585 -

137,338 124,471

$  2,912,563 $ 2,216,302

$  9,467 $ 10,914

11,775 -

3,468 3,468

129,016 113,817

142,991 128,408

302,525 41,570

599,242 298,177

1,138,530 752,180

46,456 -

77,146 58,407

324,257 281,009

143,678 124,136

2,329,309 1,513,909

431,026 559.933

152,228 142,460

583,254 702,393

$  2,912,563 $ 2,216,302

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

3
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets
Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 |

(in thousands of dollars)

Operating revenue and other support

Patient service revenue (Note 4)
Contracted revenue

Other operating revenue (Note 5)
Net assets released from restrictions

Total operating revenue and other support

Operating expenses

Salaries

Employee benefits

Medications and medical supplies

Purchased services and other

Medicaid enhancement tax (Note 4)
Depreciation and amortization
Interest (Note 10)

Total operating expenses

Operating (loss) income

Non-operating gains (losses)

Investment income, net (Note 5)

Other components of net periodic pension and p^st
retirement benefit income (Note 11)

Other losses, net (Note 10)

Loss on early extinguishment of debt

Total non-operating gains, net

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses

2020 2019

$ 1,880,025 $ 1,999,323

74.028 75,017

374,622 210,698

16,260 14,105

2,344,935 2,299,143

1,144,823 1,062,551
272,872 262,812

455,381 407,875

360,496 323,435

76,010 70,061

92,164 88,414

27,322 25,514

2,429,068 2,240,662

(84,133) 58,481

27,047 40,052

10,810 .  11,221

(2,707) (3.562)
- .  (87)

35,150 47,624

$ (48,983) $ 106,105

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - Continues on Next Page

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

4
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets - Continued
Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019

(in thousands of dollars)

Net assets without donor restrictions

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses
Net assets released from restrictions for capital
Change in funded status of pension and other postretirement
benefits (Note 11)
Other changes in net assets

(Decrease) increase in net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions

Gifts, bequests, sponsored activities
Investment income, net

Net assets released from restrictions
Contribution of assets with donor restrictions from acquisition

Increase in net assets with donor restrictions

Change in net assets

Net assets

Beginning of year

End of year

2020

(48,983)
1,414

(79,022)

2019

106,105

1,769

(72,043)

(128,907) 35,831

26,312 17,436

1,130 2,682

(17,674) (15,874)
- 383

9.768 4,627

(119,139) 40,458

702,393 661,935

$  583,254 $ 702,393

The accompanying notes are an integral pa t of these consolidated financial statemepts.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities
Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of right of use asset
Payments on right of use lease obligations - operating
Change in funded status of pension end other postretirement benefits
Gain on disposal of fixed assets
Net realized gains and change in net unrealized gains on investments
Restricted contributions and investment earnings

Proceeds from sales of securities

Changes in assets and liabilities
Patient accounts receivable

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Other assets, net

. Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and related benefits
Estimated third-party settlements

Insurance deposits and related liabilities
Liability for pension and other postretirement benefits
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating and non-operating activities

Cash flows from Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant, and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant, and equipment
Purchases of investments

Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments

Cash received through acquisition

Net cash used in Investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from line of credit

Payments on line of credit
Repayment of long-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of debt

Repayment of finance lease
Payment of debt issuance costs
Restricted contributions and investment earnings

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Increase (decrease) In cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Beginning of year

End of year

Supplemental cash flow information
Interest paid
Net assets acquired as part of acquisition, net of cash aquired
Construction in progress included in accounts payable and
accrued expenses

Donated securities

2020 2019

$  (119.139) S 40,458

93,857 88.770

8.218 -

(7.941) -

79.022 72,043

(39) (1.101)
(14.060) (31,397)
(3.605) (2,292)

-
1;167

37.306 (1.803)
(78.907) 2,149

(13.385) (9.052)
9.772 17,898

• 14.583 2,335

260.955 429

18,739 2,378

(35,774) (33,104)

19,542 12,267-

269,144 161.145

(128.019) (82.279)

2.987 2,188

(321.152) (361,407)

82,986 219,996

- 4,863

(363,198) (216,639)

35,000 30.000

(35,000) (30,000)

(10,665) (29,490)
415.336 26,338

(2,429) -

(2,157) (228)

3,605 2,292

403,690 (1,088)

309,636 (56,582)

143,587 200,169

$  453,223 $ 143,587

$  22,562 $ 23,977

-
(4,863)

17,177 1,546

- 1,167

The accompanying notes are an Integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

6
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2020 and 2019

1. Organization and Community Benefit Commitments

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health (D-HH) serves as the sole corporate member of the following entities:
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic and Subsidiaries (DHC). Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and
Subsidiaries (MHMH), (DHC and MHMH together are referred to as D-H), The New London
Hospital Association and Subsidiaries (NLH). Windsor Hospital Corporation (d/b/a Mt. Ascutney
Hospital and Health Center) and Subsidiaries (MAHHC), Cheshire Medical Center and Subsidiaries
(Cheshire), Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital and Subsidiary (APD), and the Visiting Nurse and
Hospice for Vermont and New Hampshire and Subsidiaries (VNH). The "Health System" consists
of D-HH, its members and their subsidiaries.

The Health System currently operates one tertiary, one community and three acute care (critical
access) hospitals in New Hampshire (NH) and Vermont (VT). One facility provides inpatient and
outpatient rehabilitation medicine and long-term care. The Health System also operates multiple
physician practices, a nursing home, a continuing care retirement community, and a home health
and hospice service. The Health System operates a graduate level program for health professions
and is the principal teaching affiliate of the Geisel School of Medicine (Geisel), a component of
Dartmouth College.

D-HH, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic, Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, The New London Hospital
Association, Cheshire Medical Center, and Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital are NH not-for-profit
corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501 (c)(3) of the Internal Revenue
Code (IRC). Windsor Hospital Corporation and the Visiting Nurse and Hospice for VT and NH are
VT not-for-profit corporations exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the
IRC.

On September 30. 2019, D-HH and GraniteOne Health ("GOH") entered into an agreement ("The
Combination Agreement") to combine their respective healthcare systems. The GOH system is
comprised of Catholic Medical Center ("CMC"), an acute care community hospital in Manchester,
New Hampshire, Huggins Hospital ("HH") located in Wolfeboro, NH and Monadnock Community
Hospital. ("MCH") located in Petersborough. NH. Both HH and MCH are designated as Critical
Access Hospitals. The three member hospitals of GOH have a combined licensed bed count of 380
beds. GOH is a non-profit, community based health care system. The overarching rationale for the
proposed combination is to improve access to high quality primary and specialty care in the most
convenient, cost-effective sites of service for patients and the communities served by D-HH and
GOH. Other stated benefits of the combination include reinforcing the rural health network,
investing in needed capacity to accommodate unmet and anticipated demand, and drawing on our
combined strengths to attract the necessary health care workforce. The parties have submitted
regulatory filings with the Federal Trade Commission and the New Hampshire Attorney General's
office seeking approval of the proposed transaction.

Community Benefits
The mission of the Health System is to advance health through clinical practice and community
partnerships, research and education, providing each person the best care, in the right place, at the
right time, every time.

Consistent with this mission, the Health System provides high quality, cost effective,
comprehensive, and Integrated healthcare to individuals, families, and the communities it serves
regardless of a patient's ability to pay. The Health System actively supports community-based

• healthcare and promotes the coordination of services among healthcare providers and social
services organizations. In addition, the Health System also seeks to work collaboratively with other
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2020 and 2019

area healthcare providers to improve the health status of the region. As a component of an
integrated academic medical center, the Health System provides significant support for academic
and research programs.

Certain member hospitals of the Health System file annual Community Benefits Reports with the
State of NH which outline the community and charitable benefits each provides. VT hospitals are
not required by law to file a state community benefit report. The categories used in the Community
Benefit Reports to summarize these benefits are as follows:

•  Community Health Sen/ices include activities carried out to improve community health and
could include community health education (such as classes, programs, support groups, and
materials that promote wellness and prevent illness), community-based clinical services (such
as free clinics and health screenings), and healthcare support services (enrollment assistance
in public programs, assistance in obtaining free or reduced costs medications, telephone
information services, or transportation programs to enhance access to care, etc.).

Health Professions Education includes uncompensated costs of training medical students,
Residents, nurses, and other health care professionals

Subsidized health services are services provided by the Health System, resulting In financial
losses that meet the needs of the community and would not otherwise be available unless the
responsibility was assumed by the government.

Research support and other grants represent costs in excess of awards for numerous health
research and service initiatives awarded to the organizations within the Health System.

Financial Contributions include financial contributions of cash, as well as in-kind contributions
such as time, supplies, and expertise to local organizations to address community health
needs.

Community-Building Activities include expenses incurred to support the development of
programs and partnerships Intended to address public health challenges as well as social and
economic determinants of health. Examples include physical improvements and housing,
economic development, support system enhancements, environmental improvements,
leadership development and training for community members, community health improvement
advocacy, and workforce enhancement.

Community Benefit Operations includes costs associated with staff dedicated to administering
benefit programs, community health needs assessment costs, and other costs associated with
community benefit planning and operations.

Charity Care and Costs of Government Sponsored Health Care includes losses, at-cost,
incurred by providing health care services to persons qualifying for hospital financial
assistance programs, and uncompensated costs of providing health care services to patients
who are Medicaid Beneficiaries.

The uncompensated cost of care for Med/'ca/c/patients reported in the unaudited Community
Benefits Reports for 2019 was approximately $143,013,000. The 2020 Community Benefits
Reports are expected to be filed in February 2021.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2020 and 2019

The following table summarizes the value of the community benefit initiatives outlined in the Health
System's most recently filed Community Benefit Reports for the year ended June 30, 2019;

(in thousands of dollars)

Government-sponsored healthcare services $ 291,013
Health professional education 40,621
Charity care ^ 15,281
Subsidized health services 15,165
Community health services 6,895
Research 5,238
Community building activities 3,777
Financial contributions

Community benefit operations

Total community benefit value $ 380,806

In fiscal years 2020 and 2019, funds received to offset or subsidize charity care costs provided
were $1,224,000 and $487,000, respectively.
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2020 and 2019

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and
have been prepared consistent with the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) 954, Healthcare Entities, which addresses the accounting for
healthcare entities. The net assets, revenue, expenses, and gains and losses of healthcare
entities are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.
Accordingly, net assets without donor restrictions are amounts not subject to donor-imposed
stipulations and are available for operations. Net assets with donor restrictions are those whose
use has been limited by donors to a specific time period or purpose, or whose use has been
restricted by donors to be maintained in perpetuity. All significant intercompany transactions have
been eliminated upon consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The most significant areas that are
affected by the use of estimates include implicit and explicit pricing concessions,' valuation of
certain Investments, estimated third-party settlements, insurance reserves, and pension
obligations. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

(Deficiency) Excess of Revenue over Expenses
The consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets include the (deficiency)
excess of revenue over expenses. Operating revenues consist of those items attributable to the
care of patients, including contributions and investment income on investments of net assets
without donor restrictions, which are utilized to provide charity and other operational support.
Peripheral activities, including contribution of net assets without donor restrictions from
acquisitions, loss on early extinguishment of debt, realized gains/losses on sales of investment
securities and changes in unrealized gains/losses on investments are reported as non-operating
gains (losses).

Changes in net assets without donor restrictions which are excluded from the (deficiency) excess
of revenue over expenses, consistent with industry practice, include contributions of long-lived
assets (including assets acquired using contributions which by donor restriction were to be used for
the purpose of acquiring such assets, and change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefit plans.

Charity Care
The Health System provides care to patients who meet certain criteria under their financial
assistance policies without charge or at amounts less than their established rates. Because the
Health System does not anticipate collection of amounts determined to qualify as charity care, they
are not reported as revenue.

10
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2020 and 2019

The Health System grants credit without collateral to patients. Most are local residents and are
insured under third-party arrangements. The amount of charges for implicit price concessions is
based upon management's assessment of historical and expected net collections, business and
economic conditions, trends in federal and state governmental healthcare coverage, and other
collection indicators (Notes 1 and 4).

Patient Service Revenue

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (ASC 606). Patient service revenue is reported at the amount of consideration to which
the Health System expects to be entitled from patients, third party payers, and others for services
rendered, including estimated retroactive adjustments under reimbursement agreements with third-
party payors and implicit pricing concessions. Retroactive adjustments are accrued on an
estimated basis in the period the related services are rendered and adjusted in future periods as
estimates change or final settlements are determined (Note 4).

Contracted Revenue

The Health System has various Professional Service Agreements (PSAs), pursuant to which
certain organizations purchase services of personnel employed by the Health System and also
lease space and equipment. Revenue pursuant to these PSAs and certain facility and equipment
leases and other professional service contracts have been classified as contracted revenue in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes In net assets.

Other Revenue

The Health System recognizes other revenue which is not related to patient medical care but is
central to the day-to-day operations of the Health System. Other revenue primarily consists of
revenue from retail pharmacy, which the Health System records as customer revenues in the
amounts that reflect the consideration to which it expects to be entitled in exchange for the
prescription. Other revenue also includes the Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS")
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Securities Act ("CARES Act" Provider Relief Funds
("Provider Relief Funds") operating agreements, grant revenue, cafeteria sales and other support
service revenue.

Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts on deposit with financial institutions: short-term
investments with maturities of three months or less at the time of purchase and other highly liquid
investments, primarily cash managernent funds. Short-term highly liquid investments held within
the endowment and similar investment pools are classified as investments rather than cash
equivalents and restricted cash is defined as that which is legally restricted to withdrawal and
usage.

Investments and Investment Income

Investments in equity securities with readily determinable fair values, mutual funds, governmental
securities, debt securities, and pooled/commingled funds are reported at fair value with changes in
fair value included in the (deficiency) excess of revenues over expenses. Fair value is the price
that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date (Note 7).

Investments in pooled/commingled investment funds, private equity funds and hedge funds that
represent investments where the Health System-owns shares or units of funds rather than the
underlying securities in that fund are valued using the equity method of accounting with changes in
value recorded in the (deficiency) excess of revenues over expenses. All investments, whether

11
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements

June 30, 2020 and 2019

held at fair value or under the equity method of accounting, are reported at what the Health System
believes to be the amount they would expect to receive if it liquidated its investments at the balance
sheet dates on a non-distressed basis.

Certain members of the Health System are partners in a NH general partnership established for the
purpose of operating a master investment program of pooled investment accounts. Substantially
all of the Health System's board-designated and assets with donor restrictions, such as endowment
funds, were invested in these pooled funds by purchasing units based on the market value of the
pooled funds at the end of the month prior to receipt of any new additions to the funds. Interest,
dividends, and realized and unrealized gains and losses earned on pooled funds are allocated
monthly based on the weighted average units outstanding at the prior month-end.

Investment income or losses {including change in unrealized and realized gains and losses on
investments, change in value of equity method investments, interest, and dividends) are included in
the (deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses and classified as non-operating gains and
losses, unless the income or loss is restricted by donor or law (Note 9).

Fair Value Measurement of Financial instruments

The Health System estimates fair value based on a valuation framework that uses a fair value
hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The
hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or .
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and thejowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurements). The three levels of fair value hierarchy, as defined by ASC 820, Fair Value
Measurements and Disclosures, are described below:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement
date for assets or liabilities.

Level 2 Prices other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly
observable as of the date of measurement.

Level 3 Prices or valuation techniques that are both significant to the fair value measurement
and unobservable.

The Health System applies the accounting provisions of Accounting Standards Update (ASU)
2009-12, Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or its
Equivalent) (ASU 2009-12). ASU 2009-12 allows for the estimation of fair value of investments for
which the investment does not have a readily determinable fair value, to use net asset value (NAV)
per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient, subject to the Health System's ability to redeem
its investment.

The carrying amounts of patient accounts receivable, prepaid and other current assets, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximate fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments.

* Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment, and other real estate are stated at cost at the time of purchase or
fair value at the time of donation, less accumulated depreciation. The Health System's policy is to
capitalize expenditures for major improvements and to charge expense for maintenance and repair
expenditures which do not extend the lives of the related assets. The provision for depreciation
has been determined using the straight-line method at rates which are intended to amortize the
cost of assets over their estimated useful lives which range from 10 to 40 years for buildings and
improvements, 2 to 20 years for equipment, and the shorter of the lease term, or 5 to 12 years, for
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leasehold improvements. Certain software development costs are amortized using the straight-line
method over a period of up to 10 years. Net interest cost incurred on borrowed funds during the
period of construction of capital assets is capitalized as a component of the cost of acquiring those
assets.

The fair value of a liability for legal obligations associated with asset retirements is recognized in
the period in which it is incurred, if a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the obligation can be
made. When a liability is initially recorded, the cost of the asset retirement obligation is capitalized
by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability is accreted
to its present value each period and the capitalized cost associated with the retirement is
depreciated over the useful life of the related asset. Upon settlement of the obligation, any
difference between the actual cost to settle the asset retirement obligation and the liability recorded
is recognized as a gain or loss in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets.

Gifts of capital assets such as land, buildings, or equipment are reported as support, and excluded
from the (deficiency) excess of revenue over expense's, unless explicit donor stipulations specify
how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of capital assets with explicit restrictions that specify
how the assets are to be used and gifts of cash or other assets that must be used to acquire capital
assets are reported as restricted support. Absent explicit donor stipulations about how long those
capital assets must be maintained, expirations of donor restrictions are reported when the donated
or acquired capital assets are placed in service.

Bond Issuance Costs

Bond issuance costs, classified on the consolidated balance sheets within long-terni debt, are
amortized over the term of the related bonds. Amortization is recorded within interest expense in
the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets using the straight-line method
which approximates the effective interest method.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill
The Health System records within other assets on the consolidated balance sheets goodwill and
intangible assets such as trade names and leases-in-place. The Health System considers trade
names and goodwill to be indefinite-lived assets, assesses them at least annually for Impairment or
more frequently if certain events or circumstances warrant and recognizes impairment charges for
amounts by which the carrying values exceed their fair values. The Health System has recorded
$10,007,000 and $10,524,000 as intangible assets associated with its affiliations as of June 30,
2020 and 2019, respectively.

Gifts

Gifts without donor restrictions are recorded net of related expenses as non-operating gains.
Conditional promises to give and indications of intentions to give to the Health System are reported
at fair value at the date the gift is received. Gifts are reported with donor restrictions if they are
received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction
expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net assets without donor restrictions and reported
in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as net assets released
from restrictions.
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Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2016, the FASB Issued ASU 2016-01- Recogn/7/on and Measurement of Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities, which addresses certain aspects of recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of financial instruments. This guidance allows an entity to choose,
investment-by-investment, to report an equity investment that neither has a readily determinable
fair value, nor qualifies for the practical expedient for fair value estimation using NAV, at its cost
minus impairment (if any), plus or minus changes resulting from observable price changes in
orderly transactions for the identical or similar investment of the same Issue. Impairment of such
investments must be assessed qualitatively at each reporting period. Entities must disclose their
financial assets and liabilities by measurement category and form of asset either on the face of the
balance sheet or in the accompanying notes. The ASU is effective for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15. 2018 or fiscal year 2020 for the Health System. The provision to
eliminate the requirement to disclose the fair value of financial instruments measured at cost (such
as the fair value of debt) was early adopted during the year ended June 30, 2017. The standard
has been adopted during the current fiscal year and no material impact was noted.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02-Leases (Topic 642). Under the new guidance,
lessees are required to recognize the following for all leases (with the exception of leases with a
term of twelve months or less) at the commencement date: (a) a lease liability, which is a lessee's
obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and (b) a
right-of-use asset, which is an asset that represents the lessee's right to use, or control the use of.
a specified asset for the lease term. Leases are classified as either operating or finance. Operating
leases result in straight-line expense in the statement of operations (similar to previous operating
leases), while finance leases result in more expense being recognized in the earlier years of the
lease term (similar to previous capital leases). The Health System adopted the new standard on
July 1. 2019 using the modified retrospective approach. The Health System elected the transition
method that allows for the application of the standard at the adoption date rather than at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the consolidated financial statements.
The Health System also elected available practical expedients (Note 16).

In March 2017, the FASB Issued ASU 2017-07, Compensation - Retirement Benefits (Topic 715):
Improving the Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit
Cost. Under the new standard, the service cost component of the net benefit cost will be included
within income from operations as a component of benefits expenses and the other components of
net benefit cost as defined by ASC 715 will be reported in non-operating activities within the
consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets. The standard also prohibits
reporting of the other components of net benefit cost in the same line as other pension related
changes on the statements of operations and changes in net assets. ASU 2017-07 is effective for
the fiscal year ended June 30. 2020 and is applied on a retrospective basis.

Reclasslficatlons

As a result of adopting the provisions of ASU 2017-07, the Health System reclassified $11.221,000
from benefits expense to non-operating activities within the consolidated statements of operations
and changes in net assets for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019. The amount included in non-
operating activities for the fiscal year ending June 30.2020 was $10,810,000.
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3. Acquisition

Effective Juiy 1, 2018, Alice Peck Day Memorial Hospital became the sole corporate member of
APD LifeCare Center inc. (LifeCare). LifeCare owns and operates Harvest Hill, an assisted living
facility, the Woodlands, a residential living community and the Elizabeth S. Hughes Care Unit,
which provides hospice care.

In accordance with applicable accounting guidance on not-for-profit mergers and acquisitions, Alice
Peck Day Memorial Hospital recorded goodwill related to the acquisition of LifeCare of
approximately $5,131,000. Restricted contribution income of $383,000 was recorded within net
assets with donor restrictions in the accompanying consolidated statement of changes In net
assets. Included in the transaction was LifeCare's cash balance of $4,863,000. No consideration
was exchanged for the net assets assumed and acquisition costs were expensed as incurred.

4. Patient Service Revenue and Accounts Receivable

The Health System reports patient service revenue at amounts that reflect the consideration to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient care. These amounts are due from
patients, third-party payers {including managed care payers and government programs), and
others: and they include variable consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to
settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations. Generally, the Health System bills patients and
third-party payers several days after the services were performed or shortly after discharge.
Revenue is recognized as performance obligations are satisfied under contracts by providing
healthcare services to patients.

The Health System determines performance obligations based on the nature of the services
provided. Revenues for performance obligations satisfied over time are recognized based on
actual charges incurred in relation to total expected charges as this method provides a reasonable
estimate of the transfer of services over the term of performance obligations based on inputs
needed to satisfy the obligations. Generally, performance obligations satisfied over time relate to
patients receiving inpatlent acute care services. For Inpatlent services, performance obligations
are measured from admission to the point when there are no further services required for the
patient, which is generally the time of discharge. For outpatient services and physician services,
performance obligations are recognized at a point In time when the services are provided and no
further patient services are deemed necessary.

Generally, the Health System's patient service performance obligations relate to contracts with a
duration of less than one year, therefore the Health System has elected to apply the optional
exemption provided in ASC 606-10-50-14a and, therefore, we are not required to disclose the
aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to performance obligations that are unsatisfied
or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. This generally refers to inpatlent services
at the end of the reporting period. The performance obligations for these contracts are generally
completed when the patients are discharged, which generally occurs within days or weeks of the
end of the reporting period.

Established charges represent gross charges. They are not the same as actual pricing, and they
generally do not reflect what a hospital is ultimately entitled to for services it provides. Therefore,
they are not displayed in the Health System's consolidated statements of operations and changes
in net assets.
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Hospitals are paid amounts negotiated with insurance companies or set by government entities,
which are typically less than established or standard charges. Gross charges are used to calculate
Medicare outlier payments and to determine certain elements of payment under managed care
contracts. Gross charges are what hospitals charge all patients prior to the application of
contractual adjustments and implicit price concessions.

Explicit Pricing Concessions
Revenues for the Health System under the traditional fee-for service Medicare and Medicaid
programs are based on prospectlvely determined rates per discharge or visit, reasonable
(allowable) cost, or prospective rates per episodic period, depending on the type of provider.

Inpatient acute care services provided to Medicare program beneficiaries are paid using the
prospective payment system ("PPS") to determine rates-per-discharge. These rates vary
according to a patient classification system ("DRG"), based on diagnostic, clinical and other
factors. In addition, inpatient capital costs (depreciation and interest) are reimbursed by
Medicare on the basis of a prospectlvely determined rate per discharge. Medicare
outpatient services are paid on a prospective payment system, based on a pre-determined
amount for each outpatient procedure (APC), subject to various mandated modifications.
Retrospectively determined cost-based revenues under these programs, such as indirect
medical education, direct graduate medical education, disproportionate share hospital,
transplant services, and bad debt reimbursement are based on the hospital's cost reports
and are estimated using historical trends and current factors. The Health System's
payments for inpatient services rendered to New Hampshire ("NH") and Vermont ("VT)
Medicaid beneficiaries are based on PPS, while outpatient services are reimbursed on a
retrospective cost basis or fee schedules for NH beneficiaries. VT outpatient beneficiaries
are paid on a prospective basis per outpatient procedure.

Inpatient acute, swing, and outpatient services furnished by critical access hospitals ("CAH")
are reimbursed by Medicare at 101% of reasonable costs, subject to 2% sequestration,
excluding ambulance services and inpatient hospice care.

Providers of home health services to patients eligible for Medicare home health benefits are
paid on a prospective basis, with no retrospective settlement. The prospective payment is .
based on the scoring attributed to the acuity level of the patient at a rate determined by
federal guidelines.

Hospice services to patients eligible for Medicare hospice benefits are paid on a per diem
basis, with no retrospective settlement, provided the aggregate annual Medicare
reimbursement is below a predetermined aggregate capitated rate.

The Health System's cost based services to Medicare and Medicaid are reimbursed during
the year based on varying interim payment methodologies. Final settlement is determined
after the submission of an.annual cost report and subject to audit of this report by Medicare
and Medicaid auditors, as well as administrative and judicial review. Because the laws,
regulations, and rule interpretations, governing Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement are
complex and change frequently, the estimates recorded could change over time by material
amounts.

Revenues under Managed Care Plans (Plans) consist primarily of payment terms involving
mutually agreed upon rates per diagnosis, discounted fee-for service rates, or similar
contractual arrangements. These revenues are also subject to review and possible audit.
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The Plans are billed for patient services on an individual patient basis. An individual
patient's bill is subject to adjustments in accordance with contractual terms in place with the
Plans following their review and adjudication of each bill.

The Health System is not aware of any claims, disputes, or unsettled matters with any payer that
would materially affect its revenues for which it has not adequately provided in the accompanying
Health System's consolidated financial statements.

The Health System provides charity care to patients who are unable to pay for healthcare services
they receive as determined by financial conditions. Patients who qualify receive partial or full
adjustments to charges for services rendered. The Health System's policy is to treat amounts
qualified as charity care as explicit price concessions and as such are not reported in net patient
service revenue.

Vermont imposes a provider tax on home health agencies in the amount of 4.25% of annual net
patient revenue. In fiscal years 2020 and 2019. home health provider taxes paid were $624,000
and $628,000, respectively.

Medlcald Enhancement Tax & Disproportionate Share Hospital

On May 22, 2016, the State of New Hampshire and all New Hampshire hospitals (Hospitals)
agreed to resolve disputed issues and enter into a seven-year agreement to stabilize
Disproportionate Share Hospital (DSH) payments, with provisions for alternative payments in the
event of legislative changes to the DSH program. Under the agreement, the State committed to
make DSH payments to the Hospitals in an amount no less than 86% of the Medicaid
Enhancement Tax (MET) proceeds collected in each fiscal year, in addition to providing for directed
payments or increased rates for Hospitals in an amount equal to 5% of MET proceeds collected
from state fiscal year (SFY) 2020 through SFY 2024. The agreement prioritizes DSH payments to
critical access hospitals in an amount equal to 75% of allowable uncompensated care (UCC), with
the remainder distributed to Hospitals without critical access designation in proportion to their
allowable UCC amounts.

During the years ended June 30. 2020 and 2019, the'Health System received DSH payments of
approximately. $71,133,000 and $69,179,000 respectively. DSH payments are subject to audit and
therefore, for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. the Health System recognized as revenue
DSH receipts of approximately $67,500,000 and approximately $64,864,000, respectively.

During the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Health System recorded State of NH MET
and State of VT Provider taxes of $76,010,000 and $70,061,000, respectively. The taxes are
calculated at 5.4% for NH and 6% for VT of certain patient service revenues. The Provider taxes
are included in operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in
net assets.

Implicit Price Concessions
Generally, patients who are covered by third-party payer contracts are responsible for related co-
pays. co-insurance and deductibles. which vary depending on the contractual obligations of
patients. The Health System also provides services to uninsured patients and offers those patients
a discount from standard charges. The Health System estimates the transaction price for patients
with co-pays, co-insurance, and deductibles and for those who are uninsured based on historical
collection experience and current market conditions. The discount offered to uninsured patients
reduces the transaction price at the time of billing. The uninsured and patient responsible
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accounts, net of discounts recorded, are further reduced through implicit price concessions based
on historical collection trends for similar accounts and other known factors that impact the
estimation process. Subsequent changes to the estimate of transaction price are generally
recorded as adjustments to net patient services revenue in the period of change.

The Implicit price concessions included in estimating the transaction price represent the difference
between amounts billed to patients and the amounts the Health System expects to collect based on
collection history with similar patients. Although outcomes vary, the Health System's policy is to
attempt to collect amounts due from patients, including co-pays, co-insurance and deductibles due
from insurance at the time of service while complying with all federal and state statutes and
regulations, including but not limited.to, the Emergency Medical Treatment and Active Labor Act
(EMTALA). Through various systems and processes the Health System estimates Medicare and
Medicaid net patient service revenue and cost report settlements and accrues final expected
settlements. For filed cost reports, the accrual is recorded based on those filings, subsequent
activity, and on historical trends and other relevant evidence. For periods in which a cost report is
yet to be filed, accruals are based on estimates of what is expected to be reported, and any trends
and relevant evidence. Cost reports generally must be filed within five months of the closing
period.

Settlements with third-party payers for retroactive revenue adjustments due to audits, reviews or
investigations are considered variable consideration and are included in the determination of the
estimated transaction price for providing patient care using the most likely amount. These
settlements are estimated based on the terms of the payment agreement with the payer,
correspondence from the payer and historical settlement activity, including assessments to ensure
that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not
occur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.
Estimated settlements are adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as years
are settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews or Investigations. As of June 30, 2020
and 2019, the Health System had reserves of $302,525,000 and $41,570,000, respectively,
recorded in Estimated third-party settlements. Included in the 2020 Estimated third party

. settlements is $239,500,000 of Medicare accelerated and advanced payments, received as
working capital support during the novel coronavirus ("COVID-IS") outbreak at June 30. 2020. In
addition, $10,900,000 has been recorded in Other liabilities as of June 30, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.

For the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, additional increases in revenue of $2,314,000 and
$1,800,000, respectively, were recognized due to changes in estimates of implicit price
concessions for performance obligations satisfied in prior years.

Net operating revenues for the hospital operations of the PPS and CAH, and other business
segments consist primarily of patient service revenues, principally for patients covered by
Medicare, Medicaid, managed care and other health plans as well as patients covered under the
Health System's uninsured discount and charity care programs.
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The table below shows the Health System's sources of net operating revenues presented at the net
transaction price for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

(in thousands of dollars)

Hospital

Medicare

Medicaid

Commercial

Self Pay

Subtotal

2020

PPS CAH Total

$ 461,990 $ 64,087 $ 526.077

130,901 10,636 141,537

718,576 60,715 779,291

2,962 2,501 5,463

11,314,429 137,939 ,452.368

Professional

Professional

VNA

Other Revenue

Provider Relief Fund
Total operating revenue and
other support

(in thousands of dollars) '

Hospital
Medicare

Medicaid

Commercial

Self Pay
Subtotal

383,503 22,848 406,351

21,306

376,185

88,725

$ 1.697,932 $ 160,787 $ 2,344,935

2019

PPS CAH Total

$ 456,197 $ 72,193 $ 528,390

134,727 12,794 147,521

746,647 64,981 811,628

8,811 2,313 11,124

1,346.382 152,281 1,498,663

Professional

Professional

VNA

Other Revenue

Total operating revenue and
other support

454,425

$  1,800,807 $

23,707 478,132

22,528

299,820

175,988 $ 2,299,143

Accounts Receivable

The following table categorizes payors into four groups based on their respective percentages of
patient accounts receivable as of June 30, 2020 and 2019:

2020 2019

Medicare

Medicaid

Commercial

Self Pay
Patient accounts receivable

36%

13%

39%

12%

34%

12%

41%

13%

100% 100%
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5. Investments

The composition of investments at June 30, 2020 and 2019 is set forth in the following table:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Assets limited as to use

Internally designated by board
$  9,646 $ 21,890Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities 103,977 91,492

Domestic corporate debt securities 199,462 196,132

Global debt securities 70,145 83,580

Domestic equities 203,010 167,384

International equities 123,205 128,909

Emerging markets equities 22,879 23,086

Real Estate Investment Trust 313 213

Private equity funds 74,131 64,563

Hedge funds 36,964 32,287

843.732 809,536

Investments held by captive Insurance companies (Note 12)
U.S. government securities 15,402 23,241

Domestic corporate debt securities 8,651 11,378

Global debt securities 8,166 10,080

Domestic equities 15,150 14,617

International equities 7,227 6,766

54,596 66,082

Held by trustee under Indenture agreement (Note 10)
Cash and short-te'rm investments 236,198 631

Total assets limited as to use 1.134,526 876,249

Other Investments for restricted activities

Cash and short-term investments 7,186 6,113

U.S. government securities 28,055 32,479

Domestic corporate debt securities 35,440 29,089

Global debt securities 11,476 11,263

Domestic equities 26,723 20,981

International equities 15,402 15,531

Emerging markets equities 2,766 2,578

Private equity funds 9,483 7,638

Hedge funds 4,013 8.414

Other 36 33

Total other investments for restricted activities 140,580 134,119

Total investments $  1,275,106 $ 1,010,368
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Investments are accounted for using either the fair value method or equity method of accounting,
as appropriate on a case by case basis. The fair value method is used for all debt securities and
equity securities that are traded on active markets and are valued at prices that are readily
available in those markets. The equity method is used when investments are made in
pooled/commingled investment funds that represent investments where shares or units are owned
of pooled funds rather than the underlying securities in that fund. These pooled/commingled funds
make underlying investments In securities from the asset classes listed abpve. All investments,
whether the fair value or equity method of accounting is used, are reported at what the Health
System believes to be the amount that the Health System would expect to receive if it liquidated its
investments at the balance sheets date on a non-distressed basis.

The following tables summarize the investments by the accounting method utilized, as of June 30,
2020 and 2019. Accounting standards require disclosure of additional information for those
securities accounted for using the fair value method, as shown in Note 7.

2020

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities
International equities

Emerging markets equities
Real Estate Investment Trust

Private equity funds
Hedge funds
Other

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash and short-term investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities
International equities

Emerging markets equities
Real Estate Investment Trust

Private equity funds
Hedge funds
Other

Fair Value Equity Total

$ 253,030 $ $ 253,030

147,434 - 147,434

198,411 45,142 243,553

44.255 45,532 89,787

195,014 49,869 244,883

77,481 68,353 145,834

1,257 24,388 25,645

313 - 313

- 83,614 83,614

- 40,977 40,977

36 - 36

$ 917,231 $ 357,875 $ 1,275,106

2019

Fair Value Equity Total

$ 28,634 $ - $■ 28,634
147,212 - 147,212
164,996 71,603 236,599

55,520 49,403 104,923
178,720 24,262 202,982
76,328 74,878 151,206

1,295 24,369 25,664
213 - 213

- 72,201 72,201
- 40,701 40.701

33 - 33

$ 652,951 $ 357,417 $ 1,010,368
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For the years ended June 30. 2020 and 2019 investment income is reflected in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as other operating revenue of
approximately $936,000 and $983,000 and as non-operating gains of approximately $27,047,000
and $40,052,000, respectively.

Private equity limited partnership shares are not eligible for redemption from the fund or general
partner, but can be sold to third parly buyers in private transactions that typically can be completed
in approximately 90 days. It is the intent of the Health System to hold these investments until the
fund has fully distributed all proceeds to the limited partners and the term of the partnership
agreement expires. Under the terms of these agreements, the Health System has committed to
contribute a specified level of capital over a defined period of time. Through June 30, 2020 and
2019, the Health System has committed to contribute approximately $172,819,000 and
$164,319,000 to such funds, of which the Health System has contributed approximately
$119,142,000 and $109,584,000 and has outstanding commitments of $53,677,000 and
$54,735,000, respectively.

6. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are summarized as follows at June 30, 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Land $  40,749 $  38,232

Land improvements 39,820 42,607

Buildings and improvements 893,081 898,050

Equipment 927,233 888,138

Equipment under capital leases . - 15,809

1,900,883 1,882,836

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization 1,356,521 1,276,746

Total depreciable assets, net 544,362 606,090

Construction in progress 99,224 15,166

$  643,586 $  621,256

As of June 30, 2020, construction in progress primarily consists of two projects. The first project,
started in fiscal 2019, consists of the addition of the ambulatory surgical center (ASC) located in
Manchester, NH. The estimated cost to complete the project is $42 million. The anticipated
completion date is the second quarter of fiscal 2021. The second project, involves the addition of the
In-patient tower located in Lebanon, NH. The estimated cost to complete the tower project is $140
million over the next three fiscal years.

The construction in progress as of June 30, 2019, included both the ASC, as well as renovations
taking place at the various pharmacy locations to bring their facilities compliant with Regulation
USP800. The pharmacy upgrade was completed during the first quarter of fiscal year 2021.
Capitalized interest of $2,297,000 and $0 is included in Construction in progress as of June 30,
2020 and 2019, respectively.

Depreciation and amortization expense included In operating and non-operating activities was
approximately $92,217,000 and $88,496,000 for 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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7. Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies for assets and liabilities measured at
fair value on a recurring basis:

Cash and Short-Term Investments

Consists of money market funds and are valued at net asset value (NAV) reported by the financial
institution.

Domestic, Emerging Markets and International Equities
Consists of actively traded equity securities and mutual funds which are valued at the closing price
reported on an active market on which the individual securities.are traded (Level 1 measurements).

U.S. Government Securities, Domestic Corporate and Global Debt Securities
Consists of U.S. government securities, domestic corporate and global debt securities, mutual
funds and pooled/commingled funds that invest in U.S. government securities, domestic corporate
and global debt securities. Securities are valued based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes
where available (Level 1 measurement). If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are
based on quoted market prices of comparable instruments or, if necessary, matrix pricing from a
third party pricing vendor to determine fair value (Level 2 measurements). Matrix prices are based
on quoted prices for securities with similar coupons, ratings and maturities, rather than on specific
bids and offers for a designated security. Investments in mutual funds are measured based on the
quoted NAV as of the close of, business in the respective active market (Level 1 measurements).

The preceding methods may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net
realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, although the Health System
believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the
use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial
instruments could result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.

Investments are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The following tables set forth the consolidated financial assets and
liabilities that were accounted for at fair value on a recurring basis as of June 30. 2020 and 2019:
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2020

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets

Investments

Cash and short term Investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities
International equities

Emerging market equities
Real estate investment tnjst

Other

Total Investments

Deferred compensation plan assets

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

$  253.030 $ •  $ $  253,030

147.434 . 147,434

17,577 160,634 198,411

22,797 21.458 44.255

187.354 7,660 195.014

77.481 . 77.481

1.257 - 1,257

313 . 313

2 34 •  36

707,245 209.966 917.231

Total deferred compensation

plan assets

Beneficial interest In trusts

Total assets

Cash and shortrterm investments 5,754

U.S. government securities 51

Domestic corporate debt securities 7,194

Global debt securities 1.270

Domestic equities 24.043

Internalionai equities 3,571

Emerging market equities 27

Real estate 11

Multi strategy fund 51.904

Guaranteed contract •

92

5,754

51

7.194

1.270

24,043

3,571

27

11

51.904

92

Redemption

or Liquidation

Daily

Dally
Daily-Monthly
Dally-Monthly
Dally-Monthly

Daily-Monthly
Daily-Monthly
Daily-Monlhly

Not applicable

Days'
Notice

1

1

1-15

1-15

1-10

1-11

1-7

1-7

Not applicable

93,825 92 93.917 Not applicable Not applicable

. . 9,202 9.202 Not applicable Not applicable

$ 601^070 $ 209,966 $ 9.294 $ 1,020,350

2019

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets

investments

Cash and short term Investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic corporate debt securities
Global debt securities

Domestic equities

International equities

Emerging market equities
Real estate investment trust

Other

Total investments

Deferred compensation plan assets

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Redemption

or Liquidation

Total deferred compensation

plan assets

Beneficial interest in trusts

Total assets

$ 26,634 S -  $ -  $ 28.634 Daily

147,212 . . 147.212 Daily

34,723 130.273 . 164.996 Daily-Monthly

28.412 27.108 - 55,520 Dally-Monthly

171.318 7.402 176,720 Dail^Monthly
76.295 33 76,328 Daily-Monthty

1,295 . 1.295 Daily-Monthly

213 . 213 Dally-Monthly

. 33 33 Not applicable

486.102 164,649 652,951

Cash and short-term investments 2,952

U,S, government securities 45

Domestic corporate debt securities 4.932

Global debt securities 1.300

Domestic equities 22,403

International equities 3,576

Emerging market equities 27

Real estate 11

Multi strategy furtd 48.941

Guaranteed contract •

89

2.952

45

4,932

1,300

22.403

3.576

27

11

46,941

89

64,167 89 64.276

. . 9,301 9.301

S 572.289 S 164.649 $ 9.390 S 746,528

64.276

9.301

Days'

Notice

1

1

1-15

1-15

1-10

1-11

1-7

1-7

Not applicable

Not applicable Not applicable

Not applicable Not applicable
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The following table Is a rollforward of financial instruments classified by the Health System within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy defined above.

2020

Balances at end of year

Beneficial

Interest In

Perpetual Guaranteed

(in thousands of dollars) Trust Contract Total

Balances at beginning of year $  9,301 $  89 $ 9,390

Net unrealized (losses) gains (99) 3 (96)

Balances at end of year $  9,202 $  92 $ 9,294

2019

Beneficial

Interest In

Perpetual Guaranteed

(in thousands of dollars) Trust Contract Total

Balances at beginning of year $  9,374 $  86 $ 9,460

Net unrealized (losses) gains (73) 3 (70)

9,301 $ 89 $ 9,390

There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

8. Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions are available for the following purposes at June 30, 2020 and
2019;

(in thousands of dollars)

Investments held in perpetuity

Healthcare services

Research

Health education

Charity care

Other

Purchase of equipment

2020 2019

$ 59,352 $ 56,383

33,976 20,140

22,116 26,496

16,849 19,833

12,366 12,494

4,488 3,841

3,081 3,273

$ 152,228 $ 142,460

Income earned on donor restricted net assets held in perpetuity is available for these purposes.
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9. Board Designated and Endowment Funds

Net assets include numerous funds established for a variety of purposes including both donor-
restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function as
endowments. Net assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the
Board of Trustees to function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence
or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.

The Board of Trustees has interpreted the NH and VT Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Acts (UPMIFA or Act) for donor-restricted endowment funds as requiring the preservation of
the original value of gifts, as of the gift date, to donor-restricted endowment funds, absent explicit
donor stipulations to the contrary. The Health System's net assets with donor restrictions which
are to be held in perpetuity consist of (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent
endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to be held In perpetuity, and (c)
accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the
applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund, if any.
Collectively these amounts are referred to as the historic dollar value of the fund.

Net assets without donor restrictions include funds designated by the Board of Trustees to function
as endowments, the income from certain donor-restricted endowment funds, and any accumulated
investment return thereon, which pursuant to donor intent may be expended based on trustee or
management designation. Net assets with donor restrictions that are temporary in nature, either
restricted by time or purpose, include funds appropriated for expenditure pursuant to endowment
and investment spending policies, certain expendable endowment gifts from donors, and any
retained income and appreciation on donor-restricted endowment funds, which are restricted by the
donor to a specific purpose or by law. When the restrictions on these funds have been met, the
funds are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

In accordance with the Act, the Health System considers the following factors in making a
determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: the duration and
preservation of the fund; the purposes of the donor-restricted endowment fund; general economic
conditions; the possible effect of inflation and deflation; the expected total return from income and
the appreciation of investments; other resources available; and investment policies.

The Health System has endowment investment and spending policies that attempt to provide a
predictable stream of funding for programs supported by its endowment while ensuring that the
purchasing power does not decline over time. The Health System targets a diversified asset
allocation that places emphasis on investments in domestic and international equities, fixed
income, private equity, and hedge fund strategies to achieve its long-term return objectives within
prudent risk constraints. The Health System's Investment Committee reviews the policy portfolio
asset allocations, exposures, and risk profile on an ongoing basis.

The Health System, as a policy, may appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an
endowment fund as the institution determines is prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes, and
duration for which the endowment is established, subject to donor intent expressed in the gift
instrument and the standard of prudence prescribed by the Act.

From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment
funds may fall below their original contributed value. Such market losses were not material as of
June 30, 2020 and 2019.
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Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists of the following at June 30, 2020 and
2019:

2020

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  80,039 $ 80,039

Board-designated endowment funds 33,714 - 33,714

Total endowed net assets $  33,714 $  80,039 $ 113,753

2019

Without With

Donor Donor

(in thousands of dollars) Restrictions Restrictions Total

Donor-restricted endowment funds $ $  78,268 $ 78,268

Board-designated endowment funds 31,421 - 31,421

Total endowed net assets $  31,421 $  78,268 $ 109,689

Changes in endowment net assets for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

2020

(in thousands of dollars)

Balances at beginning of year

Net investment return

Contributions

Transfers

Release of appropriated funds

Balances at end of year

Without

Donor

Restrictions

$  31.421

713

890

14

676

With

Donor

Restrictions

$  78,268

1,460
2,990

267

(2,946)

33,714 $ 80,039 $

Total

109,689

2,173

3,880

281

(2,270)

113,753

Balances at end of year
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts

Net assets with donor restrictions

80,039

6,782

86,821
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2019

(in thousands of dollars)

Balances at beginning of year

Net investment return

Contributions

Transfers

Release of appropriated funds

Balances at end of year

Without

Donor

Restrictions

$ 29.506 $

1,184

804

(73)

With

Donor

Restrictions

78,197

2,491

1,222

(1.287)

(2.355)

31.421 $ 78,268 $

Total

107,703

3.675

2,026

(1,360)
(2,355)

109,689

Balances at end of year
Beneficial interest in perpetual trusts
Net assets with donor restrictions

78,268
8,422

86.690
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10. Long-Term Debt

A summary of long-term debt at June 30, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Variable rate Issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority (NHHEFA) Revenue Bonds

Series 2018A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2037 (1) $ 83,355 $ 83,355

Fixed rate Issues

New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority Revenue Bonds

Series 2018B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2048 (1) 303,102 303,102
Series 2020A. principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2059 (2) 125,000
Series 2017A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2040 (3) 122,435 122,435
Series 2017B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2031 (3) 109,800 109.800
Series 2019A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2043 (4) 99,165
Series 2018C, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2030 (5) 25,160 25,865
Series 2012, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through July 2039 (6) 24,315 25,145
Series 2014A, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2022 (7) ' 19,765 26,960
Series 2014B, principai maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2033 (7) 14,530 14,530
Series 2016B, principal maturing in varying annual
amounts, through August 2045 (8) 10,970 10,970

Note payable
Note payable to a financial institution due in monthly interest
only payments through May 2023 (9) 125,000

Total obligated group debt $ 1,062,597 $ 722,162
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A summary of long-term debt at June 30. 2020 and 2019 Is as follows (continued):

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Other

Note payable to a financial institution payable in interest free
monthly Installrnents through July 2015;
collateralized by associated equipment $ 287 $ 445
Note payable to a financial institution with entire
principal due June 2029 that is collateralized by land
and building. The note payable is interest free 273 323
Mortgage note payable to the US Dept of Agriculture;
monthly payments of $10,892 include interest of 2.375%
through November 2046 2,560 2,629
Obligations under capital leases 17.526

Total nonobligated group debt 3,120 20,923
Total obligated group debt 1.062,597 722,162

Total long-term debt 1,065,717 743,085

Add: Original issue premium and discounts, net 69,542 25,542

9,467 10,914

7,262 5,533
$  1,138,530 1 752,180

Less; Current portion 9,467 10,914
Debt issuance costs, net 7,262 5.533

Aggregate annual principal payments for the next five years ending June 30 and thereafter are as
follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020

2021 $ 9.467
2022 9^419
2023 131,626
2024 1.871
2025 1.954
Thereafter 911,380

$  1,065,717

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Obligated Group (DHOG) Debt

MHMH established the DHOG in 1993 for the original purpose of issuing bonds financed through
NHHEFA or the "Authority". The members of the obligated group consist of D-HH, MHMH, DHC,
Cheshire, NLH, MAHHC, and, APD. D-HH is designated as the obligated group agent.
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Revenue Bonds issued by members of the DHOG are administered through notes registered in the
name of the Bond Trustee and in accordance with the terms of a Master Trust Indenture. The
Master Trust Indenture contains provisions permitting the addition, withdrawal, or consolidation of
members of the DHOG under certain conditions. The notes constitute a joint and several obligation
of the members of the DHOG {and any other future members of the DHOG) and are equally and
ratably collateralized by a pledge of the members' gross receipts. The DHOG is also subject to
certain annual covenants.under the Master Trust Indenture, the most restrictive is the Annual Debt
Service Coverage Ratio (1.10x).

(1) Series 2018A and Series 2018B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018A and Series 2018B in February
2018. The Series 2018A Revenue Bonds were primarily used to refund a portion of Series
2015A and Series 2016A. The Series 20188 were primarily used to refund a portion of Series
2015A and Series 2016A, Revolving Line of Credit, Series 2012 Bank Loan and the Series
2015A and Series 2016A Swap terminations. A loss on the extinguishment of debt of
approximately $578,000 was recognized in non-operating gains (losses) on the statement of
operations and changes in net assets, as a result of the refinancing. The interest on the Series
2018A Revenue Bonds is variable with a current interest rate of 5.00% and matures in variable
amounts through 2037. The interest on the Series 2018B Revenue Bonds is fixed with an
interest rate of 4.18% and matures in variable amounts through 2048.

(2) Series 2020A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds Series 2020A in February, 2020. The proceeds
from the Series 2020A Revenue Bonds are being used primarily to fund the construction of a
212,000 square foot inpatient pavilion in Lebanon, NH as well as various equipment. The
interest on the Series 2020A Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 5.00% and
matures in variable amounts through 2059.

(3) Series 2017A and Series 2017B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2017A and Series 2017B in December,
2017. The Series 2017A Revenue Bonds were primarily used to refund Series 2009 and
Series 2010 and the Series 2017B Revenue Bonds were used to refund Series 2012Aand
Series 2012B. The interest on the Series 2017A Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate
of 5.00% and matures in variable amounts through 2040. The interest on the Series 2017B
Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 2.54% and matures in variable amounts through
2031.

(4) Series 2019A Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds Series 2019A in October, 2019. The proceeds
from the Series 2019A Revenue Bonds are being used primarily to fund the construction of a
91,000 square foot expansion of facilities in Manchester, NH to include an Ambulatory Surgical
Center as well as various equipment. The interest on the Series 2019A Revenue Bonds is fixed
with an interest rate of 4.00% and matures in variable amounts through 2043.
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(5) Series 2018C Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2018C in August, 2018. The Series 2018C
Revenue Bonds were used primarily to refinance the Series 2010 Revenue Bonds. The interest
on the series 2018C Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 3.22% and matures in
variable amounts through 2030.

(6) Series 2012 Revenue Bonds

The NHHEFA issued $29,650,000 of tax-exempt Revenue Bonds, Series 2012. The proceeds
of these bonds were used to refund 1998 and 2009 Series Bonds, to finance the settlement

cost of the interest rate swap, and to finance the purchase of certain equipment and
renovations. The bonds have fixed interest coupon rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% (a net
interest cost of 3.96%), and matures in variable amounts through 2039.

(7) Series 2014A and Series 20i4B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2014A and Series 2014B in August 2014.
The proceeds from the Series 2014A and 2014B Revenue Bonds were used to partially refund
the Series 2009 Revenue Bonds and to cover cost of issuance. Interest on the 2014A

Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 2.63% and matures at various dates through

2022. Interest on the Series 2014B Revenue Bonds is fixed with an interest rate of 4.00% and
matures at various dates through 2033.

(8) Series 2016B Revenue Bonds

The DHOG issued NHHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 2016B in July 2016 through a private
placement with a financial institution. The Series 2016B Revenue Bonds were used to finance
2016 projects. The Series 2016B is fixed with an interest rate of 1.78% and matures at various
dates through 2045.

(9) Note payable to financial Institution

The DHOG issued a note payable to TD Bank in May 2020. Issued in response to the COVID-
19 pandemic, the proceeds from the note will be used to fund working capital as needs require.
The interest on the note payable is fixed with an interest rate of 2.02% and matures in 2023.

Outstanding joint and several indebtedness of the DHOG at June 30, 2020 and 2019 approximates
$1,062,597,000 and $722,162,000, respectively.

The Health System Indenture agreements require establishment and maintenance of debt service
reserves and other trustee held funds. Trustee held funds of approximately $236,198,000 and
$631,000 at June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, are classified as assets limited as to use in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets (Note 5). In addition, debt service reserves of
approximately $9,286,000 and $1,331,000 at June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, are classified
as other current assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The debt service
reserves are mainly comprised of escrowed construction funds at June 30, 2020 and escrowed
funds held for future principal and interest payments at June 30, 2019.
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For the years ended June 30. 2020 and 2019 interest expense on the Health System's long term
debt is reflected in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and changes in net
assets as operating expense of approximately $27,322,000 and $25,514,000 and other non-
operating losses of $3,784,000 and $3,784,000, respectively.

11. Employee Benefits

All eligible employees of the Health System are covered under various defined benefit and/or
define contribution plans. In addition, certain members provide postretirement medical and life
benefit plans to certain of its active and former employees who meet eligibility requirements. The
•postretirement medical and life plans are not funded.

All of the defined benefit plans within the Health System have been frozen and therefore there are
no remaining participants earning benefits in any of the Health System's defined benefit plans.

The Health System continued to execute the settlement of obligations due to retirees in the defined
benefit plans through bulk lump sum offerings or purchases of annuity contracts. The annuity
purchases follow guidelines established by the Department of Labor (DOL). The Health System
anticipates continued consideration and/or implementation of additional settlements over the next
several years.

Defined Benefit Plans

Net periodic pension expense included in employee benefits in the consolidated statements of
operations and changes in net assets is comprised of the components listed below for the years
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of dollars)

Service cost for benefits earned during the year
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets

Net loss amortization

Total net periodic pension expense

2020

170 $

43.433

(62,436)

12,032 _

(6,801) $

2019

150

47,814

(65,270)
10,357

(6.949)

The following assumptions were used to determine net periodic pension expense as of June 30,
2020 and 2019:

2020 2019

Discount rate

Rate of increase in compensation
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets

3.00% - 3.10%

N/A

7.50%

3.90 % -4.60%

N/A

7.50%
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The following table sets forth the funded status and amounts recognized in the Health System's
consolidated financial statements for the defined benefit pension plans at June 30. 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of dollars)

Change in benefit obligation

2020 2019

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $  1,135,523 $ 1,087,940

Service cost 170 150

Interest cost 43,433 47,814

Benefits paid (70,778) (51,263)

Expenses paid (168) (170)

Actuarial loss 139,469 93,358

Settlements (38,549) (42,306)

Benefit obligation at end of year 1,209,100 1,135,523

Change In plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 897,717 884,983

Actual return on plan assets 121,245 85,842

Benefits paid (70,778) (51,263)

Expenses paid (168) (170)

Employer contributions 19,986 20,631

Settlements (38,549) (42,306)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 929,453 897,717

Funded status of the plans (279,647) (237,806)

Less: Current portion of liability for pension (46) (46)

Long term portion of liability for pension (279,601) (237,760)

Liability for pension $  (279,647) $ (237,806)

As of June 30, 2020 and 2019, the liability for pension Is included in the liability for pension and
other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic pension expense and included In the change in net assets
without donor restrictions include approximately $546,818,000 and $478,394,000 of net actuarial
loss as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The estimated amounts to be amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net periodic
pension expense In fiscal year 2021 for net actuarial losses is $12,752,000.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plans was approximately
$1,209,282 and $1,135,770,000 at June 30,2020 and 2019, respectively.

The following table sets forth the assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation at June 30,
2020 and 2019:

Discount rate

Rate of increase in compensation

2020

3.00% - 3.10%

N/A

2019

4.20%-4.50%

N/A
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The primary investment objective for the Plan's assets is to support the Pension liabilities of the
Pension Plans for Employees of the Health System, by providing long-term capital appreciation and
by also using a Liability Driven Investing ("LDI") strategy to partially hedge the impact fluctuating
interest rates have on the value of the Plan's liabilities. As of both June 30, 2020 and 2019, it is
expected that the LDI strategy will hedge approximately 60% of the Interest rate risk associated
with pension liabilities. To achieve the appreciation and hedging objectives, the Plans utilize a
diversified structure of asset classes designed to achieve stated performance objectives measured
on a total return basis, which includes income plus realized and unrealized gains and losses.

The range of target allocation percentages and the target allocations for the various Investments
are as follows;

Range of
Target Target

Allocations Allocations

Cash and short-term investments 0-5% 3%
U.S. government securities 0-10 5
Domestic debt securities 20-58 40
Global debt securities 6-26 7
Domestic equities 5-35 18
International equities 5-15 11

3-13 5

Real estate investment trust funds 0-5 1
Private equity funds 0-5 0

5-18 10

Emerging market equities
Real estate ii

Private equlb

Hedge funds

To the extent an asset class falls outside of its target range on a quarterly basis, the Health System
shall determine appropriate steps, as It deems necessary, to rebalance the asset class.

The Boards of Trustees of the Health System, as Plan Sponsors, oversee the design, structure,
and prudent professional management of the Health System's Plans' assets, in accordance with
Board approved investment policies, roles, responsibilities and authorities and more specifically the
following:

•  Establishing and modifying asset class targets with Board approved policy ranges,

•  Approving the asset class rebalancing procedures,

•  Hiring and terminating investment managers, and

•  Monitoring performance of the investment managers, custodians and investment consultants.

The hierarchy and inputs to valuation techniques to measure fair value of the Plans' assets are the
same as outlined in Note 7. In addition, the estimation of fair value of investments In private equity
and hedge funds for which the underlying securities do not have a readily determinate value Is
made using the NAV per share or its equivalent as a practical expedient. The Health System's
Plans own Interests in these funds rather than in securities underlying each fund and. therefore, are
generally required to consider such investments as Level 2 or 3, even though the underlying
securities may not be difficult to value or may be readily marketable.
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The following table sets forth the Health System's Plans' investments and deferred compensation
plan assets that were accounted for at fair value as of June 30, 2020 and 2019:

2020

Redemption Days'

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice

invostments
1Cash and short-term investments $ $  7.154 $ $  7,154 Daily

U.S. government securities 49,843 -
49.843 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 133,794 318,259 - 452,053 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities . 69,076 - 69,076 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 152,688 24,947 - 177,635 Daily-Monthly 1-10

International equities 13,555 70.337 - 63,892 Daiiy-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities - 39,984 -
39,984 Daily-Monlhiy 1-17

REIT funds . 2,448 • 2,448 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds . - 17 17 See Note 7 See Note 7

Hedge funds - •
47,351 47,351 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments $ 349,880 $ 532,205 S  47,368 $ 929,453

2019

Redemption Days'

(in thousands of dollars) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total or Liquidation Notice

Investments
1Cash and short-term investments $  166 $  18,232 $ $  18,398 Daily

U.S. government securities 48,580 - - 48,580 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic debt securities 122,178 273,424 - 395,602 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Global debt securities 428 75,146 - 75,574 Daily-Monthly 1-15

Domestic equities 159,259 18.316 - 177,575 Daily-Monthly 1-10

International equities 17,232 77,146 - 94,378 Daily-Monthly 1-11

Emerging market equities 321 39,902 - 40,223 Daiiy-Monthly 1-17

REIT funds 357 2,883 - 3,240 Daily-Monthly 1-17

Private equity funds - - 21 21 See Note 7 See Note 7

Hedge funds -  . -
44,126 44,126 Quarterly-Annual 60-96

Total investments S 348,521 $ 505,049 $  44.147 S 897,717

The following tables present additional information about the changes in Level 3 assets measured
at fair value for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of dollars)

Balances at beginning of year
Net unrealized gains (losses)

Balances at end of year

2020

Private

Hedge Funds Equity Funds Total

$  44,126 $  21 $ 44,147

3.225 (4) 3,221

$  47,351 $  17 $ 47,368
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2019

Private

(in thousands of doffars) Hedge Funds Equity Funds Total

Balances at beginning of year $  44,250 $  23 $ 44.273

Net unrealized losses (124) (2) (126)

Balances at end of year $  44,126 $  21 $ 44,147

The total aggregate net unrealized gains (losses) included in the fair value of the Level 3
investments as of June 30, 2020 and 2019 were approximately $18,261,000 and $14,617,000.
respectively. There were no transfers into and out of Level 3 measurements during the years
ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

There were no transfers into and out of Level 1 and 2 measurements due to changes in valuation
methodologies during the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

The weighted average asset allocation for the Health System's Plans at June 30, 2020 and 2019
by asset category is as follows;

2020 2019

Cash, and short-term investments

U.S. government securities
Domestic debt securities

Global debt securities

Domestic equities

International equities

Emerging market equities
Hedge funds

1 % 2 %

5 5

49 44

8 9

19 20

9 11

4 4

5 5

100 % 100 %

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is reviewed annually, taking into consideration
the asset allocation, historical returns on the types of assets held, and the current economic
environment. Based on these factors, it is expected that the pension assets will earn an average of
7.50% per annum.

The Health System is expected to contribute approximately $25,755,000 to the Plans in 2021
however actual contributions may vary from expected amounts.
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The following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid for the years ending June 30 and thereafter:

(in thousands of dollars)

2021 $ 51,007

2022 53,365
2023 55,466
2024 ' 57,470

2025 59.436
2026-2028 321,419

Effective May 1, 2020, the Health System terminated a defined benefit plan and settled the
accumulated benefit obligation of $18,795,000 by purchasing nonparticipating annuity contracts.
The plan assets at fair value were $11,836,000.

Defined Contribution Plans

The Health System has an employer-sponsored 401 (a) plan for certain of its members, under
which the employer makes base, transition and discretionary match contributions based on
specified percentages of compensation and employee deferral amounts. Total employer
contributions to the plan of approximately $51,222,000 and $40,537,000 in 2020 and 2019,
respectively, are included in employee benefits in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations and changes in net assets.

Various 403(b) and tax- sheltered annuity plans are available to employees of the Health System.
Plan specifications vary by member and plan. No employer contributions were made to any of
these plans in 2020 and 2019 respectively.

Postretlrement Medical and Life Benefits

The Health System has postretlrement medical and life benefit plans covering certain of Its active
and former employees. The plans generally provide medical or medical and life insurance benefits
to certain retired employees who meet eligibility requirements. The plans are not funded.

Net periodic postretlrement medical and life benefit (income) cost is comprised of the components
listed below for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Service cost $ 609 $ 384

Interest cost 1,666 1,842
Net prior service income (5.974) (5,974)
Net loss amortization 469 10

(3,230) $ (3,738)
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The following table sets forth the accumulated postretirement medical and life benefit obligation
and amounts recognized in the Health System's consolidated financial statements at June 30, 2020
and 2019:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Change In benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 46,671 $ 42,581

Service cost 609 384

Interest cost 1,666 1,842

Benefits paid (3,422) (3.149)
Actuarial loss 2,554 5,013

Benefit obligation at end of year 48,078 46,671

Funded status of the plans $ (48,078) $ (46,671)

Current portion of liability for postretirement

medical and life benefits $ (3,422) $ (3,422)

Long term portion of liability for
postretirement medical and life benefits (44,656) (43,249)

Liability for postretirement medical and life benefits $ (48,078) $ (46,671)

As of June 30, 2020 and 2019, the liability for postretirement medical and life benefits is included In
the liability for pension and other postretirement plan benefits in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

Amounts not yet reflected in net periodic postretirement medical and life benefit income and
included In the change in net assets without donor restrictions are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 2020 2019

Net prior service income $ (3,582) $ (9,556)
Net actuarial loss 10,335 8,386

$  . 6,753 $ (1,170)

The estimated amounts that will be amortized from net assets without donor restrictions into net

periodic postretirement income in fiscal year 2021 for net prior service cost is $5,974,000.
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The following future benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are
expected to be paid for the year ending June 30. 2021 and thereafter:

(in thousands of.dollars)

2021 S 3,422
2022 3.436
2023 3.622
2024 3.642
2025 3,522
2026-2028 16,268

In determining the accumulated postretirement medical and life benefit obligation, the Health
System used a discount rate of 2.90% in 2020 and an assumed healthcare cost trend rate of
6.50%, trending down to 5.00% in 2024 and thereafter. Increasing the assumed healthcare cost
trend rates by one percentage point in each year would increase the accumulated postretirement
medical benefit obligation as of June 30, 2020 and 2019 by $1.772,000 and $1,601,000 and the
net periodic postretirement medical benefit cost for the years then ended by $122,000 and
$77,000. respectively. Decreasing the assumed healthcare cost trend rates by one percentage
point in each year, would decrease the accumulated postretirement medical benefit obligation as of
June 30. 2020 and 2019 by $1.603,000 and $1,452,000 and the net periodic postretirement
medical benefit cost for the years then ended by $108,000 and $71,000, respectively.

12. Professional and General Liability Insurance Coverage

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital and Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic, along with Dartmouth College.
Cheshire Medical Center. The New London Hospital Association. Mt. Ascutney Hospital and Health
Center, and the Visiting Nurse and Hospice for VT and NH are provided professional and general
liability insurance on a claims-made basis through Hamden Assurance Risk Retention Group. Inc.
(RRG), a VT captive insurance company. Effective November 1. 2018 Alice Peck Day Memorial
Hospital Is provided professional and general liability insurance coverage through RRG. RRG
reinsures the majority of this risk to Hamden Assurance Company Limited (HAC), a captive
insurance company domiciled in Bermuda and to a variety of commercial reinsurers. Mary
Hitchcock Memorial Hospital. Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic, and Dartmouth College have ownership
interests in both HAC and RRG. The insurance program provides coverage to the covered
institutions and named insureds on a modified claims-made basis which means coverage is
triggered when claims are made. Premiums and related insurance deposits are actuarially
determined based on asserted liability claims adjusted for future development. The reserves for
outstanding losses are recorded on an undiscounted basis.
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Selected financial data of HAG and RRG, taken from the latest available financial statements at
June 30, 2020 and 2019, are summarized as follows:

2020

MAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets $ 93.686 $ 1.785 $ 95,471
Shareholders'equity 13,620 50 13,670

2019

MAC RRG Total

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets ■ $ 75,867 $ 2,201 $ 78,068
Shareholders'equity 13,620 50 13,670

13. Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation
The Health System is involved in various malpractice claims and legal proceedings of a nature
considered normal to its business. The claims are in various stages and some may ultimately be
brought to trial. While it is not feasible to predict or determine the outcome of any of these claims,
it is the opinion of management that the final outcome of these claims will not have a material effect
on the consolidated financial position of the Health System.

Lines of Credit

The Health System has entered into Loan Agreements with financial institutions establishing
access to revolving loans ranging from $10,000,000 up to $30,000,000. Interest is variable and
determined using LIBOR or the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate. The Loan Agreements are due to
expire March 31, 2021. There was no outstanding balance under the lines of credit as of June 30,
2020 and 2019. Interest expense was approximately $20,000 and $95,000, respectively, and Is
included in the consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets.

14. Functional Expenses

Operating expenses are presented by functional classification in accordance with the overall
service missions of the Health System. Each functional classification displays all expenses related
to the underlying operations by natural classification. Salaries, employee benefits, medical supplies
and medications, and purchased services and other expenses are generally considered variable
and are allocated to the mission that best aligns to the type of service provided. Medicaid
enhancement tax Is allocated to program services. Interest expense is allocated based on usage of
debt-financed space. Depreciation and amortization is allocated based on square footage and
specific identification of equipment used by department.
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Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2020:

2020

Program Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundraising Total

Operating expenses
Salaries $  981,320 $  161,704 $ 1,799 $ 1,144.823

Employee benefits 231,361 41,116 395 272,872

Medical supplies and medications 454,143 1,238 - 455,381

Purchased services and other 236,103 120,563 3,830 360,496

Medicaid enhancement tax 76,010 - - 76,010

Depreciation and amortization 26,110 65,949 105 92,164

Interest 5,918 21,392 12 27,322

Total operating expenses $ 2,010,965 $  411,962 $ 6,141 $ 2,429,068

Program Management.

Services and General Fundraising Total

Non-operating Income
Employee benefits $  9,239 $  1,549 $ 22 $ 10,810

Total non-operating income $  9.239 $  1,549 $ 22 $ 10,810

Operating expenses of the Health System by functional and natural basis are as follows for the
year ended June 30, 2019:

2019

Program Management

(in thousands of dollars) Services and General Fundraising Total

Operating expenses

Salaries $  922,902 $ 138,123 $ 1,526 $ 1,062,551

Employee benefits 188,634 73,845 333 . 262,812

Medical supplies and medications 406,782 1,093 - 407,875

Purchased services and other 212,209 108,783 2,443 323,435

Medicaid enhancement tax 70,061 - • 70,061

Depreciation and amortization 37,528 50,785 101 88,414

Interest 3,360 22,135 19 25,514

Total operating expenses $ 1,841,476 $ 394,764 $ 4,422 $ 2,240,662

Program Management

Services and General Fundraising Total

Non-operating income

Employee benefits $  9,651 $ 1,556 $ 14 $  11,221

Total non-operating income $  9,651 $ 1,556 $ 14 $  11,221

42



DocuSign Envelope ID: 77F7E361.DF5B-4C1C-A94a-F0E956E85636

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2020 and 2019 .

15. Liquidity

The Health System is substantiaiiy supported by cash generated from operations, in addition, the
Health System holds financial assets for specific purposes which are limited as to use. Thus,
certain financial assets reported on the accompanying consolidated balance sheet may not be
available for.general expenditure within one year of the balance sheet date.

The Health System's financial assets available at June 30, 2020 and 2019 to meet cash needs for
general expenditures within one year of June 30, 2020 and 2019, are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

Cash and cash equivalents

Patient accounts receivable

Assets limited as to use

Other investments for restricted activities

Total financial assets

Less: Those unavailable for general expenditure
within one year:

Investments held by captive insurance companies
Investments for restricted activities

Bond proceeds held for capital projects
Other investments with liquidity horizons

greater than one year

Total financial assets available within one year

2020

453,223

183,819

1.134,526

140,580

2019

143,587

221,125

876,249

134,119

1,912,148 $ 1,375,080

54,596

140,580

245,484

111,408

66,082

134,119

97,063

1,360,080 $ 1,077,816

For the years ended June 30. 2020 and June 30, 2019, the Health System generated positive cash
flow from operations of approximately $269,144,000 and $161,145,000, respectively. In addition,
the Health System's liquidity management plan Includes Investing excess daily cash in intermediate
or long term investments based on anticipated liquidity needs. The Health System has an available
line of credit of up to $30,000,000 which it can draw upon as needed to meet its liquidity needs.
See Note 13 for further details on the line of credit.

16. Lease Commitments

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02 (Topic 842) "Leases." Topic 842 supersedes the
lease requirements in Accounting Standards Codification Topic 840, "Leases." Under Topic 842,
lessees are required to recognize assets and liabilities on the balance sheet for most leases and
provide enhanced disclosures. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating. D-HH
adopted Topic 842 effective July 1, 2019.

D-HH applied Topic 842 to all leases as of July 1, 2019 with comparative periods continuing to be
reported under Topic 840. We have elected the practical expedient package to not reassess at
adoption (i) expired or existing contracts for whether they are or contain a lease, (II) the lease
classification of any existing leases or (ill) Initial direct costs for existing leases. We have also
elected the policy exemption that allows lessees to choose to not separate lease and non-lease
components by class of underlying asset and are applying this expedient to all relevant asset
classes.
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D-HH determines if an arrangement is or contains a lease at inception of the contract. Right-of-use
assets represent our right to use the underlying assets for the lease term and our lease liabilities
represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the leases. Right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. We use the implicit rate noted within the contract. If not readily
available, we use our estimated incremental borrowing rate, which is derived using a collateralized
borrowing rate for the same currency and term as the associated lease. A right-of-use asset and
lease liability is not recognized for leases with an initial term of 12 months or less and we recognize
lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term within lease and rental
expense.

Our operating leases are primarily for real estate, including certain acute care facilities, off-campus
outpatient facilities, medical office buildings, and corporate and other administrative offices. Our
real estate lease agreements typically have initial terms of 5 to 10 years. These real estate leases
may include one or more options to renew, with renewals that can extend the lease term from 2 to
5 years. The exercise of lease renewal options is at our sole discretion. When determining the
lease term, we included options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that
we will exercise that option.

On adoption, the Health System recognized lease liabilities and right-of-use assets of $60,269,884,
respectively.

The components of lease expense for the year ended June 30. 2020 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 12 months ended
June 30, 2020

Operating lease cost 8,992
Variable and short term lease cost (a) 1.497
Total lease and rental expense

Finance lease cost:

Depreciation of property under finance lease 2,454
Interest on debt of property under finance lease 524

Total finance lease cost 2,978

(a) Includes equipment, month-to-month and leases with a maturity of less than 12 months.
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Supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the year ended June 30, 2020 are as
follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 12 months ended
June 30, 2020

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases 8,755
Operating cash flows from finance leases 542
Financing cash flows from finance leases 2,429

$  11,726

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of June 30, 2020 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) 12 months ended
June 30, 2020

Operating Leases

Right of use assets - operating leases 42,621
Accumulated amortization (8,425)

Right of use assets - operating leases, net 34,196

Current portion of right of use obligations 9,194
Long-term right of use obligations, excluding current portion 25,308
Total operating lease liabilities

Finance Leases

Right of use assets - finance leases 26,076
Accumulated depreciation (2,687)

Right of use assets - finance leases, net 23,389

Current portion of right of use obligations 2,581
Long-term right of use obligations, excluding current portion 21,148
• Total finance lease liabilities 23,729

Weighted Average remaining lease term, years
Operating leases 4.64
Finance leases 19.39

Weighted Average discount rate
Operating leases 2.24%
Finance leases 2.22%

Included in the $42.6 million of right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease
obligations is $5.6 million of new and modified operating leases entered into during the year ended
June 30, 2020. Included in the $26.1 million of right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for finance
lease obligations is $2.3 million of new and modified operating leases entered into during the year
ended June 30, 2020.
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Future maturities of lease riabilities as of June 30. 2020 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) Operatinq Leases Finance Leases

Year ending June 30:
2021 9,852 3,314

2022 8,274 3,003

2023 6,836 2,718

2024 5,650 1,892

2025 3,023 1,109

Thereafter 2,794 17,339

Total lease payments 36,429 29,374

Less: Imputed Interest 1,927 5,645

Total lease payments S  34.502 $ 23.729

Future minimum rental payments under lease commitments with a term of more than one year as
of June 30, 2019, prior to our adoption of ASC 842 are as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) Capital Leases Operating Leases

Year ending June 30:
2020 1.706 11.342
2021 1,467 10,469
2022 1,471 7,488
2023 1.494 6,303
2024 1.230 4.127
Thereafter 10,158 5,752
Total lease payments ^^^^^^^^^^^52^ ^^^^^^^^^5^48^

The Health System's rental expense totaled approximately $12,707,000 for the year ended June
30, 2019.

17. GOVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19 outbreak a pandemic and
the United States federal government declared COVID-19 a national emergency. The Health
System quickly developed and implemented an emergency response to the situation to ensure the
safety of its patients and staff across the System. A key decision was made to postpone elective
and non-urgent care in mid-March. Several factors drove that decision, including efforts to reduce
the spread of COVID-19; conservation of personal protective equipment ("PPE"), which was and
remains in critically short supply worldwide: and at the urging of the CDC and U.S. Surgeon
General who in March urged all hospitals to reduce the number of elective procedures and visits.

On March 27, 2020, the President of the United States signed into law the Coronavirus Aid, Relief,
and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act") to provide economic assistance to a wide array of
industries to ease the financial impact of COVID-19. As part of the CARES Act. the Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS") expanded its Accelerated and Advance Payment
Program which allows participants to receive expedited payments during periods of national
emergencies.
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As of June 30. 2020, the Health System has received approximately $88,877,000 in governmental
assistance including funding under the CARES Act. This includes recognition of approximately
$88,725,000 of stimulus revenue recorded as a component of other operating revenue in the
consolidated statements of operations and changes in net assets as a result of satisfying the
conditions of general and targeted grant funding under the Provider Relief Fund established by the
CARES Act. The Health System recognized revenue related to the CARES Act provider relief
funding based on information contained in laws and regulations, as well as interpretations issued
by the HHS, governing the funding that was publicly available as of June 30, 2020. The Health
System recorded approximately $239,500,000 attributable to the Medicare Accelerated and
Advance Payment Program representing working capital financing to be repaid through the
provision of future services. These funds are recorded as a contract liability as a payment received
before performing services. This amount is reported as a component of estimated third party
settlements in the consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2020. Subsequent to June 30, 2020,
the Health System received additional stimulus funding attributable to a targeted distribution of
approximately $19,700,000 for Safety Net Hospitals and $2,500,000 for a general distribution.

Additionally, the CARES Act provides for payroll tax relief, including employee retention tax credits
and the deferral of all employer Social Security tax payments to help employers in the face of
economic hardship related to the COVID-19 pandemic. As of June 30, 2020, the Health System
deferred approximately $13,727,000 attributable to the employer portion of Social Security taxes
and $2,600,000 of employee retention tax credits. D-HH Leadership has also taken advantage of
additional Federal and State programs including the Payroll Tax Deferral, Employee Retention
Credit, First Responder Support, Front-Line Employees Hazard Pay Grant Program and FEMA
funding to help offset some of the incremental costs being incurred to provide comprehensive and
safe care during the pandemic.

18. Subsequent Events

The Health System has assessed the impact of subsequent events through November 17, 2020,
the date the audited consolidated financial statements were issued, and has concluded that there
were no such events that require adjustment to the audited consolidated financial statements or
disclosure in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements other than as noted below.

HHS Reporting Requirements for the CARES Act

In September 2020 and October 2020, HHS issued new reporting requirements for the CARES Act
provider relief funding. The new requirements first require Hospitals to identify healthcare-related
expenses attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic that remain unreimbursed by another source. If
those expenses do not exceed the provider relief funding received. Hospitals will need to
demonstrate that the remaining provider relief funds were used to compensate for a negative
variance in year over year patient service revenue. HHS is entitled to recoup Provider Relief
Funding in excess of the sum of expenses attributable to the COVID-19 pandemic that remain
unreimbursed by another source and the decline in calendar year over year patient care revenue.
Due to these new reporting requirements there is at least a reasonable possibility that amounts
recorded under the CARES Act provider relief fund by the Health System may change in future
periods.
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Medicare and Medlcald Services ("CMS") expanded Accelerated and Advance Payment
Program

In October 2020, new regulations were issued to revise the recoupment start date from August
2020 to April 2021.

Note Payable Amendment

In October 2020, the note payable issued to TD Bank in May 2020 was amended. Under the
amended terms, the interest on the note payable is fixed at a rate of 2.56%, and matures in 2035.
Repayment terms are semi-annual, interest only through July 2024, with annual principal payments
to begin August 2024. The obligation can be satisfied at any time beforehand, without penalty.
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Dartmouth- Cheshire Alice Peck New London ML Ascutney OH Obligated All Other Non- Health

Kitchcoch Dartmouth- Medical Day Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Group Syatem

(in thousands of doMars) Health Hitchcock Center Memorial Association Health Center Eliminations Subtotal AKIIlates . Biminatlons Consolidated

Asstts

Current assets
453.223Cash and cash equivalents $ 108.SS6 S 217.352 $ 43.940 5 26.079 5 22.874 $  14.377 $ -

5 433.478 5 19.745 5
-

S

Patient accounts receivable, rtet . 146.886 11,413 8.634 10.200 4.367 -
181.500 2.319 •

1

1

\

1

I

25.243 179.432 37.538 3.808 6.105 1.715 (82.822) 171.019 (8.870) (243) 161.906

Total current assets 134.099 543.670 92.891 38.521 39.179 20,459 (82.822> 785.997 13.194 (243) 798.946

Assets Imlted as to use 344,737 927.207 19.378 13.044 12.768 12.090 (235.568) 1.093.654 40,872 1.134.526

Notes receivable, related party 648.250 593 - 1.211 ■- - (848.843) 1.211 (1.211) •

Other investments lor restricted activities 98,490 6.970 97 3.077 6.266 • 114.900 25.680 140,560

Property, ptant arx) equipment, net 8 466,938 64.803 20.805 43.612 16.623 •
612.989 30.597 643,586

Righl of use assets t.542 32,714 1.822 17.574 621 3.221
-

57.494 91 57.565

2.242 122.481 1.299 14.748 5.482 4.603 (10,971) 139.884 (2.546) 137.338

Total assets S 1.330.878 S 2.192.093 5 187,161 5 106.000 S 104,739 5  63.462 $ (1.178.204) 5 2,806.129 5 106.677 S (243) $ 2.912.563

Uabilftles and Net Assets
Current liablities

9.467Current portion of fonq-term debt S - 5 7.380 $ 865 S 747 S 147 S  232 S - S 9.371 S 96 S
•

s

Current portion of right o( use obligatiotts 338 8.752 420 1.316 259 631 11,718 59
•

Current portion of llabiity lor pension and -

3.468other postretirement plan bertefits . 3.468 . - • - •
3.468

•

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 272.764 126.283 39.845 3.087 4.250 3.406 (318.391) 131,244 (1.985) (243) 129.016

Accrued compensation and related benefits . 122.392 7.732 3.570 3.875 . 3.562 • 141.151 1.840
-

142.991
. 210,144 34.664 25,421 24,667 6.430 - 301.328 1.199 - 302.525

Total current llsblltles 273,102 478.419 83.526 34.141 33.198 14.281 (318,391) 598.276 1.209 (243) 599.242

Notes payable, related party . 814.525 . - 27.718 6.600 (848.843) . - • -

Long-term debU exdudng current portion 1.050.694 37.373 23.617 24.312 147 10,595 (10.970) 1.135.768 2.762
•

1,138.530

Right of use obllgsllora. exdudlrrg current portion 1.203 24.290 1.432 16.429 368 2.698
-

46.420 36
•

46.456

InsurarKe deposits ar^ related fabiCties - 75.697 475 325 388 220
-

77.105 ■
//.140

Liability for pension and other postretiremeni -

324.257ptan t>enefits. exduA^ current portion . 301.907 21.640 - • 511 •
324,258 (1)

. 117.631 1.506 384 2.026 -
- 121.547 22.131 • 143.678

Total Ibblities 1.324.999 1.849.642 132.396 75.591 63.845 34.905 (1.178.204) 2.303.374 26.178 (243) 2.329.309

Corrunitments arxi conttngeiKies

Net assets
Net assets without donor restrictions 5.524 242.824 47.729 29,464 36.158 21.247 • 382.948 48.040 40 431.026

355 99.427 7.036 945 4,736 7.310 • 119.809 32.459 (40) 152.228

5.879 342.251 54.765 30.409 40,694 28.557 . 502.755 80.499 - 583.254

Total llablitias arrd net essets S 1.330.878 5 2.192.093 S 187.161 5 106.000 5 104.739 5  63,462 S (1,178.204) 5 2.806.129 s 106.677 5 (243) s 2,612.563
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2020

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets

Current assets

Cash arxl cash equivalents
Patient accounts receivable, net

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Assets limited as to use

Notes receivable, related party

Other investments for restricted activities

Property, plant, and equipment, net
Right of use assets

Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabiities

Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of right of use obligations
Current portion of liability for pension and
other postretiremen! plan benefits
Accounts payat>le and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and related benefits
Estimated third-party settlements

Total current liabilities

Notes payable, related party
Long-term debt. excludir>g current portion
Right of use obligations, excluding current portion
Insurance deposits and related liabilities
Liability for pension and other postretiremen!
plan benefits, excluding current portion
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets with dor>or restrictions

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

D-KH
Health

D-H and Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and APO and VNH and System

Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

$  108.856 $  218.295 S  47.642 $  22.874 $  14.568 $  34.072 $  6.916 $ S  453.223

146.887 11.413 10.200 4.439 8,634 2.246 -
183,819

25.243 180.137 27.607 6.105 1,737 2.986 1.156 (83,065) 161,906

134.099 545.319 86.662 39,179 20,744 45.692 10.318 (83.065) 798.948

344.737 946.938 18.001 12.768 13.240 13.044 21.366 (235.568) 1.134.526

848.250 593 . - - - ■
(848.843)

-

. 105.869 25.272 3.077 6.265 97 - -

140.580

8 469.613 68.374 43.612 18.432 40.126 3.421 •

643.586

1,542 32.714 1.822 621 3.220 17.574 92
-

57.585

2.242 122.647 7.429 5.482 2.152 8.199 158 (10.971) 137.338

1.330.870 $ 2.223.693 207.560 $ 104.739 64.053 $ 124.732 35.355 $ (1.178.447) $ 2.912.563

338

272.762

7.380

8.752

3.468

126,684

122.392

865

420

35.117

7.732

147

259

4.251

3.875

257

631

3.517

3.626

747

1.316

3.528

3.883

71

59

1.791

1.483

(318,634)

9.467

11.775

3.468

129.016

142.991

302.525

273,100 478.819 78.798 33.199 14.461 34.895 4.604 (318.634) 599.242

814.525 . 27.718 6.600 . . (848.843) -

1.050.694 37.373 23.618 147 10.867 24,312 2.489 (10.970) 1,138.530

1.203 24.290 1.433 368 2,700 16.429 33 ■

46.456

75,697 475 388 222 325 39 ■
77.146

301.907 21.840 . 510 . - -
324.257

117.631 1.506, 2.026 . 22.515 - -

143,678

1.324.997 1.850.242 127.670 63.846 35.360 98.476 7.165 (1.178.447) 2.329.309

5.526 266.327 48,549 36.158 21.385 24.881 28.160 40 431.026

355 107.124 31.341 4.735 7.308 1.375 30 (40) 152.228

5.881 373.451 79.890 40.893 28.693 26.256 28.190 -
583.254

$  1.330.878 $ 2.223.693 $ 207.560 • $ 104.739 S 64.053 S 124.732 $ 35.355 $ (1.178.447) $ 2.912.563
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2019

(In thcutanOa ot dotars)

Assats

Currenl assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Paliani accounts raceivable. net

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Assets lirhlted as to use '

Notes raceivstSe. related party
Other investments for restricted activities

Property, plant, and equipment, net
Right of use assets
Other assets

Total assets

Uablllties and Net Assets

Current liatMlltles

Current portion of lortg-ierm debt
Current portion of right of use obligations
Current portion of liabilty for pertsion and
other postrellrement plan benefits
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation arid ralaied benerits

Estimated Ihird-perty settlements

Total currant liaMltles

Notes payable, related party
Lor>g-lerm debt, excluding current portion
Right of use obligstiorts, excluding current portion
Insurarrce deposits arrd related riabilltles

Liability lor pension ar>d other postratirement
plan benefits, exdudirtg current portion
Other liabilities

Total liabliiles '

Commitments and conlirtgertcies

Net assets

Net assets wlOtout dorter rasbictions

Nat assets vriih donor restrictions

Total net assets

Total liablltles and rtet assets

Dartmouth-.
Httchceek

Health

Dartmouth-

Hlteheock

Cheshire

Medical

Center

Alice Peck

Day
Memorial

New London

Hospital

Association

ML Asctitn^
Hospital and

Health Center Eliminations

DH Obligated

Group
Subtotal

All Other Non-

Obllg Croup
Arnilatas Qlmlnatione

Health

■System

S  42.456 S

14.178

47.465 S
160.938
139.034

9.411 S
'15.680

8.563

7.066 S
7.279
2.401

10.462 S
8.960
5 567

8.372 S
5.010
1 423

5

(74.0831

125.232 $
218.067
97.063

18.355 S
3.058

$  143.587
221.125

56.634 367.437 33.854 16.746 24.989 14.605 (74.083) 440.362 22.834 (3.009) 460,207
92.802 888.485 18.759 12.884 12.427 11.619 . 636,576 . 876,249

- 1.406 • . (554.236) 1,406 (1.406) .

- 31 2.973 6.323 . 108,179
432.277 67.147 30.945 41.946 17,797

-

590.134 31.122
- 621.256

3.516 108.208 1.279 15.019 6,042 4.366 (10.970) 127.464 (3.013) . 124.471

S $ 8.226 S 830 $ 954 S 547 $ 262 S i 10.819

. 3.466 . .

55.499 99.884 15.620 6.299 3.878 Z776 (74.083) 109.873
- 5.851 3.694 2.313 4.270 . 126.767
• 26405 103 1.290 10.651 2.921

55.499 246,622 22.404 12.237 " 17.589 10.229 "  (74.083) 292.497
• 526.202 . . 28.034 . (554.236) .

44.820 24.503 35,604 643 11.465 (10.970) 749.322

•  •
56.766 440 ' 513 368 240 - 58,367

- 266.427 10.262 . . 4.320
"

- 98.201 1.104 26 1.565 . .

698,756 1.241.056 58.713 46.362 46.239 26.254

7.486 356.680 63.051 27.653 35,516 21.242
16 91.103 6.245 796 4,620 7.436 .

7.504 447 983 69.296 28.449 40.138 26.678
s 706,260 $ 1.689.041 S 128.009 $ 76.831 S 88.377 S 54.932 S (639.289) S 2.104,161

6.053
1.641

2.85S

40

48.063
32.282

(3.009) S 2.2i6.302

(3.000)

(3.009)

(3-009)

40
(40)

10.914

3,488
113.817
128.408
41,570

298.177

752.180

58.407

281.009
124.136-

559.933
142.480

(3.009)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Balance Sheets
June 30, 2019

O-HH Health

(in thousands of dollars)

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Patient accounts receivable, net

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets

Assets limited as to use

Notes receivable, related party
Other investments for restricted activities

Property, plant, and equipment, net
Right of use assets
Other assets

Total assets

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt

Current portion of right of use obligations
Current portion of llaNity for pension and

other postretirement plan benefits
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and related benefits
Estimated third-party settlements

Total current liabilities

Notes payable, related party
Long-term debt, excludirtg current portion
Right of use obUgations, excluding current portion

Insurance deposits and related liabilities
Liability for pension and other postretirement
plan t>eneflts. excludirtg current portion
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Net assets

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets with donor restrictions

Total net assets

Total liabilities and net assets

and Other D-H and Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and VNH and System

Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries APD Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

S 42,456 S 48.052 , $ 11.952 $ 11.120 S  8.549 $ 15.772 S 5.686 S $ 143.587

_ 180.938 15.880 8.960 5.060 7.280 3.007 - 221.125

14.178 139.832 . 9.460 5.567 1.401 1.678 471 (77.092) 95.495

56.634 368.822 37,292 25.647 15.010 24,730 9.164 (77.092) 460.207

92.602 707.597 17,383 12,427 12.738 12.685 20.817 - 876.249

553.484 752 . -

•
- - (554.236) -

. 99.807 24.985 2.973 6,323 31 . - 134.119

22 434,953 70.846 42.423 19.435 50.338 3.239
-

621.256

3.518 108.366 7.388 5.476 1.931 8.688 74 (10.970) 124.471

S 706.260 S 1.720.297 S 157,894 S 88.946 S  55.437 $ 96.472 $ 33.294 $ (642.298) S 2.216.302

s - $ 8.226 S 630 S 547 S  286 S 954 S 69 $ -
$ 10,914

3.468
. , 3.468

55.499 100.441 19.356 3.879 2.856 6.704 2.174 (77.092) 113.817

. 110.639 5.851 2.313 . 4.314 4.192 1.099 - 128.408

_ 26.405 103 10.851 2.921 1.290 - -
41.570

55,499 249,179 26.140 17.590 10.379 13.140 3.342 (77.092) 298.177

. 526.202 . 28.034 . . -• (554.236) -

643,257 44,620 24.503 643 11.763 35.604 2.560 (10.970) 752.180

-
56.786 440 388 240 513 40

-
58.407

. 266.427 10,262 ' _ 4.320 . - . 281.009

. 98.201 1.115 1,585 . 23.235 - • 124.136

698.756 1.241.615 62.460 48.240 26,702 72.492 5.942 (642.298) 1.513.909

7.486 379.498 65.873 36.087 21.300 22.327 27.322 40 559.933

18 99.184 29.561 4.619 7,435 1.653 30 (40) 142.460

7.504 478,682 95.434 40.706 28.735 23,980 27.352 702.393

s 706.260 s 1.720.297 s 157.894 s 88.946 S  55.437 $ 96.472 s 33.294 s (642.298) $ 2.216.302
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 77F7E361-DF5B-4C1C-A943-F0E956E85636

Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2020

Oartmouth- Cheshire Alice Peck New London ML Ascirtrtey OH Obligated An Other Non- Health

Hitchcock Dartmouth* Medical Day .Hospital Hospital and Group Ot>lig Group System

(in thousands of dollars) Health HKehcock Center - Memorial Association Health Center Eliminations Subtotal Afnilates Eliminations Consolidated

Operating ravehua and othar tupport
Patient service revenue . S S  1.490.516 $  207.416 $  65,496 i  53.943 S  41.349 $ •

5  1.858.720 5  21.305 5 S- 1.880,025

Contracted revenue 5.369 114.906 400 . 10 7.427 (54.543) 73.569 498 (39) 74.028

Other operating revenue 26,349 321.028 16.406 7,179 10.185 7.847 (28.972) 360.022 15.128 (528) 374.622

Net assets released Irom restrictions 409 13.013 1.315 162 '160 84 - 15.143 1,117 16.260

Total operating revenue end other support 32.127 1.939.463 225.537 72,837 64,296 56,707 (83.515) 2.307,454 36.048 (587) 2.344.935

Operating expanses
Salaries . 947.275 115.777 37.596 33.073 27,600 (34.706) 1.126.615 17,007 1.201 1.144.823

Employee benefits - 227.138 26.979 6.214 6.741 6,344 (4.864) 268,552 4,009 311 272.872

Medications and medical supplies . 401.165 36.313 6.390 5.140 2.944 453,952 1.429 - 455.381

Purchased services and other 13,615 284.714 31.864 11.639 14.311 13.351 (20.942) 348,552 13.943 (1.999) 360.496

Medcaid enhancement lax - 59,708 8,476 3.226 2.653 1.747 76,010 - 76.010

Depreciation and amortization 14 71,108 9.351 3.361 3.601 2.475 89,910 2.254 • 92,164

Interest 25,760 23,431 953 906 1.097 252 (25.412) 27.007 315 - 27.322

Total operating expenses 39.409 2,014,539 229,713 71.332 66.816 54.713 (85.924) 2.390.598 38.957 (487) 2,429,068

Operating (loss) margin (7.282) (75,076) (4.176) 1.505 (2.518) 1.994 2.409 (63.1441 (909) (80) (64,133)

Non-^peratlng gains (losses)'
Investment mcome (losses), net 4.677 18,522 714 292 359 433 (198) 24.999 2.048 - 27,047

Other components of r>et periodic pension artd post
retirement benefit income 6,793 1.863 . . 134 - 10.810 • - 10.810

Other (losses) income, net (3,932) (1,077) (569) (205) 544 4.317 (2.211) (3.133) 346 80 (2.707)

Total nort-operatirtg gairts (losses), net 945 26.238 2.028 87 903 4.664 (2.409) 32.676 2.394 80 35.150

(OeTciency) excess of revenue over expertses (6.337) (48.836) (2,148) 1,592 (1,615) 6.678 -
(50.468) 1.465 (48.983)

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions lor capHai 564 179 344 300 - 1,387 27 1.414

Change in furtded status of pertslon and other
posiretirement beneTits (58.513) (13.321) . • (7,188) • (79,022) - (79.022)

Net assets transferred to (from) affllates 4,375 (7.269) (32) 219 1,911 15 - (781) 761 -

Other changes in rtet assets - - • (2.316) - (2.316)

Irrcrease in net assets without dorxv reslrictiorts $  (1.962) S  (114.056) S  (15,322) S  -1,811 S  640 $  5 S - S  (128,884) $  (23) 5 - S  (128.907)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2020.

fin thousands of dollars)

Operating revenue and other support

Patient service revenue

Contracted revenue

Other operating revenue

Net assets released from restrictions

Total operatirtg revenue and other support

Operating expenses

Salaries

Employee t)enefits

Medickions and medical supplies
Purchased services and other

Medicaid enhancement tax

Depreciation and amortization

Interest

Total operating expenses.

Operating (loss) margin

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment income (losses), net
Other components of net periodic pension ar>d post
retirement benefit income

Other (losses) income, net

Total norvoperating gains (losses), net

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for capital

Change in funded status of pension and other
postretiremenl benefits

Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates

Other changes in net assets

Increase in net assets without donor restrictions

D-HH

and Other

Subsidiaries

5.369

26.349

409

32.127

4,377

D-H and

Subsidiaries

1.490.516

115.403

323.151

13.660

1.942.730

Cheshire and

Subsidiaries

207.416

591

(58.513)

(7.282)

400

16.472

1.335

NLH and

Subsidiaries

53.943

10

10.185

160

MAHHC and

Subsidiaries

41.348

APD and

Subsidiaries

65.496

VNH and

Subsidiaries

7.427

9.482

83

16.726

613

225.623 64.298 58.340 82.835

•  179

(13.321)

10

(2.316)

344

1,911

300

(7,188)

15 219

23,063

Eliminations

21.306 S

1.757

Health

System
Consolidated

1.880.025

750

(54.581)

(29.500)

(84.081)

74.028

374.622

16.260

2.344.935

- 947.275 115.809 33.073 28.477 41.085 12.608 (33.504) 1,144,823
. 227.138 26.988 6.741 6.517 7.123 2.918 (4.553) 272.872
- 401.165 36.313 5.140 2.941 8.401 1,421 - 455.381

13.615 287.948 32.099 14.311 13.767 14.589 7,108 (22.941) 360.496
. 59.708 8.476 2.853 •  1.747 3.226 - - 76.010

14 71.109 9.480 3.601 2.596 5.004 360 - 92.164

25.780 23.431 953 1.097 252 1.159 62 (25.412) 27.322

39.409 2.017.774 230.118 66.816 56.297 80.587 24,477 (86.410) 2,429.068

(7.282) (75.044) (4.495) (2.518) 2,043 2.248 (1,414) 2.329 (84.133)

4.877 19.361 1.305 359 463 292 588 (198) ( 27.047

. 8.793 1.883 . 134 . . . 10,810

(3,932) (1.077) (569) (25) 4,318 (205) .  • 914 (2.131) (2.707)

945 27.077 2.619 334 4,915 87 1.502 (2.329) 35,150

(6.337) (47.967) (1.876) (2.184) 6,958 2.335 88 - (48,983)

1,414

(79,022)

(2,316)

(1.960) S (113,171) $ (17.324) $_ 71 85 2,554 $ 838 (128.907)
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries

Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2019

Dartmoutfv Cheshire Alice Peck New Lortdon Ml Ascutney DH Obligated All Other Non- Health

Hitchcock Dartmouth- Medical Day Hospital Hospital and Group Oblig Group System

fin thousands of dolars) Health Hitchcock Center Memorial Association Health Center Eliminations Subtotal Affiliates Eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue S i  1.580,552 $  220.255 S  69,794 $  60.166 $  46,029 $ $  1,976,796 {  22.527 S •

S  1,999,323

Contracted revenue 5.011 109.051 355 . . 5.902 (46,100) 74,219 790 8 75,017

Other operating revenue 21,128 186.852 3.407 1.748 4,261 2.289 (22,076) 197,609 13.386 (297) 210.698

Net assets released from restrictions 369 11.556 732 137 177 •24 - 12,995 1,110 • 14,105

Total operating revenue and other support 26.508 1.888,011 224.749 71.679 64,604 54.244 (68,176) 2,261,619 37,813 (289) 2,299,143

Operating expenses
Salaries 868.311 107.671 •  37.297 30.549 26,514 (24,682) 1,045,660 15,785 1,106 1,062,551

Emfdoyee benefits 217,623 25.983 6.454 5.434 7,152 (3,763) 258,883 3,642 287 262.812

Merfications and medical supplies 354,201 34.331 8.634 6,298 3,032 406.496 1,379 407,875

Purchased services and other 11,366 242,106 35.088 15,308 13,528 13,950 (21,176) 310.170 14,887 (1,622) 323,435

Merficaid enhancement tax - 54.954 6.005 3.062 2,264 1,776 70.061 •  • -
70.061

Depreciation and amortization U 69.343 7,977 2.305 3.915 2.360 • 85.914 2,500 -
88.414

Interest 20.677 21.585 1,053 1,169 1.119 228 (20,850) 24,981 533 • 25,514

' Total operating expenses 32.057 1,828.123 220,108 74,229 63,107 55.012 (70,471) 2.202.165 38.726 (229) 2,240,662

Operating margin (loss) (5.549) 59.888 4,641 (2,550) 1,497 (768) 2.295 59,454 (913) (60) 58,481

Non-operatir>g gains (losses)
40,052Investment income (losses), net 3,929 32.193 227 469 834 623 (198) 38,077 1.975

Other components of net periocfic pension and post

retirement benefit income • 9.277 1.758 - - 186 11,221 - - 11.221

Other (losses) income, net (3.784) 1.586 (187) 30 (240) 279 (2.097) (4,413) 791 60 (3.562)

Loss on early extinguishment of debt . . (87) - - (87) • - (87)

Total norvoperating gains (losses), net 145 43,056 1.798 412 594 1.088 (2,295) 44,798 2,766 60 47.624

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (5.404) 102,944 6.439 (2.138) 2,091 320
-

104,252 1,853
•

106,105

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for capital 419 565 402 318 - 1.704 65 •
1,769

Change in funded status of pension and other
postretirement benefits • (65.005) • (7,720) • • 682 (72,043)

-
(72,043)

Net assets tiansferred to (from) affSates 10.477 (16.360) 1,939 8,760 128 110 5,054 (5,054) •

Inaease in net assets without donor restrictions S  5.073 $  21.998 $  1.223 $  6,622 $  2,621 $  1.430 $ $  38,967 S  (3,136) % • %  35.831
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Consolidating Statements of Operations and Changes in Net Assets without Donor Restrictions
Year Ended June 30, 2019

D-HK Health

and Other D-H and Cheshire and NLH and MAHHC and VNH and System
(in Omsands of dollars) Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Subsidiaries APD Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated

Operating revenue and other support
Patient service revenue $ $  1.580.552 S  220.254 %  60.166 $  46.029 S 69,794 %  22,528 $ S 1,999,323

Contracted revenue 5.010 109.842 355/ . 5,902 - - (46,092) 75.017
Other operating revenue 21.128 188.775 3,549 4.260 3.868 10,951 540 (22,373) 210.698
Net assets released from restrictions 371 12.637 732 177 26 162 - - 14,105

Total operatirtg revenue and other support 26,509 1.891.806 224,890 64.603 55.825 80,907 23,068 (68,465) 2,299.143

Operating expenses

Salaries ' . 868.311 107,706 30.549 27.319 40,731 11,511 (23.576) 1,062.551
Employee t>enefits - 217.623 25,993 5.434 7,319 7,218 2,701 (3.476) 262,812

Medications arrd medical supplies - 354.201 34,331 6.298 3.035 8,639 1,371 - 407.875
Purchased services ar>d other 11.366 246.101 35.396 13.390 14.371 18,172 7,437 (22.798) 323.435

Medicaid enhancement lax - 54.954 8,005 2.264 1.776 3,062 . . 70.061
Depreciation and amortization 14 69.343 8,125 3.920 2.478 4,194 340 - 88,414

Interest 20,678 21.585 1.054 1.119 228 1,637 63 (20.850) 25,514

Total operating expenses 32,058 1.832.118 220.610 62.974 56.526 .  83,653 23,423 (70.700) 2,240.662

Operating (loss) thargin (5,549) 59.688 4.280 1.629 (701) (2.746) (355) 2,235 58,481

Non-operating gains (losses)
Investment income (losses), net 3,929 33.310 129 785 645 469 983 (198) 40.052
Other components of net periodic pension and post

retirement benefit income - 9.277 1.758 • 186 . - - 11.221

Other (losses) income, net (3,784) 1,586 (171) (240) 288 31 765 (2.037) (3.562)
Loss on early extinguishment of debt - - • - . (87) - - (87)

Total non-operating gains (losses), net 145 44,173 1.716 545 1.119 413 1,748 (2.235) 47,624

(Deficiency) excess of revenue over expenses (5.404) 103,861 5.996 2,174 •  418 (2,333) 1,393 • 106,105

Net assets without donor restrictions

Net assets released from restrictions for capital - 484 565 402 318 . . . 1,769

Change In funded status of pension and other y

postretiremenl benefits • (65,005) (7.720) - 682 - . - (72,043)
Net assets transferred to (from) affiliates 10.477 (16.360) 1.963 128 118 . 3,629 45 . -

Increase (decrease) In net assets without donor

restricbons S  5.073 S  22.980 S  804 $  2;704 S  1.536 S 1,296 $  1,438 $ $ 35,831
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health and Subsidiaries
Note to Supplemental Consolidating Information
June 30, 2020 and 2019

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying supplemental consolidating information includes the consolidating balance
sheet and the consolidating statement of operations and changes in net assets without donor
restrictions of D-HH and its subsidiaries. All Intercompany accounts and transactions between D-
HH and its subsidiaries have been eliminated. The consolidating information presented is prepared
on the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America consistent with the consolidated financial statements. The

consolidating information is presented for purposes of additional analysis of the consolidated
financial statements and Is not required as part of the basic financial statements.
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DARTMOUTH-HITCHCOCK (D-H) | DARTMOUTH^HITCHCOCK HEALTH (D-HH)
BOARDS OF TRUSTEES AND OFFICERS

Effective: January 1.2021

Geraldine "Polly" Bednash, PhD, RN, FAAN
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Adjunct Professor, Universiti/ of Vermont

Jonathan T. Huntington, MD, PhD, MPH
MHMH/DHC (Lebanon Physician) Trustee
Acting Chief Medical Officer, DHMC

Mark W. Begor, MBA
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Chief Executive Officer, Equifax

Laura K. Landy, MBA
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee ■

President and CEO of the Fannie E. Rippcl Foundation

Jocelyn D. Chertoff, MD, MS, FACR
MHMH/DHC (Clinical Chair/Center Director)
Trustee

Chair, Dept. ofRadiolo^i/

Jennifer L. Moyer, MBA
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Managing Director &.CAO, White Mountains Insurance
Group, Ltd

Duane A. Compton, PhD
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Ex-O^cid: Dean, Geisel School ofMedicine at Dartmouth

David P. Paul, MBA

MHMH/DHC Trustee
President & COO, JBG SMITH

Joanne M. Conroy, MD
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Ex-Officio: CEO & President, D-H/D-HH

Charles G. Plimpton, MBA
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Boards' Treasurer & Secretary
Retired Investment Banker

Paul P. Danos, PhD

MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Dean Emeritus; Laurence F. Whittemore Professor of
Business Administration, Tuck School of Business at
Dartmouth

Richard J. Powell, MD
D-HH Trustee

Section Chief, Vascular Surgery; Professor of Surgery and
Radiology

Carl "Trey" Dobson, MD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Chief Medical O^cer, Southwestern Vermont Medical
Center

Thomas Raffio, MBA, FLMI

MHMH/DHC Trustee
President & CEO, Northeast Delta Dental

Elof Eriksson, MD, PhD

MHMH/DHC Trustee
Professor Enteritus, Harvard Medical School and
ChiefMedical Officer, Applied Tissues Technologies, LLC

Kurt K. Rhynhart, MD, FACS
MHMH/DHC (D-H Lebanon Physician Trustee
Representative) Trustee
DHMC Trauma Medical Director and Divisional Chief of
Trauma and Acute Care Surgeti/

Gary L. Freed, Jr., MD, PharmD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Plastic Surgeon, DHMC and Assistant Professor of
Surgery for Geisel School ofMedicine at Dartmouth

Edward Howe Stansfield, III, MA

MHMH/DHC/D-HH Boards' Chair
Savor VP, Resident Directorfor the Hanover, NH Bank of
America/Merrill Lynch Office

Thomas P. Glynn, PhD
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Chief Executive Officer, Massachusetts Port Authority

Pamela Austin Thompson, MS, RN, CENP, FAAN
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee.
Chiefexecutive officer emeritus of the American
Organization of Nurse Executives (AONE)

Robert S.D. Higgins, MD, MSHA
MHMH/DHC Trustee
Nicholas M. Greene Professor and Chair, Dept. of
Anesthesiolo^y, Yale School of Medicine

Marc B. Wolpow, JD, MBA
MHMH/DHC/D-HH Trustee
Co-Chief Executive Officer of Audax Croup

Roberta L. Hines, MD

MHMH/DHC Trustee
Surgeon-in-Chief, The John Hopkins Hospital
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0MB No. 092&-0001 and 0925-0002 (Rev. 10/2021 Approved Through 09/30/2024)

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH
Provide Ihe following information for the Senior/key personnel and other significant contributors.

Follow this formal for each person. DO NOT EXCEED FIVE PAGES.

NAME: Norman, Gregory

eRA COMMONS USER NAME (credential, e.g., agency login): GANORMAN

POSITION TITLE: Senior Director, Community Health, Dartmouth-Hitchcock; Adjunct Instructor, The
Dartmouth Institute, Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth College

EDUCATION/TRAINING (Begin with baccalaureate or other initial professional education, such as nursing,
include postdoctoral training and residency training if applicable. Add/delete rows as necessary.)

INSTITUTION AND LOCATION
DEGREE

(if applicable)

Start Date

MM/YYYY
Completion Date

MM/YYYY

FIELD OF STUDY

Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH BA 06/1987 Government

Antioch New England University,
Keene, NH

MS 06/1999 Management

A. Personal Statement

I am the Senior Director of Community Health at Dartmouth-Hitchcock and Senior Director of the Center for
Advancing Health Equity {CARHE),as well as Adjunct Instructor in the Masters in Public Health Program at The
Dartmouth Institute/Geisel School of Medicine at Dartmouth College. I look fonA/ard to serving as a member of
the Community Engagement and Outreach (CEO) Core team for the Dartmouth-Hitchcock Health Center for
Rural Health Care Delivery Science. In this role I will support seamless coordination of the CEO Core with
CARHE and provide direct one-on-one advising to RPLs in subject matter areas of community engagement,
community health needs assessments, and how to organize evidence-based interventions to address
community health needs. I will also leverage strong connections with community members across Vermont and
New Hampshire to help investigators make direct connections within the comrnunity.

My career focuses on helping health systems and communities to identify health needs, mobilize resources
to respond to these needs, and use of science-based processes and tools to improve these needs, including
leading Dartmouth-Hitchcock's Community Health Needs Assessment and Community Health Improvement
Plans; building community partnerships for healthy diet and physical activity, substance misuse and treatment,
and family functioning and healthy child development; co-leading development of a Community Health Worker
program; leading Dartmouth-Hitchcock's Community Health Committee; and facilitating the harnessing of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock's purchasing, hiring, and investing practices to intentionally benefit local economy, low-
income populations, and other health-disparity populations.

Ongoing and/or recent projects I can highlight include:

Goodman (PI). Role: Sponsor, Collaborator
09/29/20 - 09/28/23

HRSA RCORPS Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome Planning/

Goodman (PI). Role: Sponsor, Collaborator
09/29/21 -09/28/24

HRSA RCORPS Implementation

Fisher (PI). Role: Sponsor, Collaborator
09/29/21 -09/28/22

HRSA Northern Borders Rural Planning/North Country Maternity Network

Dieckmann (PD). Role: Sponsor, Advisor
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09/29/21-09/28/24

HRSA Northern Borders Rural Behavioral Health Workforce Training Center

Fairisworth (PD); Role: Sponsor
07/2013-current

NH DHHS Regional Public Health Network, Upper Valley Region and Greater Sullivan County Region

B. Positions, Scientific Appointments and Honors

Positions and Scientific Appointments

2021-present Board, Vital Communities; Co-Chair Long-Range Planning Committee
2019-present Member, NH State Health Assessment/State Health Improvement Plan Advisory Committee
2018-present Member. NH Public Health Services Improvement Council
2018 Member, NH Community Benefit Reporting Planning Committee
2018-present Chair, Dartmouth-Hitchcock Community Health Committee
2017-present Member, National Healthcare Anchor Network
2015 AAMC Spotlight for Community Health Needs Assessment and Improvement Plan
2012-2019 Community Impact Committee, Granite United Way
2010-2012 Board, New Futures of New Hampshire
2009-2021 Director, Community Health, Dartmouth-Hitchcock, Lebanon, NH
2001-2009 Independent Non-Profit Management Consultant, Norwich, VT
2001-2002 Interim Executive Director, Headrest, Lebanon, NH
1999-2001 Business Manager, Healthy Babies Supervisor, and Interim Executive Director, The Family

Place Parent Child Center, Nonwich, VT
1989-1999 At-Risk Youth Outreach Program Coordinator, Headrest, Lebanon. NH
1987-1989 Crisis Intervention Hotline & Homeless Shelter Staff, Headrest, Lebanon, NH

C. Contribution to Science

None
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Dartmouth-Hitchcock / Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Project Director for SS-2020-DPHS-ll-MATERN

Gregory A. Norman

Sr Director Community Health, Regional Community Health

.gregory.a.norman@hltchcock.org

(603) 308-2245
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services '
Staff List Form

Division of Public Health Services

COMPLETE ONE STAFF LIST FORM FOR EACH BUDGET PERIOD

Bidder/Program Name: Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital d/b/a Dartmouth Hitchcock

NamcofRFP: Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Budeet Period: Date of G&C Aporoval - June 30. 2022

A B C D K F G H

Position Title

Current IiidlvidunI in

Position

Projected Hrly Rate ns

of Isl Dny of Budget

Period

Hours per

Week

Proj. Amnt Funded
by This Contract for

Budset Period

ProJ. Amount from
Other Sources for

Budcct Period

1'otul Sniniics All

Sources Site*

Project Mar^a(}er Vacant $45.67 4.00 S4,750.00 542.750.00 547,500.00
Data Analytt Vacant S33.6S 12.00 $10,500.00 $24,500.00 $35,000.00

Total Salaries by Source 515,250.00 567,250.00 582,500.00

•Please list which .siie(s) each staff member works at. if bidder has multiple sites. Not applicable to WIC.
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Lerl A. SblMntde

Cemmlulencr

Liu M. M«nii

Direct»r '

STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES

29 HAZEN DRIVE, CONCORD. NH 03301
603-27I-4S01 l-800^32-3345 EkI. 4501

Fax: 603-27M827 TOD Access: 1-800-735-2964
Mwu.dhhs.nh.gov

June 10, 2021

His Excellency. Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council

State House
Concord, New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department of Health and Human Services, Division of Public Health
Services, to amend an existing contract with Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital (VC# 177160).
Lebanon, NH, to continue the collection and abstraction of clinical and non-clinical data to address
maternal morbidities in order to prevent future maternal deaths, by exercising a contract renewal
option by Increasing the price limitation by $136,556 from $136,556 to $273.112 and extending the
completion dale from June 30. 2021 to June 30, 2023 effective July 1. 2021 or upon Governor
and Council approval, whichever is later. 100% Federal Funds.

The original contract was approved by Governor and Council on June 10. 2020, item #12.

Funds are anticipated to be available in State Fiscal Years 2022 and 2023, upon the
availability and continued appropriation of funds In the future operating budget, with the authority
to adjust budget line items within the price limitation and encumbrances between state fiscal years
through the Budget Office, if needed and justified.
05-95-90-902010-3487 HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES. DEPT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN
SVS, HNS; PUBLIC HEALTH DIV, BUREAU OF COMWI & HEALTH SERV, MATERNAL
MORTALITY

State

Fiscal
Year

Class /

Account
Class Title

Job

Number

Current

Budget

Increased

(Decreased)
Amount

Revised

Budget

2020 ,102-500731
Contracts for

Proa Svc
90080478 $68,278 $0 $68,278

2021 102-500731
Contracts for

Profl Svc
90080478 $68,278 $0 $68,278

2022 102-500731
Contracts for

Proa Svc
90080478 $0 $68,278 $68,278

2023 102-500731
Contracts for

ProQ Svc
90080478 $0 $66,278 $68,278

Totals $136,556 $136,556 $273,112

EXPLANATION

The purpose of this request is for the Contractor to continue assisting the efforts of the
Maternal Mortality Program, including collecting maternal death information, abstracting medical
and non-medical records on rnaternal death cases, and participating in reviews of maternal death

Tht Deportntvil«/ HtoUh and Human Servins' Miuioit ii to Join commiinilitt and
in providins opportuniliea [or »o acAutt health and independence.
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His Excellency, Governor Christopher t. Sununu
and the HonoraWe Council /

Page 2 of 2 '

cases. Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center is uniquely qualified to provide the services as It
oversees the Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement l^etwork (NNEPQIN).
NNEPOIN Is the sole perinatal quality collaborative for Northern New England. NNEPQIN Is
named In New Hampshire Maternal Mortality legislation as a partner in the collection, abstraction
and participation in review of maternal death cases.

The Contractor will enter data into the Maternal Mortality Review Information Application
regarding deaths of women in New Hampshire during pregnaricy and during the year following
the end of pr^nancy. The Contractor will attend the Maternal Mortality Review Committee
Meetings and assist the Department's Maternal Mortality Review Coordinator as needed. The
Contractor will work with stakeholders and the Department to create an action plan to Implement
the maternal health'and wellness recommendations and to develop educational and other

rhaterials for healthcare professionals and the public.

The Department will monitor contracted services to ensure:

» Maternal Mortality case data and Review Committee recommendations are
entered into the Maternal Mortality Review information Application within pne (1)
month of the.Maternal Mortality Review Committee Meetings.

•  A Recommendations Worksheet is submitted to the Department within one (1)
month of the Maternal Mortality Review Committee Meetings.

As referenced in Exhibit C-i of the original agreement, the parties have the optiori to
extend the agreement for up to two (2) additional years, contingent upon satisfactory delivery of
•services, available funding, agreement of the parties and Governor and Council approval. The
Department Is exercising its option to extend the agreement for (2) years of the two (2) year
renewal option, leaving no renewal time remainihg.

Should the Governor and Council not authorize this request, the work conducted by the
Maternal Mortality Review Committee to rhake recommendations regarding maternal deaths in
New Hampshire will be delayed due to lack of assistance In completing the abstracting and case
preparation for maternal mortality review.

Ama served: Statewide

Source of Funds: CFDA #93.478. FAIN N58DP006693.

In the event the Federal Funds become no longer available, General Funds will not be
requested to support this program.

Respectfully.submitted.

Lori A. Shibinelte

Commissioner
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State of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

Amendment #1
y

This Amendment to the Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality contract Is
by and between the State of New Hampshire. Department of Health and Human Services ("State" or
"Department") and Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for Itself and on behalf of Dartmouth-Hitchcock
Clinic (collectively doing business as Dartmouth Hitchcock) ("the Contractor").

WHEREAS, pursuant to an agreement (the "Contract") approved by the Governor and Executive Council
on June 10, 2020. (Iterh #12) the Contractor agreed to perform certain services based upon the terms and
conditions specified in the Contract and in consideration of certain sums specified; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Form P-37. General Provisions, Paragraph 18. and Exhibit C-1, Paragraph 2.
Renewal, the Contract may be amended upon written agreement of the parties and approval from the
Governor and Executive Council; and

WHEREAS, the parties agree to extend the term of the agreement, increase the price limitation, and
modify the scope of services to support continued delivery of these services; and

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual covenants and conditions contained
in the Contract and set forth herein, the parties hereto agree to amend as follows:

1. Form P-37 General Provisions. Block 1.7, Completion Dale, to read:

June 30, 2023.

2. Form P-37, General Provisions. Block 1.8, Price Limitation, to read:

$273,112.

3. Modify Exhibit A, Scope of Services, by deleting it in its entirety and replacing with Exhibit A -
Amendment #1, Scope of Sen/ices, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference herein.

4. Modify Exhibit B. Method and Conditions Precedent to Payment. Section.4. Subsection 4.1. to
read:

4.1. Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures incurred in the
fulfillment of this Agreement, and shall be in accordance with the approved line items as
specified in Exhibit 8-1. Budget through Exhibit B-4. Budget.

5. Modify Exhibit B, Method and Conditions Precedent to Payment. Section 8. to read:

8. Payments may be withheld pending receipt of required deliverables and documentation as
identified in Exhibit A - Amendment #T. Scope of Services, and in this bchibit B.

6. Add Exhibit B-3. Budget - Amendment #1. which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference
herein.

7. Add Exhibit B-4. Budget - Amendment #1, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference
herein..

£SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MATERN-01 -AOl Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center Contractor Initials v

A-S-1.0 Page lot 3 Date S/2S/2021
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All terms and conditions of the Contract not modified by this Amendment remain in full force and effect.
This Amendment shall be effective July 1, 2021, upon Governor and Executive Council approval,
whichever is later.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parlies have set their hands as of the date written below.

Slate of New Hampshire
Department of Health and Human Services

5/25/2021

Date

V

>Docv9lan«4 by:

Name: Patricia m. rilley
Title:

Interim Director

5/25/2021

Date

Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of
Dartmouth-Hitchcock Clinic

-OocuSiOAbb by:

KoossnBsaamnrr
ame: Jennifer Lopez

Title:

Director of Research operations Finance

SS-2020-DPHS-1.1 -MATERN-OI-A01

A-S-1.0

Dartmouth Medical Center

Page 2 of 3
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The preceding Amendment, having been reviewed by this office, is approved as to form, substance, and
execution.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL

•0«cu9lgn«4 ftr:

5/27/2021

Date Name: Catherine Pinos

Title:
Attorney

I hereby certify that the foregoing Amendment was approved by the Governor and Executive Council of
the State of New Hampshire at the Meeting on: ' (date of meeting)

OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE

Date Name:

Title:

SS-2020-DPHS-11 -MATERN-OI -AOI Dartmouth Medical Center

A-S-1.0 Page 3 of 3
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Exhibit A - Amendment #1

Scope of Services

1. Provisions Applicable to All Services

1.1. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future legislative action by the New
Hampshire General Court or federal or state court orders may have an impact
on the Services described herein, the State Agency has the right to modify
Service priorities and expenditure requirements under this Agreement so a.s to
achieve compliance therewith.

.  1.2. For the purposes of this Agreement, the Department has identified the
Contractor as a Subrecipient, in accordance with 2 CFR 200.300.

1.3. The Contractor shall ensure one (1) part-time Maternal Mortality Abstractor
provides data-related activities, which include but are not limited to:

1.3.1. Collecting maternal death information.

1.3.2. Abstracting maternal death cases.

1.3.3. Reviewing maternal death cases.

2. Scope of Work

2.1. The Contractor shall enter data into the Maternal Mortality Review Information
Application (MMRIA) regarding deaths of women in New Hampshire during
pregnancy and during the year following the end of pregnancy.

2.2. The Contractor shall enter abstracted maternal mortality case data and
information into the MMRIA within one (1) month of receiving the information
from the Maternal-Mortality Review Coordinator. The Contractor shall:

2.2.1. Conduct a record review in order to abstract data and information related

to NH maternal death cases.

2.2.2. Maintain working knowledge of the Center for Disease Control's (CDC)
maternal mortality practices and resources.

2.2.3. Refer to the Center for Disease Control's Review to Action website and

the Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality
(ERASE MM) website for updated, maternal mortality information.

2.3. The Contractor shall attend abstractor trainings conducted by the CDC.

2.4. The.Contractor shall attend a minimum of two (2) Maternal Mortality Review
Committee (MMRC) meetings each State Fiscal Year of the contract period and
provide meeting minutes with recommendations to the Maternal Mortality
Review Coordinator within one (1) week of each meeting.

2.5. The Contractor shall maintain the established Recommendations Work Group,
consisting of a multidisciplinary group of individuals including, but not limited to:

Dartmoulh Hitchcock Medical Center Exhibit A - Amendment #1 Contractor Initials

SS-2020•DP^

Rev.09/06n8

SS-2020-DPHS-11-MATERN-01-A01 Page 1 of4 Dale

9^

^^^^^^^
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New Hampshire Department of Health and Human Services
Enhancing Reviews and Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal Mortality

Exhibit A - Amendment #1

2.5.1. Mental Health Facility staff.

2.5.2. Community Health workers.

2.5.3. Medical personnel.

2.6. The Contractor shall facilitate in-person or virtual meetings of the
Recommendations Work Group on an as-needed basis to review and discuss

■  the recommendations of the MMRC.;„

2.7. The Contractor shall utilize inforrriltion provided by the Recommendations Work
Group to inform action oh no less than two (2) projects each State Fiscal Year
of the contract period. •

2.8. The Contractor shall in collaboration with the Department implement the
recommendations of the MMRC.

2.9. The Contractor shall attend weekly Organizational Meetings with the
Department as scheduled by the Department. Meeting activities will include, but
are not limited to: . .

2.9.1. Identifying required educational content and materials.

2.9.2. Establishing Annual Performance Measures.

2.10. The Contractor shall develop the necessary educational content and materials
required to implement the recommendations of the MMRC.

2.11. The Contractor shall conduct monthly Maternal Mortality educational webinars
representative of the educational content and materials developed which may
include, but is not limited toi PowerPoint presentations.

2.12: The Contractor shall in collaboration with the Department meet the Performance
Measures established at the weekly Organizational Meetings.

2.13. The Contractor shall attend monthly meetings with the CDC as scheduled by
the Department. Meeting topics may include, but are not limited to:

2.13.1. Progress of Annual Perfomiance Measures.

2.13.2. Functioning of the Maternal Mortality Review Information Application
(MMRIA).

2.13.3. Current national news.

2.14. The Contractor shall expand the Association of Women's Health, Obstetric and"
Neonatal Nurses (AWHONN) Post Birth Warning Signs Pilot Program to all
State birthing hospitals. The Contractor shall:

2.14.1. Provide hospitals with the AWHONN education program for mothers and
their families to increase awareness of postpartum warning signs; and

2.14.2. Ensure education is provided utilizing the information developed by the
national AWHONN. /—"
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3. Deliverables

. 3.1. The Contractor shall develop and submit a Recommendations Worksheet to the
Department no later than thirty (30) days after each monthly Maternal Mortality
Review Comrnittee Meeting that includes, but is not limited to: .

3.1.1. Actions to be facilitated, by priority: and

3.1.2. Actions implemented.

3.2. The Contractor shall provide copies of PowerPoint presentations presented at'
Maternal Mortality education webinars to the Department at the conclusion of

each webinar. -

4. Data Sharing

4.1. The Contractor shall ensure any disclosure of identifiable confidential health,
SUD or mental health information or data adheres to state and federal laws and

regulations relating to safeguarding the confidential information, which includes,
but may not be limited to:

4.1.1. The Health Information Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA).

4.1.2. 45-CFR 160-164.

4.1.3. 42 CFR Part 2 for SUD Data

4.1.4. NH Administrative Rule He-M 2019 for Mental Health Data.

4.2. The Contractor shall ensure confidentiality agreements are signed by all parties
sharing data in order to safeguard any identifiable information collected and
disclosed to prevent any Inadvertent disclosure of indefinable information.

4.3. The Contractor shall riot collect, receive, store, or manage confidential data
related to the-scope of work and deliverables identified in this Exhibit A unless
or until the parties have agreed in writing to a Data Sharing Plan that includes,
but is not limited to the following:

4.3.1. The purpose of the data exchange;

4.3.2. Description of the Department's data elements to be disclosed;

4.3.3. Source or Systems of Records

4.3.4. Number of Records Involved and Operational Time Factors

4.3.5. Data Elements Involved

4.3.6. Reporting and Secure Transmission of Confidential Data

4.3.7. Description of the Contractor's data elements to be disclosed; and

4.3.8. Responsibilities of both parties regarding the exchange of data.

p
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4.4. The Contractor shall execute the Data Sharing Plan in a timely manner so as
not to impede the scope of work and deliverables identified in this Exhibit A.

4.5. The Contractor agrees to modify the Data Sharing Plan in writing as necessary,
due to any changes to the scope of work and deiiverables identified in this
Exhibit A.

4.6. The Contractor shall comply with the terms "of Exhibit K, DHHS Information
Security Requirements, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference
herein.

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center Exhibit A - Amendment #1 Contractor Iniiiais I
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mTE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

DIVISION OF PUBLIC HEALTH SERVICES

29 HAZEN DRIVE, CONCORD. NH 03)01
60)-27M501 l-80^SS2-)34) EsL 4S01

Fai:6Q3-r71-4827 TDD A<ms: UOO>73S-29M
r.41ths.nb.gov

May 26, 2020

His Excellency, Governor Christopher T. Sununu
and the Honorable Council ^

State House ,
Concord. New Hampshire 03301

REQUESTED ACTION

Authorize the Department ot Health , end Human Services. Division of Public Health
Services, to enter Into a Sole Source contract with Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital
(VC0177160). Lebanon, NH In the amount of S136.556for the collection and abstraction of dinlcal
and norvdinical data in order to prevent future maternal deaths end address maternal morbidities

• with the option to renew for up to two additional years, effective upon Governor and Coundl
approval through June 30. 2021.100% Federal Funds

Funds are available In the following account for State Fiscal Years 2020 and 2021. with
the authority to adjust budget line items within the price limitation and encumbrances between
state fiscal years through the Budget OfTice, if needed and justified.

,OS.96-90-902010.3487000d HEALTH AND SOCIAL SERVICES. DEPT OF HEALTH AND
/ HUMAN SVS, HHS: DIVISION OF PUBLIC H^LTH. BUREAU OF POPULATION HEALTH
\ AND COMMUNITY SERVICES, f^TERNAL MORTALITY

State

Fiscal Year

Claaa 1

Account
Class Title Job Number Totsl Amount

2020 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080478 $68,278

2021 102-500731 Contracts for Prog Svc 90080478 $68,278

Total $136,666.

EXPUNATION

This request is Solo Source because the Department specified the vendor's name during
the grant application process, prior to the grant award being Issued. Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical
Center overeees the Northern New England Perinatal Quality Improvement Network (NNEPQIN).
NNEPQIN is the sole perinatal quality collaboratrve for Northern New England. NNEPQIN Is
named In New Hampshire Maternal Mortality legislation as a partner In the collection, abstraction
and participation In revlew.of maternal death cases.

The purpose of this request is for the vendor to hire a part time abstractor to assist in the
work around the Maternal Mortality Program. The abstractor will collect maternal death
information; abstract medical end non-medical records on maternal death cases; end participate
In review of matemal.death cases.

TTtf Diportrntnl HfcUh ond Humor* S«ru\tti'Miuior* inojou* tommun'itktondfamiVut
in firovidingopporlui*ilit$/of eiliftnt toachUvt hicllh o/id indtpt/idir^et.
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The abstractor will enter data into the Materrtal Mortality Review Inlormatlon Application
regarding deaths of women In New Hampshire during pregnancy and during the year follovring
the ertd of pregnancy. The abstractor v^ll attend the Maternal Mortality Review Meetings and
assist the Maternal Mortality Review Coordinator at the Department, as needed. The Contractor
will work with stakeholders and department to create en action plan to implement the maleme)
health and wellness recornmendatlons as well ss develop educational and other materials for
heaUhcare professionals and the public. .The Contractor will also pllot an Assodation of Women's
Health. Obstetric end Neonatal Nurses Post Birth Warning Signs program in at least three (3)
birth hospitals across New Hampshire. The Association of Women's Health. Obstetric and
Neonatal-Nurses pilot program will provide education for mothers and their families to increase
ewareness of postpartum Issues requiring medical attention.

The Department will monitor contraded services using the following performance
measures:-

•  Enter information into the Maternal Mortality Revtew Infomiation Application oh
maternal mortality case data and information within one (1) nionth of receiving the
information from the Maternal Mortality Review Coordinator at the Department. .

•  Provide an annual report on March 15 of each year-that outlines the number of
recommendations for action prioritized by the Recommendations Work Qroup.

•  Provide a finsl report on June 5,2021 that details the research completed by the legal
consultant.

As referenced in Exhibit C-1 of the attached contract, the parties have the option to extend
the agreement for up two (2) edditionel years, contingent upon satisfactory delivery of services,
available funding, agreement of the partles'and Governor and Council approval.

Should the Governor and Council not authorize this request, the work that the Maternal
Mortality Review Committee does to make recommendations around maternal deaths In New
Hampshire will be delayed due to lack of assistance in completing the abstracting end case
preparation for maternal mortality review.

Area served: Statewide

Source of Funds: 100% Federal Funds from Department of Health and Human Services.
Center for Disease Control and Prevention, CFOA U 93.478/ FAIN U N58dP006693.

In the event that the Federal Funds become no longer available. General Funds will not
be requested to. support this program.

Respectfully submitted,

Lor) A. Shibinette
Commissioner
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police: This egrecmcni end all of lit aiitchnKnU stull become public upon submission lo Governor and
Executive Council for approval. Any information that is private, confidential or proprici&ty must
be clearly idcniified to the agency and agreed to in writing prior to signing the contract.

agreement

The Slate ofNew Hampshire and the Contractor hereby mutuaUy agree as follows:

GENERAL PROVISIONS

1. IDENTIFICATION.

I.I State Agency Name
NH Oqsarimeni of Health end Human Services

1.2' State Agency Address
129 Pksssni Street

Coneofd.NH 0)3010857 .

1.) Contractor Name
Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital for itself and on behalf of
Danmouth-Hitchcork Clinic (collectively doing business as
"Donmouih-Hitchcock")

1.4 Contractor Address

One Medical Center Dr. Lebanon. NH. 03756

1.5 Contractor Phone

Number

d03-650-5000

l.d Account Number

05-095 •090-90201004870000

1.7 Completion Dale

June 30. 2021

(.8 Price Limitation

SD6.556

1.9 Contracting Offtcer for State Agency
Nathan D. White. Director

1.10 State AgcrKyTclephonc Number
(50)-271-9631

I.II Contractor Signature

■ 1 l/j/L 1

1.12 Name and Title of Contractor Signatory
Leigh Burgess. Vice President
Offtuc of Research Operations

I.I) Acknowledgement: State of .County of

On , before the undersigned ofTiccr. personally oppeorcd the person identified in block ). 13, or saiisfaeiorily
proven to be the person whose naiTK is signed in block 1.11. end acknowledged that s/hc executed this document in the capacity
indicated in block 1.12.

I.D.I. Signature of Notary Public or Justice ofihc Pcocc

(Seall

).D.2 Name and Tiilcof Notary or Justice of the Peace

1.14 S
)

I gency Signature

Date

, IS Name aitd Title of Siotc Agency Signniory

{.Id Approval by the N.H. Dcpanmcni of Adminisimtion. Division of Pcrsonrrcl OfappUcchle)

By: , . . Director. On:

.17 Approval by the Attorney Gencni (Form. Substance and Qxccuiion) (if nppiictihle)

■  On: May 28,2020

. 18 Approval by the Governor and Executive Council (if tip/>ilenhftf}

By: On:

■■ Page I of 4
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2. EMPtOVMENTOFCOiNTRACTOR/SERVICeSTO

. BE PERFORMED. The Sinic of New Hampjhirc, Rclina
through (he agency ideniificd in block I. I ("Smtc"), engages
contractor identined in block 1.3 ("Contracior")'io peHonn.
end the Conirocior shall perforni, the vs^ork or sale of goods, or
both, ideniined and more particulorly described in the attached
EXHIBIT A which is incorporated herein by reference
(•'Services").

3. EFFECTIVE DATE/COMPLETION OF SERVICES.

3.1 Not^vi{hstonding ony provision of (his Agreement to (he
comrnr)'. ond, subject to the approvol of the Governor and
Executive Council of (he State of New Hnmpshlre, if
applicable, this Agreement, ond oil obligniions of the pariies
hereunder, shall become cITcciive on the date the Governor
ond E.xccutive Council Approve (his Agrcen>ciii as indicoicd in
block 1.18, unless no such approval is required, in which case
the Agrcemcoi shall become elTcctivc on the da'ie the
Agreement is signed by the State Agency os shown in block
1.14 C'EITcciis'e Date").

- .3.2 If the Contractor commences the Services prior to the
EfTcciive Date, all Services performed by the Cpntracior prior
to the Effective Date shall bc performed at the sole risk of the
Contractor, and in the event that this Agreement does not
become cfTective, the State shall have no liability to the
Contractor, including wiiltout limitation,.any obligation to pay
the Contntctor for any costs Incurred or Services perfomtcd.
Controctor must complete nil Services by the Completion Date
specified in block 1.7.

4. CONDITIONAL NATURE OF AGREEMENT.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the
contrary, nil obligations of the Stoic hcrcundcr, inclnding,
without limilAlion, the continuance of payments hereunder, arc
corilingcni upon the avallnbiliiy and continued appropriation
of funds, and in no event shall the State be liable for any
paynienis hereunder in excess of such ovnilable appropriated
funds. Inihc event of a reduction or icrminaiion of
appropriated funds, the State shall have the right.to withhold
payment until such funds become available, ifever, and shall
have the right to icrmiuaic this Agreement immediately upon
giving the Contractor notice ofsuch termination. The State
shall not be required to transfer funds from any other account
to the Account identified in block 1.6 in tite event funds in thai

Accoun.t are reduced or unavoilable.

CONTRACT PRICE/PRICE LIMITATION/
PAViMENT.

5."l The contract price, method of payment, ond terms of
paymcni arc identified and more particularly described in
EXHIBIT 6 Nvliich is incorporated herein by reference.
5.2 The payment by the Slate of the contract price shall be the
only and the complete reimbursement to the Contractor for all
expenses, of whatever nature incurred by the Contractor in the
'performance hereof, and shall be (he only ond the complete
contpcnsatron to (he Coniractor for the Services. The State
shall have no liability to the Contractor other than the contract
price.

5.3 The State reserves the right to offset from any amounis
otherwise payable to the Conirnclor under this Agreement
those liquidated amounis required or permitted by N.H. RSA
80:7 through RS.A 80:7-c or tiny other provision of law.
5.4 Notwithstanding any provision in ihis Agreement to the

. contrary, and notwithstanding unexpected circumslonces. in
no event shall the total of all payments auihoriied, or nciuoily
made hereunder, exceed (he Price Limitnlion set forth in block
I.S.

6. COMPLIANCE BY CONTRACTOR WITH LAWS
AND RECULATIONS/ EQUAL EMPLOVMENT
OPPORTUNITY.
6. t In connection >viih itie perrormancc of (he Services, the
Cuntrncior shall comply with all statutes, lows, regulations,
and orders of federal, state, county or municipal authorities
which impose any obligation or dur>''upon the Contractor,
including, but not limited to. civil rights ond equal opporiuniiy
lavvs. This may include the requirement to utiliu au.xiliory
aids and services to ensure that persons with communication
disabilities, including vision, hearing and speech, can
cominunicQtc with, receive infonhation from, and convey
information to the Contractor. In addition, the Contractor
shall comply with all applicable copyright lows.
6.2 During the term of this Agreement, the Contractor shall
not discriminate against employees or applicants for
employment because of race, color, religion,.creed, ngei se.x,
handicap, sexual orientation, or national origin ond will take
alTirmntivc action to prevent such discrimination.
6.3 If this Agreement is funded in any part by monies of the
United States, the Conirocr(3r shall cothply with all the
provisions of Executive Order No. 11246 ("Equal
Employment Opponunity"), as supplcnicnicd by the
rcgulnvions of the United States Dcpnrimcni of Labor (41
C.F.R. Pad 60), ond with any rules, regulations and guidelines
as the Slate of New Hampshire or-the United Slates issue to
implement these regulations. The Contractor further agrees to
pennit the State or Uniicd States access to any of the
Contractor's books, records ond nccbunis for the purpose of
ascertaining compliance with all rules, regulations and orders,
and the covenants, terms and conditions of (his Agreement.

7. PERSONNEL.

7.1 The Contractor shall at its own expense provide all
personnel necessary to pcrfomt the Scrx-iccs. The Contractor
worrnnts.that all personnel engaged in the Services shall be
qualified to perform the Scrx'iccs, and shall be properly
licensed and oihcnvise authorized to do so under all applicable
laws.

7.2 Unless othenvise authorized in writing, during the term of
this Agreement, and for a period of six (6) months after the
Completion Date in block 1.7, the Contractor shall iiol hire,
and shall nol permit ony subcontracior or other person, firm or
corporation with whom it is engaged in n combined efforl to
perform the Scrx'iccs to hire, ony person who is o State
employee or ofTicial, who is matcrlnlly involved in the •
procurement, odministrotion 6r performance of this

Page 2 of d
Coniractor Inilials

Date 5/15/2020
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Agrccnteni. This provision $1)&II survive lerniiiialioii ofdns
Agrccmenl.
7.3 The Contraciing Officer specified in block 1.9, or his or
her successor, shall be the Sinte's represeniniive. In the event
of ony dispute concernins (he interpretation of this Agreenteiii,
the Contracting On*icer's decision shall be final for (he Slate.

8. EVENT OF DEFAULT/REMEDIES.

8.1 Any one or more of rl\c following ocis or omissions of (he
Conimcior shall consiiinte on event of dcfoull hcreundcr

("Event of Default"):
8. I.I Tnilure to pcrromi the Services satisfactorily or on
schedule;

8.1.2 failure to snbinii ony repon required hcreunder; nnd/or
8; 1.3 failure,to pcrfonn nny other covenant., (ernt or condition
of this'Agreement.
8.2 Upon the occurrence of any Event of Default, (he Stale
may lake any one', or more, or nil, of the following aciioits:
8.2.1 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event
ofOcfauli and requiring it to be remedied within, in the
absence of a greater or lesser spccificaiibn of time, ihiny (30)
days front thcdnlc of the notice; and if the Event of Default is
not timely remedied, lermiitaie this Agreement, efrcciive two
(2) days aficr giving the Contmctor notice of termination;
8.2.2 give the Contractor a written notice specifying the Event
ofDcfauIt and suspending oil payments to be made under tliis^
Agreement nnd ordering that the portion of ihe'conlmct price
»i)ich would olhenvisc accrue to the Contractor during the
period from rhe date of such notice until such time as the'State
determines that the-Coniracior has cured the Event ofDcrault

shall never be paid to the Contractor; -
8.2.3 set ofTagainst any other obligations the Stale may owe to
the Contmctor any dantages the Stole suffers by reason of ony
Event of Default; and/or

8.2.4 treat the Agreement as breached and pursue any of jis
remedies at law or in equity, or both.

9. DATA/ACCESS/CONFIDENTIALITY/

PRESERVATION.

9.1 As used in this Agreement, the word "data" shall mean alt
information ond things developed or obtained duri.n'g the
pci fonnance of, or acquired or developed by reason of, this .
Agreement, including, but not limited to, all studies, rcpons,
files, forntulac. surveys, mops, charts, sound recordings, video
recordings, pictorial reproductions, drawings, analyses,
■graphic reprcscnlotions. comptitcr progroms; computer
printouts, notes, Iciicrs, memoranda, papers, and documents,
all whether finishcd or unfinished.
9.2 AM dnto nnd any property which has been received from
the State or purchased with funds provided for that purpose
under this Agreement, shall be the property of the State, and
shall be relumed to the State upon demand or upon
termination of this Agreement for any reason.
9.3 Confidentiality of dam shall be governed by N.H. RS'A
chapter 91-A or other c.xistmg low. Disclosure ofdata
requires prior written approval of tlie State.

Page 3

10. TERMINATION. In the event of an corly termination of
this Agreement for any reason other than the completion of (he
Services, the Contractor shall deliver to the Contraciing
Officer, not later than firieen (IS) days oficr the'date of'
termination, a report (."Termination Report") describing in
detail all Services performed, and the contmct price earned, to
and including (he date of lerminaiion. Tfie form, subject
matter, content, and number of copies of the Termination
Repon shall be identicolto those of any Final Report
described in ihe altached EXHIBIT A.-

11. CONTRACTOR'S RELATION TO THE STATE, hi
(lie perrormance of (his Agreement (he Contractor is to all
respects an indcpcndehi conir.acior, and is neither an agent nor
an employee of the State.' Neither the Contractor nor any of its
officers, employees, agents or mq^mbers shall have authority to
bind the State or receive any benefits, workers' compensation
or other cntoliimcnts provided by the State to its employees.

12. ASSICNMENT/DELECATION/SUBCONTRACTS.
The Contractor shall not assign, or otherwise transfer any
interest in this Agreement without the prior written notice nnd
consent of the State. None of the Scn'ices shall be
subcontracted by the Contractor without the prior written

' notice and consent of the State.

13. INDEMNIFICATION. Thc Coninictor shall defend,
. indemnify and hold harmless the Stale, its officers and

employees, from and against any and nil losses sulTered by the
Stole, its officers nnd employees, and any and all claims,
liabilities or penalties asserted against the State, its officers
and ctnployces. by or on behalf of any person, on dccouiii of,
based or resulting from, arising out of (or which may be
claimed to arise out of) the acts or omissions of the
Contractor. .Noiwiihsianding the foregoing, nothing herein
contoincd sholl be deemed to consiiiiiic a waiver of the

■ sovereign immunity of the State, which imimmity is hereby
reserved to the State. This covenant in paragraph 1.3 shall
survive the termination of this Agreemeiii.

14. INSURANCE.
14.1 Tlie Contractor shall, at its sole expense, obtaiit and
maintain in force, and shall require any subconiincior or
assignee to obtain and maintain in force, the following
insiimrjcc:
(4.1.1 comprehensive general liability insurance against all
cloims of bodily injury, death br property damage, in amounts
of not-less than Sl,000.000pcr. occurrence and S2,000,000
aggregate ; and -
14.1.2 special cause of loss coverage form covering all

•  property subject to siibparagroph 9.2 herein, in ah amoiinl not
less than 80% of the whole rcplaccincnl value of the properly.
14.2 The policies described in subparngraph 14.1 herein shall <
be on policy forms and endorsements approved for use in the
State of New Hnmpshircby the N.H. Department of
Insurance, and issued by insurers licensed in the State of New
Hampshire.
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14.3 Tlie Contractor shall. Tumish to (he Coniraciing Offtccr
idcniincd in block 1.9, or his or her successor, a ccnificaicis)
ofinsurance for all insurance required under this Agreement.
Conlrnclor shall also ftimish to the Contracting OfTicer
Identified in block 1.9, or his or her successor, certincaie(s) of
insuraiKe for all renesvalfs) of insurance required under this
Agreement no later than ihlrty (30) days prior to the expiration-
date of each of the insurance policies. The certiricDte(s) of
insurance and any renewals thereof shall be attached and are
incorporated herein by reference. Each ceniriC8ie(s)of
insurance sliall contain n clause requiring the insurer to
provide the Contracting OITiccr idcniincd in block 1.9. or his
or her successor, no less than thirty (30) days prior written
notice of concellalion or niodification of the policy.

IS. WORKERS'COMPENSATION.

I S.I By signing this agreement, the Contractor agrees.,
certifies and warrants thai the Contractor is in cotnplinncc willt
or exempt from, the requirements of N.H. RSA chapter 281 -A
f H-'orkcrs' CoiufKiisolion ").
IS. 2 To the extent the Comracior is subject to the
reqiiiremenisof N.M- RSA chapter 281'A. Contractor shnll
maintain, aitd require any subconiracior or assignee to secure
and moinioin. payment of Workers' Compcnsniion in
connection with activities wliich the person proposes to
uitdertake pursuant to this Agreement. Contractor shall
furnish the Contracting Officer identified in block 1.9, or his
or her successor, proof of Workers' Compensation in the
manner described in N.H. RSA chnpier 281 -A and any
applicable rencwnl(s) thereof, wliich sliall be aitaciied and are
incorporated herein by reference. The State shall not be
responsible for payment of any Workers' Compensation
premiums or for any other claim or benefit for Contractor, or
any snbconiracior or employee of Contractor, which might
arise under applicable State.of New Hampshire-Workers'
Compensation laws in connection with the performance of (he
Services under this Agfccmcni.

Id. WAIVER OF BREACH. No failure by (he State to
enforce any provisions hereof nfler any Event of Default shall
be deemed a waiver of its rights iviili regard to that Event of
Default, or any subsequent Event of Dcl^nult. No e.vpress
failure to enforce any Event of Default shall be deemed a
waiver of the right of the State to enforce each and all of the
provisions hereof upon any further-or other Event of Default
on the pan of the Contractor.

17. NOTICE. Any notice by a party hereto to the oihcr party
shall be deemed to have been duly delivered or given at the
time of mailing by ccrtific;! moil, postage prepaid, in a United
States Post Office addressed to the panics ni the addresses
given in blocks 1.2 mid 1.4, herein.

18. AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended,
waived or discharged only by an instnmicm in writing signed
by the parties hereto and.only nflcr approval of such
amendment, waiver or discharge by the Governor and
Executive Council of the Stale of New Hampshire unless no

such approval is required under the circumstances pursuant to
State law. rule or policy.

19. CONSTRUCTION OF AGREEMENT AND TERMS.

This Agreement sliall be construed in accordance with the
laws of (he State of New Hampshire, and Is binding upon and
inures to the benefit of the ponies and their respective
successors and assigns. The wording used in this Agreement
is (he ivording chosen by the parties to express their mutual
intent, and no nilc ofcoiisiruciioii shall be applied against or
in favor of any part)'.

20. THIRD PARTIES. The panics hereto do not intend to
bcneni any third parties and this .Agreement slinll not be

construed to confer any such benefit.

21. HEADINGS. The headings throughout the Agreement
arc for reference purposes only, and the words contained
(herein shnll in no woy be held to explain, modify. nniplify or
aid in the interpretation, constmciioii or meaning of the
provisions of this Agreement.

22. SPECIAL PROVISIONS. Additional provisions set
forth in the oiinchcci E.N'HIBIT C are incorporated herein by
reference.

23. SEVERABILIT>'. In the evdnt any of the provisions of
this Agreement ore held by a court of compcicnl jurisdiction to
be contrary to any state or federal law. the remaining..
provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and
effect.

24. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement, which may
be executed in n number of counterparts, each of which shall
be deemed an original, consiiintes the entire Agreenicni and
understanding between (he'panies, and supersedes all prior
Agreements and understandings relating hereto.
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Scope of Services

1. Provisions Applicable to All Services

1.1. The Contractor shall submit a detailed description of the language assistance
services they will provide to persons with limited English proficiency to ensure
meaningful access to their programs and/or services within ten (10) days of the
contract effective date.

1.2. The Contractor agrees that, to the extent future legislative action by the New
Hampshire General Court or federal or state court orders may have an impact
on the Services described herein, the State Agency has the right to modify
Service priorities and expenditure requirernents under this Agreement so as to
achieve compliance therewith.

1.3. For the purposes of this Agreement. the.Department has identified the Contractor
as a Sub recipient. In accordance with 2 CFR 200.300.

^.A. The Contractor shall ensure one (1) part-lime fraternal fVlorlality Abstractor
provides data-related activities, which include but are not limited to;

1.4.1. Collecting maternal death Information.

1.4.2.. Abstracting maternal death cases.

1.4.3.. Reviewing maternal death cases.

2. Scope of Work

2.1. The Contractor shall enter data into the fraternal Mortality Reyiew Information
Application (MMRIA) regarding deaths of women in New Hampshire during
pregnancy and during the year following the end of pregnancy.-

2;2. The Conlractor shall enter abstracted maternal mortality case data and
information Into the MMRIA within one (1) month of receiving the information
from the Maternal Mortality Review Coordinator. The Contractor shall:

2.2.1.. Conduct a record review in order to abstract data and information

related to NH maternal death cases.

2.2.2. Maintain working knowledge of the Center for Disease Control's (CDC)
maternal mortality practices and resources.

2.2.3. Refer to the Center for Disease Conlrors Review to Action website and
the Enhancing Reviews and -.Surveillance to Eliminate Maternal
Mortality ■ (ERASE MM) website for updated maternal mortality
information.

2.3. The Contractor shall attend abstractor trainings conducted by the CDC as well
as meetings as required by the" Department.

2.4. The Contractor shall attend a minimum of two (2) Maternal Mortality Review
Meetings each.year and provide minute meeting notes with recommendiations

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Cenlar Exhibit A Contfaclor Initials
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' within one (1) week to the Maternal Mortality Review Coordinator.

2.5. The Contractor shall establish a Recommendations Work Group , in person or
via virtual meeting, to discuss the recommendations developed through the
Maternal Mortality Review Committee (MMRC) The contractor, shall ensure
that the Recommendations Work Group, consists of a multidisciplinary group
consisting of. but are not limited to:

2.5.1. Mental Health facilities

2.5.2. Community Health Workers

2.5.3. Medical personnel

2.6. The Contractor shall use Information gathered from the Recommendations
Work Group to inform action on a project for the year.

2.7. The Contractor shall develop an action plan to implement MMRC maternal
health and wellness recommendations. The Contractor shall:

2.7.1. Provide an annual report that details:

2.7.1.1. Feasibility assessment by the Recommendations Work
Group of which recommendations from the MMRC are
actionable in NH to improve statewide maternal health and
wellness..

2.7.1.2. Action plans'for selected recommendations.

2.7.2. Develop up to two (2) forms of educational materials for NH obstetric
medical professionals and/or the public based on the
recommendations chosen to focus on by the Recommendations Work
Group. Educational material shall include but is not limited to the
following:

2.7.2.1.1. Electronic reading material

2.7.2.1.2. Brochures

2.8. The Contractor shall conduct a pilot project in year one (1) using the Association
of Women's Health, Obstetric and Neonatal Nurses (AWHONN) Post Birth
Warning Signs program in at least three (3) birth hospitals across New
.Hampshire. The Contractor shall: .

2.8.1.1.1. Provide hospitals with the AWHQNN education program for mothers
and their families to increase awareness of poslpartum warning-
signs. ■ ,

2.8.1.1.2. Ensure education is provided utilizing the information developed by
the national AWHONN.

2.8.1.1.3. Gather feedback about the pilot program from personnel at
hospitals to inform widespread use of the AWHONN Postpartum

Dartmoulh HitchcocJi Medical Cenler Exhibit A Contraclor Inilials
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Warning Signs education to all.NH birth hospitals. .

2.9. The Contractor shall implement the AWHONN Post Birth Warning signs program
in all New Hampshire, birth hospitals that are interested in participating after the
initial period of the pilot program based on results of the pilot program.

2.10. The Contractor shall assist the Maternal Mortality Review Coordinator with
increasing obstetric medical professionals' understanding of local access to
Family Resource Centers in order to support pregnant, postpartum and
parenting women. The Contractor shall:

2.10.1. ■ Provide a list of supports developed by the Governor's Perinatal
Substance Exposure Task Force, Plan of Safe Care (POSC)
subcommittee to the stakeholders Subsection 2.6.

2.10.2. Provide all obstetric providers in the State of-New Hampshire with a
comprehensive list of community-based supports and services for
families.

2.11. The Contractor shall work with a legal expert to inform the Maternal Mortality
' Program about the legality of sharing information across state borders in order
to obtain complete records for review of cases.for all maternal deaths.

3. Reporting

1  3.1. The Contractor shall provide an annual report, due March 15 of each yearthat:

3.1.1. outlines the number of recommendations for action prioritized by the
Recommendations Work Group

3.1.2. Specifies the actions taken.

3.2. The contractor shall provide a final report no laler than June 5. 2021 that^details
the research completed by the legal consultant, which includes, but is not limited
to;

3.2.1. Information collected on data sharing between states.

.3.2,2. Malernal Mortality legislation passed, specifically in bordering states.

3.2.3. A polential plan for. moving forward toward cross-border sharing in
order to successfully review all maternal death cases.

4. Data Sharing

4.1. The Contractor shall ensure any disclosure of identifiable confidential health,
SUD or mental health information or data adheres to state and federal laws and

regulations relating to safeguarding the confidential information, which includes,
but may not be limited to:

4.1.1. The Health Information Porlabilily and Accountability Act (HIPAA).

4.1.2. 45-CFR 160-164.

Dartmouth Hitchcock Medical Center E)diibitA Contractor Initials
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4.1.3. 42CFRParl2forSUDData

4.1.4. NH Administrative Rule He-M 2019 for Mental Health Data.

4.2. The Contractor shall ensure.confidentiality agreements are signed by all parties
sharing data in order to safeguard any identifiable information collected and

•  disclosed to prevent any inadvertent disclosure of indefinable Information.

4.3. The Contractor shall not "collect, receive, store, or manage confidential data
related to the scope of work and deliverables identified in this Exhibit A unless or
until the parties have agreed in writing to a Data Sharing Plan that includes, but
is nollimited to the following:

4.3.1. The purpose of the data exchange:

4.3.2. Description of the Department's data elements to be disclosed;

4.3.3. Source or Systems of Records

4.3.4. Number of Records Involved and Operational Time Factors

4.3.5. Data Elements Involved

4.3.6. Reporting and Secure Transmission of Confidential Data

4.3.7. Description of the Contractor's data elements to be disclosed; and

' 4.3.8. Responsibilities of both parties regarding the exchange of data.

4.4. The Contractor shall execute the Data Sharing Plan in a timely manner so as not
to impede the scope of work and deliverables identified in this Exhibit A.

4.5. The Contractor agrees to modify the Data Sharing Plan in writing as necessary,
due to any changes to. the scope of work and deliverables identified in this Exhibit
A.

4.6. The Contractor shall comply with the terms of Exhibit K, DHHS Information
Security Requirements, which is attached hereto and incorporated by reference
herein.

OBflmoulh Hitchcock ModiccI Center Exhibit A Contractor Initials
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Method and Conditions Precedent to Payment

1. The State shall pay the Contractor an amount not to exceed the Form P-37. Block 1.8.
Price Limitation for the services provided pursuant to Exhibit A. Scope-of Services.

2. This Agreement is funded with 100% Federal Funds from Centers for Disease Control
& Prevention. Preventing Maternal Deaths: Supporting Maternal Mortality Review
Committees Grant. Catalog of Federal Domestic Assistance (CFDA)#93.478. Federal
Award Identification Number {FAIN)#NU58DP006693.

3.. Failure to meet the scope of services may jeopardize the funded Contractor's current
and/or future funding.

4.. Payment for said services shall be made monthly as follows:

.  4.1. Payment shall be on a cost reimbursement basis for actual expenditures incurred
in the fuifiirment of this Agreement, and shall be in accordance with the approved
line items as specified in Exhibit 8-1, Budget and Exhibit 8-2 Budget.

4.2. The Contractor shall submit an invoice in a form satisfactory to the State by the
twentieth' (20"*) working day of each month, .which Identifies and requests
reimbursement for authorized expenses Incurred in the prior month.

4.3. The Contractor shall ensure the invoice is completed, signed, dated and returned
to the Department in order to initiate payment.

4.4. The State shall make payment to the Contractor within thirty (30) days of receipt
of each invoice, subsequent to approval of the subrriitled invoice and if sufficient

'  funds are available.

5. The Contractor shall keep detailed records'of their activities related to Department-
funded programs and services and have records available for Department review, as
requested.

6. The final invoice shall be due to the Stale no later than sixty (60) days after the contract
completion date specified in Form P-37, General Provisions Block'1.7 Completion Dale,

7. In lieu of hard copies, all invoices may be assigned an electronic signature and emailed
to DPHSconlfactbil!ing@dhhs.nh.gov@dhhs.nh.gov, or invoices may be mailed to: '

Financial Administrator

Department of Health and Human Services
Division of Public Health

29 Hazen Drive. . . • /
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Concord, Wh 03301

8. Payments may be withheld pending receipt of required reports or documentation as
identified in Exhibit A, Scope of Services and in this Exhibit B.

9. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Contractor agrees that, funding
under this agreement may be withheldi .in whole or in part, in the event of non-
compliance with any Federal or State law, rule or regulation applicable to the services
provided, or if the said services or products have not been satisfactorily completed in
accordance with the terms and conditions of this agreement.

10.Notwithstanding paragraph 18 of the General Provisions P-37, changes limited to
adjusting arnounts between budget line items, related items, amendments of .related
budget exhibits within the. price limitation, and to adjusting encumbrances between
State Fiscal Years, may be made by written agreenhent of both parties and may be
made without obtaining approval of the Governor and Executive Council.

Oartmoulh Hiichcod* Mediccl Center ExhWiB Conuoctor imiioij
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SPECIAL PROVISIONS

Contractors Obligations: The Contractor covenants and agrees that all funds received by the Contractor
under the Contract shall be used only as payrnent to the Contractor (or services provided to eligible
individuals and, in the furtherance of the aforesaid covenants, the Contractor hereby covenants and
agrees as follows:

1. Compliance with Federal and State Lews: lithe Contractor is permitted to determine the eligibility
of in'dividudls such eligibility determination shall be made in accordance with applicable federal and
state laws, regulations, orders, guidelines, policies and procedures.

2. Time and Manner of Detorminatlon; Eligibility determinations shall be ma.de on forms provided by
the Department for that purpose end shell be made and remade at such times as are prescribed by
the Department.

3. Documentation: In addition to the determination forms required by the Department, the Contractor
shall maintain a data file on each recipient of services hereunder. which file shall include all
Information necessary to support an eligibility determiriation and such other information as the
Oepartmeni requests. The Contractor shall furnish the Department with ell forms and documentation
regarding eligibility determinations thai the Dep'artrnent may request or require.

r  ■ ■

4. Fair Hearings: The Contractor understands that all applicants for services hereunder. as well as
individuals declared ineligible have a right to a fair hearing regarding that determination. The
Contractor hereby covenants and agrees that all applicants for services shall be permitted to fill out
an application form and that each applicant or re-applicant shall be informed of his/her right to a fair
hearing in accordance with Department regulations.

5. Gratuities or Kickbacks: The Contractor agrees that it is a breach of (his Contract to accept or
rhake a payment, gratuity or offer of employment on behalf of the Contractor, any Sub-Contractor or
the State in order to Influence the performance of the Scope of Work detailed in Exhibit A of this
Contract. The State may terminate thls Cor^tract end any sub-contract or sub-agreement if it is
determined that payments, gratuities or offers of employment of any kind were offer^ or received by
any officials, officers, employees or-agenls of the Contractor or Sub-Contractor.

6. Retroactive Payments: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Contract or in
any other document, contract or understanding, it is expressly understood and agreed by the parties
hereto, that no payments will be made hereunder to reimburse the Contractor for costs incurred for
any purpose or for any services provided to any Individual prior to the Effective Date of the Contract
and.no payments shall be made for expenses incurred by the Contractor for any services provided
prior to the date on which the individual applies for seivices or (except a_$ otherwise provided by the
federal regulations) prior to a determination that the individual is eligible for such services.

7. Conditions of Purchase: Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained In (he Contract, nothing
herein contained .shall be deemed to obligate or require the Oepartmeni to purchase services
hereunder at a rale which reimburses the Contractor in excess of the Contractors costs, at a rate
which exceeds the amounts reasonable and necessary.to assure the quality of such service, or at a

•  rate which exceeds the rate charged by the Contractor lo ineligible individuals or other third party
funders for such service. If at any lime during the lerm of this Contract or after receipt of the Final
Expenditure Report hereunder, the Department shall determine that the Contractor has used
payments hereunder to reimburse items of expense other than such costs, or has received payment
In excess of such costs or In excess of such rates charged by the Contractor to ineligible Individuals
or other third party funders, the Department may eleclto:

7.1. Renegotiate the rates for payment hereunder. in which event new rates shall be established;
7.2. Deduct from any future payment to the Contractor the amount of any prior reimbursement In

excess of costs; f"!*
Exhibit C - Special P»ovljlon» ConUBdorinlUols _L_
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7.3.- Demand.repaymenl.of,the excess payment by the Contractor in which event failure to make
such repayment shall constitute an Event of Default hereunder. When the Conlraclor is

'  permitted to determine the eligibility of individuals for services, the Contractor agrees to
reimburse the Department for all funds paid by the Department to the Contractor for services
provided to any individual who is found by the Department to be ineligible for such services at
any time during the period of retention of records established herein.

RECORDS; MAINTENANCE. RETENTION. AUDIT. DISCLOSURE AND CONFIDENTIALITY:

8. li^aintenance of Records: In addition to (he eligibility records specified above, the Contractor
covenants and agrees to maintain the following records during (he ContraclPeriod:

6.1. Fiscal Records; records reflecting ait income received or collected by the Contractor under this
Agreement.

8.2. Statistical Records: Statistical, enrollment, attendance or visit records for each recipient of
services during the Contract Period, which records shall include all records of application and

- eligibilily (including'all forms required to determine eligibility for each such recipient), records
regarding the provision of services and all invoices submitted to the Department to obtain
payment for such services under this Agreement.

8.3. Medical Records: Where appropriate and as prescribed by the Department regulations; the
Contractor shall retain medical records on each patient/recipient of services during-the
Contract Period.

9. ' Audit: Contractor shall submit an annual audit to the Department within 60 days after the close of the
agenicy fiscal year. It is'recommended that the report be prepared in accordance with (he provision of
Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, "Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non
Profit Organizations" and the provisions of Standards for Audit of Governmental Organ'izalions.
Progranis, Activities and Functions, issued by the US General Accounting Office (GAO standards) as
(hey pertain to financial compliance audits.

9.1. Audit and Review: During the term of this Contract arid the period for retention hereunder, the
Department, the United Stales Department of Health and Human Services, and any of their
designated representatives shall have access to all reports and records maintained pursuant to
the Contract for purposes of audit, examination, excerpts and transcripts.

^  9.2. Audit Liabilities: In addition to and nol in any way in limitation of obligations of the Contract, it is
understood and agreed by the Contractor that the Contractor shall be held liable for any state
or federal audit exceptions end shall return to the Department, all payments made under the
Contract to which exception has been taken or which have been disallowed because of such an
exception.

'10. Confidentiality of Records: All information, reports, and records maintained hereurxler or collected
in connection with the performance of (he services and the Contract shall be confidential ar>d shall
rtot be disclosed by the Contractor, provided however, (t^at pursuant to slate laws and (he regulations
of the Department regarding the use end disclosure of such information, disclosure may te made to
public officials requiring such information in connection with their official duties and for purposes
directly connected to the administraliori of the services and the Contract; and provided further, (hat
(he use or disclosure by any party of any information concerning a recipient for any purpose not
directly connected with (he administration of the Department or the Contractor's responsibilities with
respect to purchased services hereunder is prohibited except on written consent of the recipient, his
attorney or guardian.
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Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein the covenants and conditions conlained.jn
the Paragraph shall survive the termination of the Contract for any reason whatsoever. ■

11. Reports: Fiscal and Statistical: The Contractor agrees to submit the following reports at the
following limes if requested by the Oepaitmenl.
11.1. Interim Financial Reports: Written interim financial reports containing a detailed description of

.  all costs and non-allowable expenses incurred by the Contractor to the date of the report and
containing such other information as shall be deemed satisfactory by the Department to
justify the rale of payment hereunder. Such Financial Reports.shall be submitted on the form
designated by the Oepartment or deemed satisfactory by the Oepariment.

11.2. Final Report: A final report shall be submitted within thirty f30) days 'after the end of the term
of (his Contract. The Final Report shall bo in a form satisfactory to the Department and shall
contain a summary statement of progress toward goals and objectives stated in the Proposal
and other information required by the Department.

12. Completion of Services: Disallowance of Costs: Upon the purchase by (he Department of the
maximum number of units provided for in the Conlract and upon payment of the price limitation
hereunder, the Contract and ail the obligations of (he parties hereunder (except such obligations as.
by the terms of the Contract are to be performed after the end of (he term of this Contract and/or
survive (he termination of the Contract) sh^ll'terminate. provided however, (hat If; upon review of the
Final Expenditure Report the Oepartment shall disallow any expenses claimed by the Contractor as
costs hereunder the Oepartment shall retain the right, at Its discretion, to deduct the amount of such
expenses as are disallowed or to recover such sums from the Contractor.

13. Credits: All documents, notices, press releases, research reports and other materials prepared
during or resulting from (he performance of the services of the Conlract shall include the
following statement:
13.1. The preparation of this (report, document etc.) was financed under a Contract with the Stale

of New Hampshire, Department of Heallh and Human Services, with funds provided in part
by the State of New Hampshire and/or such other funding sources as were available or
required, e.g., thb tJniled States Department of Heallh and Human Services.

14. Prior Approval and Copyright Ownership: All materials (written, video, audio) produced or
purchased under the contract shall have prior approval from DHHS before printing, production,.
distribution or use. The DHHS wtl) retain copyright ownership for any end all original materials
produced, including, but nol limited to, brochures, resource directories, protocols or guidelines,'
posters, or reports. Contractor shall not reproduce any materials produced under the contraciwithout
prior written approval from DHHS.

15. Operation of Facilities: Compliance with Laws and Rogulatlone: In the operation of any facilities
for providing services, the Contractor shall comply vyith all laws, orders and regulations of federal,
state; county and municipal authorjties and wilh any direction of any Public Officer or officers
pursuant to laws which shall impose an order or duty upon the contractor wilh respect to the
operation of the facility or the provision of the services at such facility. If any governmental license or
permit shall be required for the operation of the said facility or the performance of the said services,
(he Contractor will procure said license or permit, and will at all times comply with the terms and
conditions of each such Ocense or permit. In connection wilh the foregoing requirements, the
Contractor hereby covenants and agrees thai, during the term of this Contract the facilities shall
comply wilh a!) rules, orders, regulations, and requirements of the State Office of-the Fire Marshal

.  and the local fire protection agency, and shall be in conformance wilh local building and zoning
codes, by-, laws and regulations. '

16. Equal Employment Opportunity Plan (EEOP): The Contractor will provide an Equal EmploymenI
Opportunity Plan (EEOP) to the Office for Civil Rights, Office of Justice Programs (OCR), if il has
received a single award of (500,000 or rhore. If the recipient receives $25,000 or more and has 50 or
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more employees, il.wid maintain a current EEOP on file and submit an EEOP Certification Form to the
OCR. ceriifying that its EEOP is on file. For recipients receiving less than $25,000, or public grantees
with fewer than 50 employees, regardless of the amount of the award, the recipient will provide an
EEOP Certification Form to the OCR certifying it Is not required to submit or maintain an EEOP. Non-
■profit organizations. Indian Tribes, and medical and educational institutions are exempt from the
EEOP requirement, but are required to submit a certification form to the OCR to claim the exemption.
EEOP Certification Forms are available at; httpi/Awvw.ojp.usdoj/aboul/ocr/pdfs/cert.pdf.

17. Limited English Proficiency (LEP): As clarified by Executive Order 13166, Improving Access to
Services for persoris with Limited English Proficiency, and resulting agency guidance, nallpnal
origin discrimination includes discrimination on (he basis of limited English prondency (LEP). To
ensure compliance with the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 and Title VI of the
Civil Rights Act of 1964, Contractors must lake reasonable steps to ensure that LEP persons hove
meaningful access to its programs.

18. Pilot Program for Enhancement of Contractor Employee Whistleblowcr Protections: The
fallowing shaD-apply to all contracts that exceed the Simplified Acquisition Threshold'as defined in48
CFR 2.101 (currently. $150,000)

Contractor Employee Whistleblower Rights and Requirement To Inform employees op
Whistleblower Rights (SEP 2013)

(a) This contract and employees worldng on this contraclwill be subject to'the whislleblower rights
and remedies in the pilot program on Contractor employee whislleblower protections established at
41 U.S.C. 4712 by section 828 of the National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub. L.
112-239) and FAR 3.908.

(b) The Contractor shall Inform Its employees in writing, in the predominant language of the worfrforce.
of employee whisti.eblower rights and protections under 41 tj.S.C. 4712, as described in section
3.908 of the Federal Acquisitioii Regulation.

(c) The Contractor shall insert the substance of this clause, including this paragraph (c), in all
subcontracts over the simplified acquisition threshold.

19. Subcontractora: DHHS recognizes that the Contractor may choose to use subcontractors with
greater expertise to perform certain health care services or functions for efficiericy or convenience,
but the Contractor sliall retain the responsibility and accountability for the funclion(s). Prior to
subcontracting, (he Contractor shall evaluate the subconira'clor's ability to perform the delegated.
funclion(s). This is accoriiplished through a written agreement that specifies activities and reporting
responsibilities of the subcontractor and provides for revoking the delegation or imposing sanctions if
the subcontractor's performance is not adequate. Subcontractors are subject to the same contractual
conditions as the Contractor and the Ccntreclor Is responsible to ensure subcontractor compliance
with those conditions.

When the Contractor delegates a function to a subcontractor, the Contractor shall do the following:

19.1. Evaluate the prospective subcontractor's ability to perform (he activities, before delegating
the function '

19.2. Have a written agreement with (he subcontractor that specifies activities endreporlirig
responsibilities and how sanctions/revocation will be managed if the subcontractor's
performance is not adequate

19.3. Monitor the subcontractor's performance on an ongoing basis

Exhibit C - SpeclBl Provblon) ConlrsctodnlllaJs J
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19.4. Provide to DHHS an annual schedule identifying all subcontractors, delegated functions
and responsibilities, and when the subcontractor's performance will be reviewed

19.5.' DHHS shall, at its discretion, review and appro.ve all subcontracts.

If the Contractor identifies deficiencies or areas for improvement are identified, the Contractor shall
take corrective action.

20. Contract Definitions:

20.1. COSTS: Shell mean those direct end indirect items of expense determined by the Department
to be allowable and reimbursable in accordance with cost and accounting principles established
in occordence wiih state and federal laws, regulations, rules and orders.

20..2. DEPARTMENT: NH Department of Health and Human Services.

20.3. PROPOSAL: If applicable, shall mean the document submitted by the Contractor one
form or forms required by the Department and containirig a description of the services and/or
goods to be provided by the Contractor In accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Contract and settirrg forth the total cost and sources of revenue for each service to be provided
under the Contract.

20.4. UNIT: For each sen/ice that the Contractor is to provide to eligible individuals hereunder. shall
mean that period of time or that specified activity determindd by the Department and specified
in Exhibit B of the Contract. -

'  20.5. FEDERAL/STATE LAW: Wherever federal or slate laws, regulations, rules, orders, and
policies, etc. are referred to in the Contract, (he said reference shall be deemed to mean
all such laws, regulations, etc. as (hey may be amended or revised from time to time.

20.6. SUPPLANTING.OTHER FEDERAL FUNDS: Funds provided lo the Contractor underlhis
Contract will not supplant any existing federal funds available for these services.

Exnioit C - Sxdti Provisions Conirsctoi InlUols.
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REVISIONS TO STANDARD CONTRACT LANGUAGE

1. Revisions to Form P-37, General Provisions

1.1. Paragraph 3. Subparagraph 3.2. Effective Date/Completion of Services, is
deleted in its entirety and replaced as follows;

3.2 If the.Contractor commences the Services prior to the Effective Date,
all Services performed by the Contractor prior to the Effective Date
shall be performed at the sole risk of the Contractor, and In the event
that this Agreement does not become effective, the State shall have no

.  liability to the Contractor, including without limitation, any obligation to
pay the Contractor for any costs incurred or Services performed.
Contractor must use reasonable efforts to complete all Services by
the Completion Date specified in block 1.7.

1.2. Section 4. Conditional Nature of Agreernent, is replaced as follows:

4. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary, all
obligations of the State hereunder, including without limitation, the
continuance of payments, in whole or in part, under this Agreement are
contingent upon continued appropriation or availability of funds,
including any subsequent changes to the appropriation or availability of'
funds affected by any state or federal legislative or executive action
that, reduces, eliminates, or .otherwise modifies the appropriation or
availability of funding for this Agreement and the Scope of Services
provided in Exhibit A', Scope, of Services, in whole or in parl. In ho
event shall the State be liable for any payments hereunder in excess of
appropriated or available funds. In the event of a reduction, termination
or modincation of appropriated or available funds, the' State shall have
the right to withhold, payment until such funds become available, if.
ever. The Stale shall have the right to reduce, terminate or modify
services under this Agreement Immediately upon giving the Contractor
notice of such reduction, termination or modification. The State shall
not be required to transfer funds from any other source or account into
the Account(s) identified in" block 1.6 of the General Provisions.
Account Number, or any other account in the event funds are reduced
or unavailable..

1.3. Paragraph 7, Subparagraph 7.1, Personnel, is deleted in its entirety and
replaced as follows:

7.1 The Contractor shall at Its own expense provide all personnel
• necessary to perform the Services. The Contractor certifies that all
personnel engaged In the Services shall be qualified'to perform the
Services, and shall be properly licensed and otherwise authorized to do
so under all applicable laws.
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1.4. Paragraph 8, Subparagraph 8.2.3, Event of Defaull/Remedies. is deleted in
■  ' its entirety.

'  1.5. Paragraph. 10, Termination, is deleted in its entirety and is replaced as
follows:

10. In. the event of an early termination of this Agreement for any reason
other than the completion of the Services, the Contractor shall, at the

' Stale's discretion, deliver to the Contracting Officer, not later than thirty
(30) days after the date of termination, a report ("Termination Report")
describing in detail all Services performed, and the contract price
earned,' to and including the date of termination. The form, subject

. matter, content, and number of copies of the Termination Report shall •
be identical to those of any Final Report described in the attached
EXHIBIT A.

10.1 The Slate may terminate the Agreement at any time for any
reason, at the sole discretion of the State. 30" days after giving ■
the Contractor written notice that the State is exercising its
option to terminate the Agreement..

10.2 In the event of early termination, the Contractor shall, within 15
days of notice of early termination, develop .and submit to the
State a Transition Plan for services under the Agreement,
Including but not limited to, identifying the present" and future
needs of clients receiving services under the Agreement arid
establishes a process to meet those needs.

I  -
10.3 The Contractor shall fully cooperate with the Slata and shall

promptly provide detailed information to support the Transition
Plan including, but not limited to, applicable information or data
requested by the State related to the termination of the
Agreement and Transition Plan and shall provide ongoing
communication and revisions of the Transition Plan to the State
as requested.

10.4 In the event that services under the Agreement, including but
not limited to clients receiving services under the Agreement
are transitioned to having services delivered by another entity
including contracted providers or the State, the Contractor shalf
provide a process for uninterrupted delivery of services in the
Transition Plan.

10.5 The Contractor shall establish a method of notifying clients and
other affected individuals about the transition. The Contractor

Exhlbll C-1 - Rcvlsions/EKUptons to Siondard Conlraci Lenguogo Contraclot Inillsis
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shall include the proposed conimunications in its Transition
'  ' Plan submitted to the State as described above.

1.6. Paragraph 13, Indemnification, is deleted in its entirety and replaced .as
follows:

13. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the State, its
officers and employees, from and against any and all losses suffered by
the State, its officers and employees, and any and all claims, liabilities

. or penalties asserted against the State, its oncers and employees, by
or on behalf of any person, on account of. .based or resulting from,
arising out of (or which may be claimed to arise out of) the negligent
acts or reckless, wanton or willful misconduct of the Contractor.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing herein contained shall be
deemed to. constitute a waiver of. the sovereign imrnunity of the State,"

,  which immunity is hereby reserved to the State. This covenant in
paragraph 13 shall survive the termination of this Agreement.

1.7. Paragraph 14. Subparagraph 14.1.2, Insurance, is deleted in its entirety'and
replaced as follows:

14.1.1 Commercial general liability insurance against all clairns of bodily
injury, death or property damage, in amounts' of not less than
$1,000,000 per occurrence and $2,000,000 aggregate., except for
property damage due to fire which has a $100,000 coverage limit per
occurrence; and

1.8. Paragraph 14, Subparagraph 14.2, is deleted in Its entirety and is replaced as
follows: •

-  14.2 The policies described in subparagraph 14.1 herein shall be on policy
- forms and endorsemehts approved for use in the State of New
Hampshire by the N.H. Department of Insurance, and issued by
insurers licensed in the State of New Hampshire or registered to
conduct business in the State of New Hampshire.

2. Renewal

2.1. The Department reserves the right to extend this agreement for .up to two (2)
additional years, contingent upon satisfactory delivery of services, available
funding, written agreement of the. parties and approval of the Governor and
Executive Council.
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING ORUG-FREg WORKPLACE REQUIREMENTS

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Sections 5151*5160 of the Drug-Free Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690, Title V, Subtitle 0; 41
U.S.C. 701 et seq.}, and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections
1.11 and 1.12 oftheOeneralProvisionscxecutethefoltowing.Certification;

ALTERNATIVE I - FOR GRANTEES OTHER THAN INDIVIDUALS

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES • CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION * CONTRACTORS

US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE - CONTRACTORS

This certification Is required by Ihe regulations implementing Sections 5151-5160 of the Drug-Free
Workplace Act of 1988 (Pub. L. 100-690. Tilte V. Subllllo D; 41 U.S.C. 701 el seq.). The January 31.
1989 regulations were amended and published es Part II of the May 25.1990 Federal Register (pages
21681-21691), and require certincalion by grantees (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub
contractors), prior to award, that they will maintain a drug-free workplace. Section 3017.630(c) of the
regulation provides that a grantee (and by inference, sub-grantees and sub-contractors) that is a State
may elect to make one oertificalion to Ihe'Deparlmenl in each federal fiscal year In lieu of certificates for
each grant during (he federal fiscal year co.vered by the certification. The certificate set out below Is a
material represeniaiion of fdct upon which reliance is placed when Ihe agency awards the grant. False
certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for suspension of payments, suspension or
termination oCgrants, or govemmenl wide suspension or debarment. Contractors using this form should
send it to:

Commissioner ' -

NH Oeparlmenl of Health and Human Services
129 Pleasant Street.
Concord. NH 03301-6505 ,

1. The grantee certifies that it wilier will continue to provide a.drug-free workplace by:
1.1. Publishing a $tatemenl notifying employees thai the unlawful mar>uf3Cture. distribution,

dispensing, possession or use of a controlled substance is prohibited in the'grantee's
workplace and specifying the actions that will be taken'against employees for violation of such
prohibilion;

1.2. Establishing an ongoing drug-free awareness program to inform employees about '
•1.2.1. The dangers of drug abuse in the workplace;
1.2.2. The grantee's policy of maintaining a drug-free workplace;
1.-2.3. Any available drug counseiing, rehabililation, and employee assistance programs; and
1.2.4. The perialties that may be Imposed upon employees for drug abuse violalions

occurring in the workplace;
1.3. Making it a requirement that each employee to be engaged in the performance of the grant be

given a copy of the statement required by paragraph (a);
-  1.4. Notifying (he employee In the slalement required by paragraph (a) that, as a condition of

employment under the grant, the employee will
1.4.1." Abide by the terrhs of the slatemenl; and
1.4.2, Notify the employer in writing of his or her-convictioo for a violation of a criminal drug

statute occurring in the workplace no later than five calendar days after such
conviction;

1.5. Notifying Ihe agency In writing, within ten calendar days after receiving r>otlce under
subparagreph 1.4.2 from an employee or otherwise receiving actual notice of such conviction.
Employers of convicted employees must provide notice, including position (iile, to every grant
officer on whose grant activity the convicted employee was working, unless Ihe Federal agency

Extvbit D - CertiSuiion rcfisrdtng On»g Free Vendor Iniiielt
Worxpiace-Roqulremenis S/lS/2020
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has designaled a ceritra! point for the receipt of such notices. Notice shall include (he
identificalion numberfs) of each affected grant;

1.6. Taking one of the following actions, within 30 calendar-days of receiving notice under
subparagraph 1 .A.2. with respect to any employee who is so convicted
1.6.1. Taking appropriate personnel action against such an employee, up to and including

termination, consistent with the requirements of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as
amended; or

1.6.2. Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or
reh'abilitatiori program approved for such purposes by a Federal. State, or local health,
law enforcement, or other appropriate agency:

1.7. Making a good (ailh effort to continue lo malniein a drug-free workplace through
Implementation of paragraphs 1.1, 1.2,1.3, 1.4,1.5, arid 1.6.

2. The grantee may insert in the space provided below the silefs) for the performance of work done in
connectioh with the specific grant.

Place of Performance (street address, city, county, stale, zip code) (list each location)

Check D.if (here are workplaces on file that are not Identiried here.

Vendor Name;

\  . '

•OocaSlgiitd »y;(maSlgiitd »y;

5/15/2020 I  (jiuL L
Dale Name: Leigh Burgess

Title: Vice President. Office of Research Operations

Exhibtt 0 - CcrtifiCBiion regerding Drug Fre« Vender Inltlels
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING LOBBYING

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Section 319 of Public Law 101-121, Government wide Guidance for New Restrictions on. Lobbying, and .
31 U.S.C. 1352, and further agrees to have the Contractor's representative, as identified in Sections 1.11
and 1.12 of the General Provisions execute the following Certilication:

US DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION - CONTRACTORS
US DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE • CONTRACTORS

Programs (indicate applicable program covered):
'Temporary Assistance lo Needy Families under Title iV-A
•ChikI Support Enforcement Program under Title iV-D
'Social Services Block Grant Program under Title XX
•Medicaid Program under Title.XIX
iCommunity Services Block Grant under Title Vi
'Child Care Development Block Grant under Title IV

The undersigned certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that:

1. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid by or on behalf of the undersigned, to
any person for Influencing or attempting to influence an officer'or employee of any agency, a Member
of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a Member of Congress in
connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, continuation, renewal, amendment,.or
modification of any Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention
sub-grantee or sub-contractor).

2. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any person for .
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency., a Member of Congress.

■ en officer or employee of Congress.' or an employee of a Member of Congress in connection with this
Federal contracl, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement (and by specific mention sub-grantee or sub-,
contractor), the uridersigned shall complete and submit Standard Form LLL, (Oiscbsure Form to
Report Lobbying, in accordance with its instructions, attached and identified as Standard Exhibit £-1.)

3. The undersigned shall .require that the language of this certification be included, in the award
document for sub-awards at all tiers (including subcontracts, sub-grants, and contracts under grants,.
loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all sub-recipients shall certify and disclose accordingly.

This certification is a malerldl representation of fad upon which reliance was placed when this transaction
was made or entered into. Submission of this.certillcation is a prerequisite for making or entering Into this
transaction imposed by Section 1352, Title 31. U.S. Code. Any person who fails to file the required
certificatton shall be subject to a civil penally of not less than $10,000 and not more than $100,000 for
each such failure.

Vendor Name:

Date . Name: Leigh Burgess
. Title: Vice President, Office of Research Operations

ExNbii 6 - CertiflMrton Resardlng Uotrbyina Vendor Irailato
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o.

CERTIFICATION REGARDING DE9ARMENT. SUSPENSION

AND OTHER RESPONSIBILITY MATTERS

The Vendor identified ir> Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees to comply with the provisions of
Executive Office of the President. Executive Order 12549 and 45 CFR Part 76 regarding Oebaiment,'
Suspension, and Other Responsibility Matters, and further agrees to have the Contractor'&
representative, as Identified in Sections 1.11 end 1.12 of the General.Provisions execute the follovying ■
Certirication:

INSTRUCTIONS FOf^ CERTIFICATION
1. By signing and eubmilting this proposal (contract), the prospective primary participant is providing the

certification set out below.

f

2. The inabilily of a person to provide the certirication required below will not necessarily result in denial
of participation in this covered transaction. If necessary, the prospective participant shall submit an
explanation of why it cannot provide the certification. The certirication or explanation will be
considered in connection with the NH Department of Health and Human Services' (DHHS)
determination whether to enter inlp lhis transaction. However, failure of the prospective primary
participant to furnish a certirication or an explanation shall disqualify such person from participation in
this transaction..

3. The.certification in this clause is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed
when OHHS determined lo enter into this transaction. If it Is later determined that the prospective
primary participant knowingly rendered an erroneous certirication, in addition to other remedies
available to the Federal Government, OHHS may terrninate this transaction for cause or default.

4. The prospective primary participant shall provide immediate written notice to the DHHS agency to
whom this proposal (contract) Is submitted If at any lime the prospective primary participant learns
that its certification was erroneous vyhen submitted or has become erroneous by reason of changed
circumstances.

5. The terms "covered transaction," "debarred,* "suspended." "ineligible," "lower tier covered
transaction," "participant,' "person," "primary covered transaction." "principal." "proposal," and
'voluntarily excluded," as used in this clause, have the meanings set out in (he Definitions and
Coverage sections of the rules implementing Executive Order 12549; 45 CFR Part 76. See the
attached definitions.

6. The prospective primary participant agrees by submitting (his proposal (contract) that, should the
proposed covered transaction be entered into, it shall not knowingly enter Into any lower tier covered
transaction with a person who is debarred, suspended, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded
from participation in this covered transaction, unless authorized by OHHS.

7. The prospective primary participant further agrees by submitting this proposal that it will include the
clause titled "Certification Regarding-Debarment, Suspension, Ineligibility and Voluntary Exclusion •
Lower Tier Covered Transactions,' provided by OHHS. without modification, in all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.'

8. A participant In a covered transaction may rely upon a certification of a prospective participant in a
tower tier covered transaction that it is not debarred, suspended, ineligible, or involunlarily.excluded
frorn the covered transaction, unless it Knows that the certification Is.erroneous. A participant may
decide the method and frequency by which It determines the eligibility of Us principals. Each
participanl may. but is not required to. check the Nonprocurement List (of excluded parties).

9. Nothing contained in the foregoing shall be construed to require establishment of a system of records
in order to render In good faith (he certirication required by this clause. The knowledge and

ExMbli F - Ceniricetlon Regarding Oei>arrnent, Suspension Vendor iniUals.
-And Other ResponslbOiiy Mailers «■ /-, r /^n^A
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informalion of a padicipani is not required to exceed that which Is normally possessed'by a prudent
person in the ordinary course of business dealings.

10. Except for transactions authorized under paragraph 6 of these instructions, if a participant in a
covered transaction knowingly enters into a lower tier covered transaction with a person who is
suspended, debarred, ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction, in
addition to other remedies available to the Federal government, DHHS may terminate this transaction
for cause or default.

PRIMARY COVERED TfV^NSACTIONS ■
11. The prospective primary paniclpant certiries (o the best of its knowiodge ond belief, that ft and its

principals:
11.1. are not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarmeni, declared Inetigibie, or

voluntarily excluded from covered transactions by any Federal department or agency;
11.2. have rtoi within a three-year period preceding this proposal (contract) been convicted of or had

a civil judgment rendered against them for commission of fraud or a criminal offerise in
connection with obtaining, attempting to obtain, or performing a public (Federal, State or locaO
transaction or a contract under a public transaction; violation of Federal or Slate antitrust
statutes or corhmission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, falsincation or destruction of
records, making false statements, or receiving stolen property;

11.3.' are not presently indicted for otherwise criminally or civilly charged by a governmental entity
(Federal. State or local) with commission of any of the offenses enunrierated in paragraph (l)(b)
of this certificalion; and

11.'4. have not within a three-year period preceding this application/proposal had one or more public
transactions (Federal. State or locol) terminated for cause or default.

12. Where the prospective primary participant is unable to certify to any of the statements in this
certification, such prospective participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

LOWER TIER COVERED TRANSACTIONS

13. By signing end submitting this lower tier proposal (contract), the prospective tower tier participant, as
■  defined in 43 CFR Part 76, certifies to the best of its knowledge and belief that it and its principals:

■  13.1. are. not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment. declare<j.ineligible, or
voluntarily excluded from participation in this transaction by any federal department or agency.

13.2. where the prospective lower tier participant Is unable to certify to any of the above, such
prospect'ive participant shall attach an explanation to this proposal (contract).

14. The prospective lower tier participant further agrees by submitting this proposal (contract) that It will
include this clause entitled 'Certification Regarding Debarment, Suspension. Ineligibility, and '
Voluntary Exclusion • Lower Tier Covered Transactions,' witho.ut mr^ification In all lower tier covered
transactions and in all solicitations for lower tier covered transactions.

Vendor Name:

-l)o<u$lon*«uo<u«ion*« vy:

S/lS/2020 I  [uJt L
Date Name: Leign aurgess

Title: Vice President, Office of Research Operations

Exhibit F - Certincelion Regerdlnp Debarment. SuspemlOfl Ver^dor InlUali V
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CERTIFICATION OP COMPUANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS PERTAINING TO

FEDERAL NONDISCRIMINATION. EQUAL TREATMENT OF FAITH-BASED ORGANIZATIONS AND

WHISTLEBLOWER PROTECTIONS

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of (iW General Provisions agrees by signature of the Contractor's
re^esentative as Idenliried in Sections i.l 1 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certification:

Vendor will comply, and will'require any subgrantees or subcontractors ,to comply, with any applicable
federal nondiscrimlnation reqiilrements, which may include:

- the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 (42 U.S.C. Sectiqn.3789d) which prohibits
recipients of rederal funding under this statute from discriminating, either in employment practices or in
the delivery of services or benefits, on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act'
requires certain recipients to produce an Equal Employment Opportunily Plan;

• the JuvenQe Justice Delinquency Prevention Act of 2002 (42 U.S.C. Section S672(b}) which adopts by
reference, the civil'rights obligations of (he Safe Streets Act. Recipients of federal funding under this
statute are prohibited from discriminating, either in Employment practices or in the delivery of services or
benefits; on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, and sex. The Act Includes Equal-
Employment Opportunity Plan requirements;

- the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. Section 2000d, which prohibits recipients of federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of race, color, or national origin In any program or actiwty);

' the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (29 U.S.C. Section 794), which prohibits recipients of Federal financial
assistance from discriminating on the basis of disability, in regard Jo employment and the delivery of
services or benefits, iri any program or aclivily;

• the Americans with Disabililies Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Secl'ions 12131-34), which prohibits'
discrimination and ensures equal opportunity for persons with disabilities in employment,'Stale and local
government services, public accommodations, commercial facilities, and transportation;

• the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. Sections 1681,1683,1685-66). which prohibits
discrimination on the basis of sex in federally assisted education 'programs;

• the Age Oiscrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. Sections 6106-07), which prohibits discrimination on the
basis of age in programs or activiiies receiving Federal financial assistance. It-does not include
employiTtenl discrimination;

• 28 C.F.R. pt. 31 (U.S. Department of Juslice Regulations OJJOP Grant Programs); 28 C.F.R. pt. 42 .
(U.S. Department of Justice Regulations - Nondiscrimlnation; Equal Erriployment Opportunily; Policies
and Procedures); Executive Qrder No. 13279 (equal proleclion of the laws for faith-based and community
organizations); Executive Order No. 13559, which provide fundamental principles and policy-making
crileria for partnerships with faith-based and neighborhood organizations;

• 28 C.F.R. pt. 38 (U.S. Department of Juslice Regulations - Equal Treatment for Faith-Based
Organizations); arid Whislleblower protections 41 U.S.C. §4712 and Th'e Nationol Defense Authorization
Act (NDAA) for Fiscal Year 2013 (Pub.'L. 112-239. enacted January 2, 20.13) the Pilot Program for
Enhancement of Contract Employee Whistlebiower Protections, which protects employees against
reprisal for certain whistle blowing activities in conneclion with federal grants and contracts.

The certificate set out below Is a material representation of fact upon which reliance is placed when the
agency awards Ihe grant. False certification or violation of the certification shall be grounds for
suspension of payments, suspension or termination of grants, or government wide suspension or
dcberment.

ExniWlG
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In the event a Federal or State court or Federal or State.adminrslrative agency makes a finding of
discrimination after a due process hearing on the grounds of race, color, religion, national origin, or sex
against a recipient of funds, the recipient will fonA'ard a copy of the finding to the Office for Civil Rights, to
the applicable contracting agency or division wilhirt the Department of Health and Human Services, and
to the Department of Health and Human Services Office of the Ombudsman.

The Vendor identiried in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees by signature of'the Contractor's
representative as identified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the General Provisions, to execute the following
certincation:

I. By signing end submitting this proposal (contract) the Vendor agrees to comply with the provisions
indicated above.

Vendor Name:

OocuSlDM^oocuMpMO vy;

S/15/202O

... . tS
Date • NttitiB. Leign burgess

Title: Vice President, Office of Research Operations

EiMbliG (lA
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. CERTIFICATION REGARDING ENVIRONMENTAL TOBACCO SMOKE

Public Law 103-227, Part C - Environmental Tobacco Smoke, also known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994
(Act), requires that smoking not be permitted In any portion of any indoor facility owned or leased or
contracted for by an entity and used routinely or regularly for the provision of health, day care, education
or library services to children under the age of 18. if the services are funded by Federal programs either'
directly or through Stale or local governments, by Federal granl. contract, loan, or loan guarantee The
law does not apply to children's services provided in private residences, faciiities funded solely by
Medicare or Medicaid funds.-and portions of facilities used for inpalieni drug or alcohol treatment: Failure
to comply with the provistor^s of the law may resull in the imposition of a civil monetary penally of up to
$1000 per day and/or the imposition of an administrative compliance order on the responsible entity.

The Vendor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees, by signature of the Contractor's
representative as identified in Section 1.11 and T.I 2 of the General Provisions to execute the followiho
certification: '

1. By signing and submitting this contract, the Vendor agrees to make reasonable efforts to comply with
all applicable provisions of Public Law 103-227. Part C. known as the Pro-Children Act of 1994.

■ Vendor Name:.

/-"OoewUBwtO vy:

5/15/2020

^31® Name: Leign burgess
Title: Vice President. Office of Research Operations

Exhtoll H - CertifiMlion Rcgaralno Vendor Ir9ti«ls ̂
Envtionmeruil Tobacco Smoke
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HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT
BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT

the Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions of the Agreement agrees to
comply with the Health-Insurance Portability and Accountability Act. Public Law 104-191 and
with the Standards for Privacy and Security of Individually Identifiable Health Information, 45
CFR Parts 160 and 164 applicable to business associates. As defined herein, "Business
Associate' shall mean the Contractor and subcontractors and agents of the Contractor that
receive, use or have access to protected health Information under this Agreement and 'Covered
.Endty" shall mean the State of New Hampshire. Oepartmeni of Health and .Human Services.

(1) Definitions.

a. 'Breach" shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" In section 164.402 of Titte'45.
Code of Federal Regulations.

b.' 'Business Associate' has the meaning given such terrn in section 160.103 of Title 45, Code
of Federal Regulations. .

c. "Covered Entity" has .the meaning given such term in section 160.103 of Title 45.
Code of Federal Regulations.

d. "Designated Record Set' shall have the same meaning as the term 'designated record set*
in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

e. 'Data AQoreaation" shall have the same meaning as the term 'data aggregation' in 45 CFR
Section 164.501.

f. "Health Care Ooeralions" shall have the same meaning as the term "health care operations"
in 45 CFR Section 164.501.

g. 'HITECH Act" means the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health
Act. TitleXIII, Subtitle D, Part 1 & 2 of the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of •
2009.

h. "HIPAA* means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, Public Law
104-191 and the Standards for Privacy and Security .of Individually Identifiable Health

•  Information. 45 CFR Parts 160, 162 and 164 and amendments thereto.

i. 'Individual' shall have the same meaning as the term "individual" in 45 CFR Section 160.103
. and shall include a person who qualifies as a personal representative in accordance with 45
CFR Section 164.501(9).

j. 'Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health
Information at 45 CFR Parts 160 and 164, promulgated under HIPAA by the United States •
Department of Health and Human Services.

k. 'Protected Health Information' shall have the same meaning as the term 'protected health
information" In 45 CFR Section 160.103, limited to the information created or received by
Business Associate from or on behalf of Covered Entity.

,i,W,3/2014 ExNbill Contractor Initials
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I. •"Required bv Law" shall have the same meaning as the term "requirefd by law" in 45 CFR
Section 164.103.

m. "Secretary" shall meaathe Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services or
his/her designee.

n. 'Secuhtv Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic Protected
Health Information at 45 CFR Parti 64. Subpart C. and amendments thereto.

0. "Unsecured Protected Health Information' means protected health information that Is not
secured by a technology standard that renders protected health information unusable,
unreadable, or indecipherable to unauthori?ed individuals and is developed or endorsed by
a standards developirig organization that is accredited by the American National Standards
Institute.

p. Other Deftnitions - All terms not otherwise defirted herein shall have the meahing
established under 45 C.F.R. Parts 160.162 and 164, as amended from time to time, and the
HITECH

Act, ■

(2) Business Associate Use and Disclosure of Protected Health Information.

a. ■ Business Associate shall not use. disclose, maintain or transmit Protected Health
Information (PHI) except as reasonably necessary to provide the services outlined under'
Exhibit A of the Agreement.. Further. Business Associate, including but not limited to all
its directors, officers, employees and.agents, shall not use. disclose, rnaintain or transmit
PHI in any manner that would constitute a violation of the Privacy and Security Rule.'-

b. Business Associate may use or disclose PHI:
I. For the proper management and administration of the Business Associate;'
II. • ■ As required by law. pursuant to Ihe.terms set forth in paragraph d. below; or
III. .For data aggregation purposes for the health care operations of Covered

Entity.

c. • To the extent Business Associate Is permitted under, the Agreement to disclose PHI to a
third party. Business Associate must obtain, prior to making any such disclosure. (I)
reasonable assurances from the third parly that such PHI will be held confidentially and
used or further disclosed only as required by law or for the purpose for which it was
disclosed to the third party; and (11) an agreement from such third party to notify Business
Associate, in accordance with the HIPAA Privacy, Security, and Breach Notification
Rules of any breiaches of the confidentiality of the PHI. to the extent It has obtained .
knowledge of such breach.

d. The Business Associate shall not. unless such disclosure is reasonably necessary to
provide services under Exhibit A of the Agreement, disclose any PHI in response to a
request for disclosure on the basis that it is required by law, without first notifying

• Covered Entity so that Covered Entity has an opportunity to object to .the disclosure and
to seek appropriate relief. If Covered Entity objects to such disclosure, the Business

3/2014 ' Exhtolil Co'ntfcciof inlilab_[ ^
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Associate shall refrain from disclosing (he PHI until Covered Entity has exhausted all
remedies.

e. If the Covered Entity notifies the Business Associate that Covered Entity has agreed to
be bound by additional restrictions over and above those uses or disclosures or security
safeguards of PHI pursuant to the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall be bound by such additional restrictions'and shall not disclose PHI in violation of
such additional.restrictions and shall abide by any additional security, safeguards.

(3) ObUaatlons and Activities of Business Associate.

a. The Business Associate shall notify the Covered Entity's Privacy Officer immediately
'  after the Business Associate becomes aware of any use or disclosure of protected

health information not provided for by the Agreement including "breaches of unsecured
protected health information and/or any security incident that may have an Impact on the
protected health information of the Covered Entity.

b. The Business Associate shall immediately perform a risk assessment when it becomes
aware of any of the at)ove situations. The risk assessment shall include, but not be'
limited to:

o The nature and extent of the protected health information involved, including the
types of identifiers and the likelihood of re-idenlification;

. 0 The unauthorized person used the protected health information or lo-whom the '
disclosure was'made; ' .

0 Whether the protected health Information was actually acquired or viewed'
0 The extent to which the risk to the protected health information has t>een

mitigated.

/

The Business Associate shall complete the risk assessment within five (5)
business days of the breach and immediately report the findings of the risk
assessment in writing to the Covered Entity.

c. The Business Associate shall comply with' all sections of the Privacy, Security, and
Breach Notification Rule.

d. Business Associate shall make available all of its internal policies and procedures, books
and records relating to the use and disclosure of PHI received from, or created or
received by the Business Associate on behalf of Covered Entity to the Secretary for
purposes of determining Covered Entity's compliance with HIPAA and the Privacy and
Security Rule.

e. Business Associate shall require all of its business associates that receive, use or have
access.to PHI under the Agreement, to agree in writing to adhere to the same
restrictions and conditions on the use and disclosure of PHI contained herein, including
the duty, to return or destroy the PHI as provided under Section 3 (I). The Covered Entity
shall be considered a direct third party beneficiary of the Contractor's business associate
agreements with Contractor's intended business associates, who will be receiving PHI

3/2014 EjchiDlil Contradof liSlllals
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pursuant to this Agreement, with rights of enforcement and indemnification from such-
business associates who shall be governed by standard Paragraph #13 of the standard
contract provisions (P-37) of this Agreement for the purpose of use and disclosure of
protected health information.

f. Within five (5) business days of receipt of a written request from Covered Entity.
Business Associate shall make available during.normal business hours at Its Offices all'
records, books, agreements, policies and procedures relating to the use and disclosure
of PHI to the Covered Entity, for purposes of enabling Covered Entity to determine
Business Associate's compliance with the terms of the Agreement.

g.' .Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity.
Business Associate shall provide access to PHI in a Designated Record Set to the
Covered Entity, or as directed by Covered Entity, to an individual in order to meet the
requirements under 45 CFR Section 164.524.

h. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for an
amendment of PHI or a record about an individual contained in a Designated Record Set,
the Business Associate shall make-such PHI available to Covered Entity for amendment
and Incorporate any such arnendment to enable Covered Entity to fulfill its obligations
under 45 CFR Section 164.526.

I. Business Associate shall document such disclosures of PHI and information related to'
such disclosures as would be required for Covered Entity to respond to a request by an

•  individual for an accounting of disclosures of PHI in accordance with 45 CF.R Section
■ 164.528. ■ ^

j. Within ten (10) business days of receiving a written request from Covered Entity for a
■ request for an accounting of disclosures of PHI,* Business Associate shall make available
to Covered Entity such Information as'Covered Entity may require to fulfill Us obligations
to provide an accounting of disclosur.es with respect to PHI in accordance with 45 CFR
Seption 164.528.'

k. In the event any Individual requests access to. amendmerit of, or accounting of PHI'
directly from the Business Associate, the Business Associate shall within five (5)
business days forward such request to Covered Entity. Covered Entity shall have the
responsibility of responding to forwarded requests. However, if forwarding the
individual's request to Covered Entity would cause Covered Entity or the Business
Associate to violate HIPAA and the Privacy and Security Rule, the Business Associate
shall Instead respond to the individual's request as required by such law and notify
Covered Entity of such response as soon as practicable.

I. Within ten (10) business days of termination of the Agreement, for any reason, the
Business Associate shall return or destroy, as specified by Covered Entity, all PHI
received from, or created or received by the Business Associate in connection with the
Agreement, and shall not retain any copies or back-up tapes of such PHI. If return or
destruction is not feasible, or the disposition of the PHI has been otherwise agreed to in
the Agreement, Business Associate shall continue to extend the protections of the
Agreement, to such PHI and limit further uses and disclosures of such PHI to those
purposes that make the return or destruction infeasible. for so long as Business

3/2014 ExhiWi I ConlfBUtv InlUala J[
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Associate maintains such PHI. If Covered Entity, in its sole discretion, requires that the
Business Associate destroy any or all PHI, the Business Associate shall certify to
Covered Entity that the PHI has been destroyed.

.(4) Obliaations of Covered Entity

.a. Covered Entity shall notify Business Associate of arty changes or limllation(s) in its
Notice of Privacy Practices provided to individuals in accordance with 45 CFR Section

,  164.5"20, to the extent that such change or lirhitation may affect Business Associate's
use or disclosure of PHI.

b. Covered Entity shell promptly notify Business Associate of any changes in. or revocation
of permission provided to Covered Entity by individuals whose PHI may be used or
disclosed by Business Associate under this Agreement, pursuant to 45 CFR Section

• 164.506 or 45 CFR Section.164.508. ■

c. Covered entity shall promptly notify Business Associate of any restrictions on the use or
disclosure of PHI that Covered Entity has agreed to in accordarice with 45 CFR 164,522.

.  to the extent that such restriction may affect Business Associate's use or disclosure of
PHI.'

(6) Termination for Cause

In addition to. Paragraph 10 of the standard terms and conditions (P-37) of this
Agreement the Covered Entity may Immediately terminate the Agreement upon Covered
Entity's knowledge of a breach by Business Associate of the Business Associate
Agreement set forth herein as Exhibit !. The Covered Entity may either immediately
terminate the Agreement or provide an opportunity for Business Associate to cure the
alleged breach within a timeframe specified by Covered Entity. If Covered Entity
determines that neither termination nor cure is feasible. Covered Entity shall report the '
violation to the Secretary.

(6) ■ ftfliscellaneous

a. ■ Definitions and Reaulalorv References-. All terms used, but not otherwise defined herein.
shall have-the same meaning as those terms In the Privacy and Security Rule, amended
frorh time to time. A reference in the Agreement, as amended to Include this Exhibit I. to

•  a Section in the Privacy and Security Rule means the Section as in eftecl or as
)  amended.

b. Amendment. Covered Entity and Business Associate agree to take such action as Is
necessary to amend the Agreement, from lime to time as is necessary for Covered
Entity to comply with the changes in the requirements of HIPAA. the Privacy and
Security Rule, and applicable federal and state law.

c. • Data Ownership. The Business Associate acknowledges that it has no ownership rights
with respect to the PHI.provlded by or created on behalf of Covered Entity.

d. . Interpretation. The parties agree that any ambiguity in the Agreement shall be resolved
to permit Covfered Entity to comply with HIPAA. the Privacy and Security Rule.

3/2014 Exhittll ConUactOf Inllitia [
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Seoroqatioo. If-any Icrm or condilion of ihis Exhibit I or the applicalior) therMf to any
per80n(s) or circumstance is held invalid, such invalidily shall not affect other terms or
condiiiorts which can be given effect wiihoul the Invalid term or condilion; to this end the
temns and conditions of this Exhibit I are declared severable.

Survival. Provisions in this Exhibit I regarding the use and disclosurei of PHI. return or
destruction of PH I. extensions of the protections of the Agreement In section <3) I. the.
defense and indemnification provisions of section (3) e and Paragraph 13 of the
standard terms end conditions (P-37). shall survive the termination of the Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have duly executed this Exhibit 1.

Department of Health and Human Service# Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital

Name oT Authorized ReprestRepresentative

Mn - [yyu .
Title of Authorized Representative

Date

Name of the ContractorThe State •

I. 6ur/a^.

Sighetdfc of Authorized Representative Sigr^ature'ot Authorized Representative

Leigf) Burgess

Name of Authorized Representative.

Vice President. Office of Research Operations

TIDe of Authorized Representative

5/15/2020

. Date
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CERTIFICATION REGARDING THE FEDERAL FUNDING ACCOUNTABILrTY AND TRANSPARENCY
ACT (FFATAI COMPLIANCE

The Federal Funding Accounlability and Transparency Act (FFATA) requires piime awardees of individual
Federal grants equal to or greater than $25,000 and awarded on or after October 1,2010, to report on
data related to executive compensation and associated nrst-tier sub-grants of $25,000 or more. If the
initial award is below $25,000 but subsequent grant modifications result in a total award equal to or over
$25,000. the award is subject to the FFATA reporting requirernenls. as of the date of the a^rd.
In accordance with 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward and Executive Compensation Information), the
Oepartmenl of Health and Human Services (OHHS) must report the following information for any
subaward or contract award subject to the FFATA reporting requirements:
1; Name of entity
2. Amount of award

3. Funding agency.
4. NAICS code for contracts/CFDA program number for grants
5. Program source
6. Award title descriptive of the purpose of the funding action
7. Location of the entity
6. Principle place of performance
9. Unique identirter of the entity (DUNS P)
10. Total compensation and names of the top five'executives If:

10.1. More than 60% of annual gross revenues are from the Federal governmenL and those
revenues are greater than $25M annually and

-10.2. Compensation information Is not already available through reporting to the SEC.

Prime grant recipients must submit FFATA required data by the end of the month, plus 30 days. In which •
the award or award amendment Is made.
The Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions agrees'to comply with the provisions of
The Federal Funding Acwuntabllily and Transparency Act, Public Lew 109-262 and Public Lew 110-252.
and 2 CFR Part 170 (Reporting Subaward end Executive Compensation Information), and further agrees
to have the Contractor's representative, as ldentified in Sections 1.11 and 1.12 of the Genera! Provisions
execute the follONving Certification:
The below named Contractor agreef to provide needed Information as outlined above to the NH
Department of Health end Human Services and to comply with all applicable provisions of the Federal
Financial Accounlability and Transparency Act.

Contractor Name:
*

S/15/2020

Date Name;ue>grt Durgess
Title: Vice President, Office of Research Operations

Eidilbil J - Cert!fic«lioi> RegBrdtAg th« Fe^ral Funding ConUMtor Inltlsb
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FORMA

As the Contractor identified in Section 1.3 of the General Provisions. I certify that the responses to the
below listed questions are true and accurate.

1. The DUNS number for your entity Is:. 06-991-0297

2. In your business or organization's preceding completed fiscal year, did your business or organization
receive (1) 60 perceni or more of your annual gross revenue in U.S. federal contracts, subcontracts,
loans, grants, sub-grants, and/or cooperative agreements; and (2) 325,000,000 or more in annual
gross revenues from U.S. federal conlracis, subconiracis, loan's, grants, subgrsnts, and/or
cooperative agreements?

NO • YES

If the answer to #2 above is NO. stop here.

' If the answer'to ̂ 2 above is YES. please answer the following;

3. Does the public have access to information about the compensation of the executives in your
business or organization through periodic reports filed under section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C.7flm(a), -78b(d)) or section 6104 of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986?

NO YES

If the answer to #3 above is YES. stop here

If the sriswer to #3 above is NO. please answer the following:

4. The names and compensation of tpe five most highly compensated officers in your business or
organization are as follows:

Narne:

Name:

Name;

Name:

Name:

Amount:

Amount:

Amount;

Arhounl:

Amount:

CV4>»*<S/II071}
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A. Definitions

The following terms may be reflected and have the described meaning in this document:

1. . "Breach" means the loss of control, compromise, unauthorized disclosure,
unauthorized acquisition, unauthorized access, or any similar term referring to
situations where persons other than authorized users and for an other than outhorizcd '

"purpose hove access or potential actcss to personally identifiable information,
whether physical or electronic. With regard to Protected Health Information,
"Breach" shall have the same meaning as the term "Breach" in section 164.402 of
Title 45, Code of FcdcrarRcgulaiions.

2. "Computer Security Incident" shall have Ihe same meaning "Computer Sccurily
Incident" in section two (2) of NIST Publication 800-61, Computer Security incident
Handling Guide, National Institute of Stondards'and Technology, U.S. Department
of Commerce.

3. "Confidential information," "Confidential Daia," or "Data" (as defined in Exhibit K),
means all confidential information disclosed by orie party to the oihcr such as all
medical, health, financial, public assistance benefits and personal information
including without limitation, Substance Abuse Treatment Records, Cose Records,

■  Protected Health Information and Personally Identifiable Information.

Confidential Information also includes any and all Information owned or managed by
.  the State of NH - created, received from or on behalf of the Department of Health and

• Human Sen'iccs (DHHS) or accessed in the course of performing contracted services
• of which collection, disclosure, protection, and disposition is governed by state or
federal law or regulation. This information Includes, but is not limited to Protected
Health Information (PHI), Personal Information (PI), Personal Financial Information
(PFI), Federal Ta.\ Information (FTI), Social Security Numbers (SSN), Payment Card
Industry (PC.I), rind or other sensitive and confidential infonViaiion.'

4. "End User" means any person or entity (c.g!, cpniroctor's employee, business
associate, subcontractor, other downstream user, etc.) that receives DHHS data or
derivative data in accordance with the terms of this Contract.

5. "HIPAA" means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and
the regulations promulgated thereunder.

6. "Incident" means an act that potentially violates a security policy, which includes
successful attempts) to gain unauthorized access to a system or its data, unwanted
disruption or denial of service, the unauthorized use of a system for the processing or

October. 201B ExWbitK Coniractof inlilals
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storage of data; and changes lb system hardware, firmware, or software
characteristics without the owner's knowledge, instruction, or consent. Incidents
include the loss of data through, theft or device misplacement, loss or misplacement of
hardcopy documents, and misrbuling orphysical or clccrrcnic documents or moll.

7. • "Open Wireless Network" means any network or segment of a network that is
not designated by the State.of New Hampshire's Dcpartnicni of Information
Technologj' or delegate as a protected network (designed, tested, and approved,
by means of the State, to transmit) will be considered an open network and not
adequately secure for the imnsmisslon of unencrypted PI, Pfl, PHI or
conndcntial DHHS data.

8. "Personal information" (or "PI"') means information which con be used to distinguish
or trace'an individual's identity, such as their name, social security number, personal •
information as defined in New Hampshire RSA 359-C:l9, biometrlc records, .etc.,

■ alone, or when combined with other personal or identifying information which is
linked or linkable to a specific individual, such as date and place of birth, mother's
maiden name, etc.

9. "Privacy Rule" shall mean the Standards for Privacy oflndividually Identifiable
Health Information.at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160 and 164, promulgated uiider HIPAA by the
United States Dcpailmcnt of Health and Human Services.

10. "Protected Health Information" (or "PHI") has the same meaning as provided in the
•  definition ofProicclcd Health Information" in the HIPAA Privacy Rule at 45 C.F.R.
§ 160.103.

11. "Security Rule" shall mean the Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic
Protected Health Inforinalion at 45 C.F.R. Part 164, Subpart C, and amendments
thcrcio.

*  f * •

12. "Unsecured Prorccrcd Health Informaiion" means Protected Health Information that is
lioi secured by a technology standard (hot renders Prpicctcd Health Information
unusable, unreadable, or indecipherable to unnuihorizcd individuals and is developed
or endorsed by a standards developing organization that is accredited by the Amci=icon

' National Standards Instiiuic.

I. RESPONSIBJUTIES OF DHHS AND THE CONTRACTOR

.A. Business Use and Disclosure of Confldetitial Information.

.  I. The Contractor must not uscj disclose, maintain orlransmit Confidential Information '

Octobet, 2016 ExN&il K Contractor Inlllab {ut>
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except as required orpennirtcd under this Contract or required by law. Further,
Contractor, including but not limited to all its directors, ofTiccrs, employees and
agents, must not use, disclose,-maintain or transmit PHI In any manner that would •
constitute a violation of the Privacy and Security Rule.

2. The Contractor must not disclose any Conndcntial Information in response to a
.  request for disclosure on the bnsis ihot it Is required by law, in response to n subpoena,

etc., without first notifying DHHS so that DHHS has an opportunity to consent or
object to the disclosure.

3. The Contractor agrees that DHHS Data or derivative there from disclosed to an End
User must only be used pursuant to the terms of this Contract.

II. METHODS OF SECURE TRANSMISSION OF DATA

•1. Application Encryption. If Contractor is, transmitting DHHS Data conioining
Confidential Data between applications, the Coniracior attests the applications have
been evaluated by -an cxpeit knowledgeable' In cyber security and that said

■  application's cnco'pho" capabilities ensure secure transmission via the internet.

2. Computer Disks and Portable Storage Devices. Contractor may not use computer disks or
portable storage devices, such as a liiiinib drive, as a-method of transmiiiing DHHS Data.

3. Encr>'pied Email. Contractor may only employ email to transmit Confidential Data if
email is encrypted and being sent to and being received by email addresses of persons
authorized to receive such information.

4. Encr>'pled Web Site. If Contractor is employing the Web to transmit Confidential
Data, the secure socket layers (SSL) must be used and the web site must be secure.
SSL encrypts data transmitted via o Web site.

!5. File Hosting Services, also known as File Sharing Sites. Contractor may not use file
hosting services, such as Dropbox or Google Cloud Storage, to transmit Confidential
Data.

6. Ground .Mail Service. Contractor may only transmit Confidential Data via ccriiftcd
ground mail within the conlinenial U.S. and when sent to a named individual.

7. Laptops and PDA. If Contractor is employing portable devices to transmit
Confidential Data said devices must be encrypted and password-protected.

8. Open Wireless Networks. Contractor may not transmit Confidential Data via an open
wireless network. End User must employ o virtual private network (.VPN) when

. remotely transmitting via an open wireless network.

9. Remote User Communication. IfContractor is employing remote communication to

October. 201$ ExhibilK Contrsclof inlUab
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access or transmit Confidcniiai Data, a secure ntelhod of rransmission or remote
access, which complies with the terms and conditions of exhibit K, must be used.

10. SSH File Transfer Protocol (SFTP). also known as Secure File Tmnsfct-Protocol." If
Contractor is employing an SFTP to transmit Coiindcntial Data, End User will
structure the Folder and access privileges to prevent inappropriate disclosure of
infoimation. SFTP folders and sub-fcldcrs used for transmitting Confidcniiai Data'will
be coded for 24.hour auto-dclclion cycle (i.e. Conndenlial Oala will be deleted every 24
hours).

1 1. Wireless Devices. If Contractor is transmitting Conndcniial Data via'wirclcss devices, all
data must be encrypted to prevent inappropriate disclosure of information.

in. RETENTION aND DISPOSITION OF IDENTIFIABLE RECORDS

The Contractor will only retain DHHS Data and any derivative of the data for the duration of
this Contract. Atlcr such time, tht Contractor will have thirty (30) days to. destroy the data
and any derivative, in whatever form it mayc.xist. unless., otherwise required by. law or. if it Is
infcosiblc to return or destroy DHHS Data, protections arc extended lo such information, in
accordance with the termination provisions In this Section. To this end, the panics must:

A. Retention

1. The Conlrocior agrees it will not store, transfer or process data collected in
connection with the service's rendered under this Contract outside of the United
States. This physical location requirement shall also apply In the .implementation of
cloud computing, cloud service or cloud storage capabilities, and includes backup
data and Disaster Recovery locations.

2. The Contractor agrees to ensure proper scctirily monitoring capabilities arc in place
to detect potential security events that can impact State of NH systems and/or
Department confidential inlbrmaiion for contractor provided systems accessed or
utilised for purposes of carrying out this contract.

3. fhc Contractor agrecs.to provide security awareness and education for its End Usci-s
■  in support of protecting DHHS Conndcntial inrormalion.

4. The Contractor ogrccs to retain all clcctronic and hard copies of ConfidchiinI Data •
in a secure location and idcmiOcd in section IV. A.2

"5. The Contractor agrees Confidential Data stored in a Cloud must be in a
FcdRAMP/MITECl'l compliant solution and comply with all applicable statutes and
regulations regarding the privacy and security. All servers and devices must hove
currently-supported and hardened operating systems, cun-ent, updated, and

ExhlbllK Cor.lrDdOfln.r.315 (Vfr
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mainloincd anti-malware (e.g. ohii-virol, anti-hacker, anti-spam, anli-sp)'\vBrc)
utilities. Tlic environment, as aWhole, must hove aggressive intrusion-detection and
firesvajl protection.

6. The Contractor agrees to and ensures its complete cooperation with the State's
Chief Information Offic'er in the detection of any security vulnerability of the
hosting infrastructure.

B. Disposition

If the Contractor maintains any Confidential Information on its systems (or its sub-
■  contractor systems) and it has not done so previously, the Contractor will iinplcmeni
policies and procedures to ensure that any storage media on which such data maybe
recorded will be rendered unreadable and that the dala will be un-rccovcrabic when

the storage media is disposed of. Upon request, the Contractor will provide the
Department with copies of these policies and with written docun'Kntation
demonstrating compliance with the policies. The written documentation will include
all details necessary to demonstrate dala contained in the storage media has been
rendered unreadable and un-recovcrablc. Where applicable, regulatory and
professional standards for retention requirements may be jointly evaluated by the
State nnd Contractor prior to destruction.

1. Unless otherwise specified, within thirty (30) days of the tem>inatlbn of this
Contract, Contractor agrees to destroy all hard copies of Confidcniial Dala using a .
secure method such OS shredding.

2. Unless otherwise specified, within ihirt)- (30) days of the termination of this
. Contract, Goniractor agrees to completely destroy all electronic Confidential Data
by moans of data erasure, also known as secure data wiping.

IV. PROCEDURES FOR SECURiTY

A. Contractor agrees to safeguard the DHHS Data received under this Contract, nnd any
derivative dala or files, a.s follows:

I'. The Contractor will maintain proper security controls lb protect Dcpartnienl
confidential information collected, processed, managed, and/or stored in the delivery
of contTrtcicd services;.

2. Tltc Contractor will maintain policies and procedures to protect Department
confidential information throughout the Information lifccycic, where applicable, (from
creation, tran-sfom^aiion, use, storage and secure destruction) regardless of the media

October. 2010 Etftlbii K Coniracior inhiols.
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used 10 store the data (i.e., tape, disk, paper, etc.).

3. The Contractor will maintain appropriate auihcnlicnlion and access controls to
ccmracior systems that collect, transmit, or store Department confidential Inrormaiion
\vherc applicable.

4. If the Contractor will be sub-coiUracting any .corc functions of the engagement
supporting the services for Slate of New Hampshire, the Contractor will ensure End-
User will mainroin an internal process or processes that defines specific security

• expectations, and monitoring compliance to security requirements that at a minimum
• match those for the Contractor, including broach notification requirements.

5. • The Contractor will work with the Department to sign and comply with all applicable
State ofNew Hampshire and Department system access and ouihorizaiion policies and
procedures, systems access, forms, and computer use agreements as pan of obtaining
and maintaining access to any Department $ysiem(s). Agreements will be corhplctcd
and signed by the Contractor and any applicable sub-contractors prior to.sysiem access
biding authorised.

6.- If the Department determines the Contractor is a Business Associate pursuant to 45
CPR 160.103,-the Contractor will execute a HIPAA Business Associate Agreement

• (BAA) with the Department and is responsible for malnraining compliance with the
agreement.

7. The Contractor will not store any State of New Hampshire or Department data
offshore or outside the boundaries of the United States unless prior express written

• consent is obtained from the Information Security Office leadership member within
, the Department.

8. Data Security Breach Liability. Inthc event ofany computer security incident,
incident, or breach Contractor shall make efforts to Investigate the causes of the
breach, promptly lake measures to prevent future breach and minimize any damage or
loss resulting from the breach. The State shall recover from the Comfactorall costs of
response and recovery from the breach, including but not limited to: credit monitoring
services, mailing costs and costs associated with website and telephone call ccnicr
services necessary due to the breach.

9. Contractor must, comply with all applicable stntuics and regulations regarding the ■
privacy and security of Confidential Information, and must in all other respects
maintain the privacy and sccuritj'of PI and PHI at o level and scope that is not less
than the level and scope of, HIPAA Privacy and Security aules (45 C.F.R. Paris 160
and 164} and 42 C.F.R. Part 2 that govern protections for individually identifiable
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hcAlih infonnQtion nnd as applicable under Slate, law.

10. Conirocior agrees to establish and maintain appropriate administrative, technical, and
physical safeguards to protect the confidentiality of the Confidcmlal Data and to
prevent unauthorized use or access to ii. The safeguards must provide o level and
scope of security that is.noi less than the level and scope of security requirements
established by the State of New Hampshire, Department of Information technology.
Refer to Vendor Resourccs/Procurcmcni at hitps:/A\nv\v.nh.gov/doil/vcndor/indcx.him
for thc Dcparimcni of Information Technology policies, guidelines, standards, and
procurement information relating to vendors.

H. Contractor agrees to ihaincain a documented breach notificalion and incident response
process.,The Contractor must notify the D.HHS Security Office and the Program
Contact via (he cinnil addresses provided in Section VI of this Exhibit. Immediately
.upon the Contractor determining that a breach or security incident has occurred and
that DHHS confidential Information/data may have bccn-cxposed or compromised.
1 his includes a confidentiai information breach, computer security incident, or •
suspected breach which ariccts or includes any Stare ofNcw Hainpsliirc systems (hot
connect to the State of New Hampshire network.

12. Contractor must restrict access to the Confidential Data obtained under this:
Contract to only those authorized End Users who need such DHHS Data to perform
their official-dulics in connection with purposes identified in this Contract.

13. The Contractor is responsible for End User oversight and compliance with the
terms and conditions of the contract and Exhibit K,.

DHHS reserves the right to'conduct onsitc inspections lo monitor compliance with this
Conlracl, including the privacy and security requirements provided in herein, MIPAA.
and other applicable laws and Federal regulations until such time the Confidential Daiii
is disposed of in accordance with this Contract.

V. LOSS REPORTING

The Conlrnclor must immediately notify the.State's Privacy Oniccr. Information
Security Office and Program Managcrof any Security Incidents and Breaches as . •
specified in Section IV, paragraph 1 1 above.

The Contractor must further handle and report Incidents and Breaches involving PHI in
accordance with DHHS's documented Incident Handling and Breach Nolificoiion
procedures and in accordance- with-the HIPAA, Privacy and Security Rules. In addition •
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to, ond norwiihsunding, Contractor's compiiance with all applicable obligations and
procedures, Contractor's procedures must also address how the Contractor will:

1. Identify incidents;

2. Determine if personally identifiable Inforniation is involved in Incidents;

3. Report suspected or confirnKd Incidents as required in this Exhibit or R-S?;

4. Identify and convene a core response group to dcicrminc the risk level of Incidents
and determine risk-based responses to Incidents; and

5.. Determine whether Breach notification is required, ond, if so, identify appropriate
Breach noiificaiion intihods, liming, source, and contents from among different
options, ond bear costs associated with the Breach notice as well as any mitigation
measures.

incidents and/or Breaches that implicate PI mnsi be addressed and reported, as
applicable, in accordance with NH RSA 359-C:20.

VI. PERSONS TO CONTACT

■  A. DHHS contact for Data Management or Data Exchange issues:

DHHSInromialionSccurilyOfrice@dhhs.nh.gov .

B. DHHS contacts for Privacy issues:

DHHSPrivacyOfHccr@dhhs.nh.gov

C. DHHS contact for Information Security issues:

DMMSlnfonnntionSccurilyOfncc@dhhs.nh.gov

D. DHHS contact for Breach noiificaiions:

DHHSlnfornintionSccuriiyOrncc@dlihs.nh.gov

DHHSPrivncv0fnccr@dhhs.nli.GOv

E. DHHS Program Area Contact:

Chrisiine.Bcnn@dhhs.nh.gov
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